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Fellow Shareholders: A .

Invacare has-encountered a steady stream of disruptive change in'its industry over the past few yéars. As the
home medical equipment (HME) industry continues to evolve due to ongoing cuts in Medicare and Medicaid HME
. reimburseraent in the U.S.; Invacare has found strength in the diversity of its business and the long-term
demographic, social and economic trends lthat will conunue to drive its growth. Combined with the Company’s
diversity in products, programs, ; and global presence, lnvacare remalns the best posmoned manufacturer/dlsmbutor
in ns industry.
. v tor N ‘e N Y
" Most of the Company’s challenges sterh from the North America/Home Medical Equipment (NA/HME)
division, which is greatly impacted by Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement uncertainty. Segments of the
business not impacted by reimbursement are doing well -The Company’s.international businesses, particularly in
Europe, continued to strengthen and build a foundation for. growth. S Ly

- In 2006, Invacare continued to focus on'its global initiative o reduce costs. Since the cost reduction initiatives
were first announced in 2005, approximately 600 positions have been elimiinated, several facilities were exited, and
manufacturing and sourcing capabilities were increased in Asia. Thesé initiatives will make us a lean and efficrent
Company; which- should .put us in a favorable posmon when the dust settles around reimbursement. -

' ' ~
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2096 Financial Re_sults A D i

Results for 2006 reflect the ongoing uncertamty and cautlon ‘with Wthh HME customers are approachmg the
market. For the year, Invacare reported a net sales decrease of 2.1% to $1.50 billion. Déaler uncertainty attributable
to reimbursement changes, lower prices due to competitive pressure from Asian sourcing, and the elimination of
certain product lines contrlbuted to the revenue decline. o . .

. ' [ M Tre

Adjusted eamnings per share (See Table) for the year were $1.18 versus $1.66 last year, which excludes the
impact of a pre-tax'$21.3 million restructuring charge in 2006 and a pre-tax $7.5 million restructuring charge in
2005. The:2006 adjusted results also exclude fourth quarter 2006 finance charges, interest and fees related to debt
refinancing, incremental reserve against accounts receivable due to Medicare reimbursement reductions and an
impairment charge related to goodwill and intangible assets. Loss pér share on a U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) basis was $10.00 ($317.8 million net loss after-tax) as compared 1o earmngs per share Iast year

of $1.51 ($48 9 million net income after-tax). 5 . '
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Performance by Region : LT R

In 2006, NA/HME net sales decreased 4.3% to $676.3 million from $706.6 million last year with revenue
declines in Rehab, Standard and Respiratory product lines. The reduction in sales was largely due to the pricing and
competitive_industry condmons driven by reimbursement declines and: the* growmg impact of Iow cost Asian
products. . . o
:Areas in North America outside of the HME Group showed solid performance in 2006. Invacare Supply Group
(ISG) net sales increased 3:3% to $228.2 million from $220.9 million last- -year, The Institutional Products Group
(IPG) net sales increased 9.4% to $93.5 million from $85.4 million last year duc to increased volumes i in its core bed
products and in other product offerings such as bathing products.

For the year, European net sales were down .4% to $430.4 million versus $432.1 million last year. Pricing
reductions contributed to the sales declines. In addition, forelgn currency trans]auon reduced sales by one
percentage point, which was offset by acqu1s1t10ns that mcreased sales by one percentage point.

Asia/Pacific net sales for 2006 decreased 17.8% to $69.6 million versus $84.7 million last year. Foreign
currency accounted for four percentage points of the net sales decline, while acquisitions increased net sales by five
- percentage points. Performance in this region continues to be negatively impacted by U.S. reimbursement
uncertainty in the consumer power wheelchair market, resulting in decreased sales of rmcroprocessor controllers
by Invacare’s New Zealand subsidiary. - ©on - :




Reimbursement Issues

Throughout 2006, Medicare proposed and implemented several significant changes to power wheelchair and
oxygen reimbursement, which dramatically impacted the NA/HME division’s results, as well as the profitability of
our U.S. customers. Changes to Medicare reimbursement policies for power wheelchairs and oxygen included:

- !
| 1. CMS issued new documentation standards for physicians requiring ; them to provide srgmﬁcant and onerous
“levels of documentation to providers for power wheelchair reimbursement;

2. CMS initially published new power wheelchair reimbursement guidelines at rates up to 35% to 40% below
current levels. These reductions were later reduced to 5% for custom power and 27% for consumer
power; and

- 3. The Office of Inspector General (OIG) issued a report leading members of Congress to call for another
reduction in the capped rental period for oxygen therapy from 36 months to 13 months.-

These dramatic proposals created uncertainty amongst NA/HME customers,.causing many to be cautious in
their purchasing and/or to move aggressively toward lower-cost product solutions in order to preserve their financial
stability. Invacare stayed actively involved in Washington, D.C. to raise awareness of the benefits of homecare, so
consumers would not be denied access to necessary home medical equipment. The Company has a full-time vice
president of government relations and employs three lobbying firms in Washington, D.C.

Though Invacare successfully lobbied for modifications to the originally proposed power wheelchair reim-
bursement cuts, the continued declines in amount of payment, as well as the onerous levels of documentation
required with a power wheelchair prescription, have added to providers’ uncertainty and dramatically reduced the
size of the power wheelchair market. '

On a positive note, Medicare granted increaséd reimbursement to new oxygen tcchnology, like the Invacare®
HomeFill® Oxygen System, with the change effective January 1, 2007. This improved reimbursement has funher
enhanced the cost advantage that HomeFrl] technology offers our customers.

A further indication of the government’s support of new oxygen technology came in February 2007, when the
President released his fiscal.year 2008 budget proposal. The President’s proposed budget to Congress would
maintain payment for new oxygen technology at current levels, while decreasing payment for traditional oxygen
systerms from 36 to 13 months. In addition, the Administration’s budget proposal did not support continuation of the
policy enacted by the Deficit Reduction Act that requires seniors to assume ownership and responsibility of oxygen
equipment after 36 months. The budget proposal’s silence on this issue sends a clear signal to Congress that the
Administration does not oppose reversal of the mandatory beneficiary ownership provision. Although many details
need 1o be worked out, Invdcare is excited that the Administration understands the benefits of the new technology,
and that it clearly desires more seniors to have access to patient-preferred systems, like the HomeFill.

[

Outlook for 2007

In early.2007, Invacare completed anew ﬁnancmg program that provides the Company with total capacity of
approximately $710 million, the net proceeds of which were used to refinance all of the Company’s existing
indebtedness and pay related fees and expenses. The completion of the refinancing program and the long-term
capital structure that the Company now has in place will give it the platform to continue restructuring the business

and assist in.carrying out plans to overcome.industry challenges and deliver-improved operating income in 2007.

Invacare plans to achieve $38 million ($56 million annualized) of cost reduction in 2007. The Compo.ny will do
this through the following global initiatives: W e

* Product line simplification. The Company pla.ns to simplify its product lines and pncmg processes 16 reduce
costs and improve service levels.

*» Foreign sourcing. The Company intends to increase Chinese manufactunng and Asian sourcmg from 20%
global cost of sales in 2006 to at least 40% by 2009. . L . .

» Rationalization of facilities. Today, Invacare’s primary manufacturing facilities' con515t of -fourteen inte-

.« grated fabrication plants and two assembly plants worldwide. Invacare will continue in its slrategy to move

from integrated fabrication plants to assembly plants worldwide. The Company is finalizing plans to c]ose
and/or consolidate severa! locations worldwide beginning this year through 2009, * ¢+ '« "1 .
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* Standardization of product platforms. To further simplify and reduce production costs, as well as to leverage
development and tooling investment, the Company has begun the process of standardizing some of its

R

product platforms globally. = .. "~ . - - -J ’

As pant of the product line simplification, the Company spent much of 2006 developing more cost effective
product designs. For example, within the rehab area, the Invacare® TDX® SPand Pronto® M41™ power wheelchairs
were developed: with the innovative features that providers expect from Invacare but both were produced to be more
cost-effective in the new HME reimbursement environment. - < s .

thhm the respn‘atory group, development is almost complete on the new lnvacare@ Perfecto2™ concentrator
This new concentrator is smaller and lighter making it more cost-effective to manufacture and ship. It also includes
new features that make it more energy efficient and quiet, enhancing its value to the consumer.

The TDX SP, Pronto M41 and other significantly cost-reduced and |mproved products are begmmng to ship.
Combined with the sngnlﬁcant cost reduction actions prev1ously dlscussed Invacare should 1mprove operanng
margins in 2007.. ~ A

‘Also in 2007, the Company looks forward to capitalizing upon the continued growth potentlal of its HomeFill
oxygen technology. For the first time, national respiratory prov1ders are considering HomieFill and, effective
January 1; 2007, one:of these providers launched a large-scale implementation. Invacare also launched its first
HomeFill contract in;Europe and gained approval for HomeFill technology in the United Kingdom. This is a great
opportumty 10 expand the Company 5 resplratory business into Europe

Another ma_|or area of focus in 2007 will be ldennfymg opportumnes for proﬁt and growth that are less
reimbursement dependent In 2006, for example, the Invacaré® 5- Star Service Plan was 'created to increase revenue
while driving costs out of our providers’ business model. The 5-Star Service Plan utifizes a third- -party nationwide
service to repair and miaintain consumer powerchairs or scooters, and will result in increased revenues from services
and replacement parts. The provider will purchase the plan when. itbuys a chair, and the consumer works directly
with the thlrd-party for any mallltenance needs, in or out of warranty While the pr0v1der contmues to offer a higher
level of serv:ce it IS atble to reallocate 1ts techn1c1ans to sales-related tasks

- ek
No One is Better Positioned L . .“‘, Ce . o

Desplte the challenges within the HME 1ndustry, Invacare could not be in a fundaméntally stronger area of
business. A study publlshed in the December 2005 issve of Annals of Internal Medicine concluded that at-home care
resulted in a 33% cost savings when compared to hosp:tal care for similarly ill patients. At a time when the number
of Americans aged 65 or older is expected to increase’to approximately’ 40 million by 2010, approximately
54 million by 2020 and approximately 70 nuIImn by 2030 i soon will be reatized that homecare is one of the key
solutions to the country’s rising healthcare costs.* - . - 'y - :

In the meantime, Invacare will continue to reduce costs throughout its business, méking it a lean and efficient
organization. The Company’s diversity in both geography and product, as well as the fundamental strength of the
homecare market, make it a strong and well positioned Company for the future We thank Invacare’s customers,
associates and shareholders for their conunued support.

Sincerely,

A. Malachi Mixon, 111
Chairmqn and Chief Executive Offrccr o

Gerald B. Blowch . . ..~ ot . e
President and Chief Operating Ofﬁcer o ) U : :
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INVACARE CORPORATION AND'SUBSIDIARIES
. RECONCILIATION OF NET EARNINGS PER SHARE !
' TO ADJUSTED EARNINGS PER SHARE (1)

- - o Year Ended

' . R o v December 31,
{ In thousands, except per share dara) _ _ _ ‘ 2006 \ 2005
Net earnings (loss) per share — assummg dilution*. . ... e e $ (10 00) $ 1.51.
Welghted average shares outstanding — assummg dllutlon* .............. 031,789 | 32452
"Net eamnings (J0SS). . .5 <o veeeeneenese e . $(317,774) $48,852
INCOME LAXES « « v v v eoee e e et e e et e e e n s R IN e .- 8250 22450
Eammgs (loss) before i income taxes e R (309,524) | _71.302

, Restructunng charges. ... ... i i - .21,250 7,533
Debt finance charges, interest and fees associated with debt reﬁnancmg 3,745 — .
Incremental reserve against accounts receivable ................. g, 26,775 —
Asset write-dowhs related to goodwill and other intaﬁglible assets ....... . .+ 300417 . —
Adjusted earnings before income taxes. ............ i il A 42663 0 78,835

- Income taxes . ................ e Ll e 14910 - 24,833
Adjusted net SarmingS. . . . ...\t A 37,753 54,002 )
Weighted average shares outstanding - assuriing dilution ... .. ... .. .. 32061 32452 .
Adjusted eamings per share = assuming dilution . . .......... 1. ... ..0$8 118 % 1.66

(1) Adjusted Earnings per share (EPS)isa non-GAAP financial measure which is deﬁned as net earmngs excluding
the impact of restructuring charges, debt finance charges, interest and fees’ associated with the Company’s debt
refinancing, incremental write-down of accounts receivable and asset write-downs related to goodwill and other
intangible assets divided by weighted average shares outstanding — assuming dilution. It should be noted that
the Company’s definition of Adjusted EPS may not be comparable to similar measures disclosed by other
companies because not all companies and analysts calculate Adjusted EPS in the same manner. We believe that
these types of exclusions are also rec()gmzed by the industry in which we operate as relevant in computing
Adjusted EPS as a supplementary non-GAAP financial measure widely used by financial analysts and others in
our industry to meaningfully evaluate a company’s operatmg performance.

* Net-earnings (loss) per share assuming dilution calculated for the year ended December 31, 2006 utilizing
weighted average shares outstanding ~ basic as a result of the Company being in a loss situation.
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EXPLANATORY NOTE

The Registrant is filing this Amendment No. | to its Annual Report on Form 10-K solely in order to correct

typographical errors in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows included on page FS-5 of the Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed on March 1, 2007, and other minor typographical errors. The Consolidated Statement of Cash-
Flows has been changed in this Form 10-K/A to state that (1) the “Depreciation and amortization” for the year ended
December 31, 2006 was ‘$39,892”, and not “$37,711" as erroneously stated in the original filing, and (2) the
“Provision for losses on trade and installment receivables” for the year ended December 31, 2006 was “$37,7117,

and not “$36,910” as erroneously stated in the original filing.
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PART 1 . . '

Item 1. Business.
' GENERAL

Invacare Corporation is the world’s leading manufacturer and distributor in the $8.0 billion worldwide market
for medical equipment used in the home based upon our distribution channels, breadth of product line and net sales.
The company designs, manufactures and distributes-an extensive line of health care products for the non-acute care
environment, including the home health care, retail and extended care markets. The company continuously revises
and expands its product lines to meet changing market demands and currently offers numerous product lines. The
company sells its products principally to over 25,000 home health care and medical equipment providers,
dlstrlbutors and government locations in the United States Australia, Canada, Europe, New Zealand and Asia.
Tnvacare’s products are sold through its worldwide distribution network by its sales force, telesales associates and
various organizations of independent manufacturers’ representatives and distributors. The company also distributes
medical equipment and disposable medical supplies manufactured by others. o

Invacare is committed to design, manufacture and deliver the best value in medical products, which promote
recovery and active lifestyles for people requiring home and other non-acute health care. lnvacare pursues this
vision by:

. designir;g and developing innovative and technologically superior products;
* ensuring continued focus on our primary market — the non-acute health care market;
. marketing our broad range of products; ° “ : o

. provrdmg the industry’s most professronak and cost-effectlve sales, customer servrce and distribution
‘organization;

* supplying superior and innovative provider support and aggressive product lirre extensions;
. .-Euilding a st_mrrg referral base among health care professionals;

* building brand preference with consumers;

. contmuously advancing and recruiting top management candidates;’
¢ empowering all employees

» providing a performance-based reward environment; and

= continually striving for total quality throughout the organization.

When the company was acquired in December 1979 by a group of investors, including some of our current
officers and Directors, it had $19.5 million in net sales and a limited product lme of slandard wheelchairs and patient
aids. In 2006, Invacare reached approximately $1.5 billion in net sales, representmg a 17% compound average sales
growth rate since 1979, and currently is the leading company in each of the following major, non-acute, medical
equipment categories: power and manual wheelchairs, home care bed systems and home oxygen systems.

The company’s executive offices are located at One Invacare Way, Elyria, Ohio, 44036 and its relephéne
number is (440) 329-6000. In this report, “Invacare” and the “company” refer to Invacare Corporation and, unless
the context otherwise indicates, its consolidated subsidiaries. .

‘. t

-

THE HOME MEDICAL EQUIPMENT INDUSTRY

' i

North America Market

The home medical ecjuipment market includes home health care products, physical rehabilitation |:;r0ducts and
other non-disposable products used for the recovery and long-term care of patients. The company believes that

I-3




demand for domestic home medical equipment products will continue to grow duririg the next decade and beyond as
a result of several factors, including:

Growth in Population over Age 65. Globally, overall life expectancy continues to increase. Recent
reports from the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) state that the average life expectancy
in the United States for men and women who reach the age of 65 is now 82 and 85, respectively. Furthermore,
llfe  expectancy in the United States at birth is now an average of 78 for men and women together, a record high.
The DHHS also reports that people age 65 or older represent the vast majority of home health care patients and
will increase from 12% of the population in 2004 to 21% of the population by the year 2050.

Treatment Trends. The company beheves that many medical professmnals and patients prefer home
health care over institutional care because home health care results in greater patient 1ndependence increased
patient responsibility and lmproved responsiveness to treatment. Further, health care professionals, public
payors and private payors appear to favor home care as a cost effective, clinically appropriate alternative to
facility-based care. Recent surveys show that approxunalely 70% of adults would rather recover from an
accident or illness in their home, while approximately 90% of the populatlon aged 65 and over showed a
preference for home-based,. long-term care. :

Techna!ogica[ Trends. Teclfnological advances have made medical equipment increasingly adaptable
for use in the home. Current hospital procedures often allow for earlier patient discharge, thereby lengthening
recuperation periods outside of the traditional institutional setting. In addition, continving medical advances
prolong the lives of adults and children, thus increasing the demand for home medical care equipment.

Health Care Cost Containment Trends.- In 2004, health care expenditures in the United States totaled

$1.9 trillion dollars or approximately 16% of the GDP, the highest among industrialized countries, and were

- paid by private health insurers (36%), the federal government (34%), state and local governments (11%),

consumers (15%) and other private funds (4%). In 2014, the nation’s health care spending is projected to

increase to $3.6 trillion, growing at an average annual rate of 7.1%. Over this same period, spending on health

care is expected to increase to approximately 18.7% of GDP. The rising cost of health care has caused many

payors of health care expenses to look for ways to contain costs. The company believes that home health care
and home medical equipment will play a significant role in reducing health care costs.

Society’s Mainstreaming of People with Disabilities. People with disabilities are increasingly a part of
the fabric of society, in part due to the 1991 Americans with Disabilities Act, or the “ADA.” This legislation
provides mainstream opportunities to people with disabilities. The ADA imposes requirements on certain
components of society to make reasonable accommodations to integrate people with disabilities into the
community and the workplace

Distribution Channels. The changmg home health care market continues to provide new ways of
reaching the end user. The distribution network for products has expanded to include not only specialized
home health care prov:ders and extended care fac11mes but retail drug stores, surgical supply houses, rental,
hospital and HMO-based stores, home health agencies, mass merchandxsers .direct sales and the Internet.

- Tt — PR .

Europe/Asia/Paciﬁc Market y

'The company believes that, while many of the market factors influencing demand in the U.S, are also present in
Evrope and Asia/Pacific — aging of the population, technologica] trends and society’s acceptance of people-with
disabilities — each of the markets of Eurcpe and in Asia/Pacific have distinctive characteristics. The health care
industry is more heavily socialized and, therefore, is more influenced by government regulation and fiscal policy.
Variations in product specifications, regulatory approval processes, distribution requirements and reimbursement
policies require the company to tailor its approach. Management believes that as the European markets become
more homogeneous and the company continues to refine its distribution channels, the company can more effectlvely
penetrate these markets. Likewise, the company expects to increase its sales in the hlghly fragmemed Australian,
New Zealand and' Asian markets.*: - :
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The company is directly affected by government regulation and reimbursement policies in virtually every
country in which the company operates. In the United States, the growth of health care costs has increased at rates in
excess of the rate of inflation- and as a percentage of GDP for several decades. A number of efforts to control the
federal deficit have'impacted reimbursement levels for government sponsored health care programs; and private
insurance companies often imitate changes made in federal programs. Similar efforts are being undertaken in other
countries, including for example Geérmany. Reimbursement guidelines in the home health care industry have a
substantial impact on the nature and type of equipment an end-user can obtain and, thus, affect the product mix,
pricing and payment patterns of our customers who aré medical equipment providers. The company believes its
strong market position and technical expertise will allow it to respond to ongoing regulatory changes. However, the
issues descnbed above wnl] llkely continue to have significant impacts on the pricing of the company’s products.

' GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS AND PRODUCT CATEGORIES

i ]
North America

In the fourth quartér of 2006, the company expanded its number of reportmg segments from threé€ to five due to
orgamzatronal changes w1th1n the former North American geographic operating segment and changes'in how the
chief operating decision maket (as that term is defined in FASB SFAS No: 131, Disclosures about Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information) assesses performance and makes resource allocation decisions. North America
now includes: North America/fHome Medical Equipment (NA/HME), Invacare Supply Group (1SG) and Institu-
tional Products Group (IPG). The company has modified its operating segments and reportable segments in 2006
with the corresponding prior year amounts being reclassified to conform to the 2006 presentation.

North Amenca/HME

L2 LV

This segment mc]udes Rehab, Standard and Resplratory product hnes as dlscussed below.

REHAB PRODUCTS . -

Power Wheelchairs. Invacare manufactures a complete line of power wheelchairs for individuals who
require independent powered mobility. The range includes products that cdn bé significantly customized to
meet an individual’s specific needs, as well as products that are inherently versatile and meet a broad range of
individual requirements, Power wheelchair lines are marketed under the Invacare®.Storm Series® and TDX™
brand names and include a full range of powered mobility products The Storm Series® TDX™ line of power
wheelchairs offer an ,unprecedented combination of power, stability and maneuverability. The Pronto®
Series Power Wheelchairs with SureStep™ feature center-wheel drive performance for exceptional maneu-
verability and intuitive driving. Power tilt and recline systems are offered as well.

Custom Manual Wheelchairs. Invacare manufactures and markets a range of custom manual wheel-
chairs for everyday, sports and recreational uses. These lightweight chairs are marketed under the Invacare®
and Invacare Top End® brand names. The chairs provrde mobrhty for people with moderale to severe

Persona[ Mob:luy. lnvacare manufactures the AT’m portable power wheelcharr for consumers needing
light duty powered mobility with the ability to quickly disassemble and be transported even in a compact or
mid-sized vehicle. In addition, Invacare distributes two portable, compact scooters for consumers needing
powered mobility and capable of operating a tiller. The Lynx model scooters are avatlable i in three wheel and
four-wheel versions. . -

Seating and Posi!ioning Products. Invacare markets seat cushions, back supports and accessories under
three series. Invacare® Absolute™ Series provides simple seating solutions for comfort, fit and function.
Invacare InTouch™ Series includes versatile modular seating, providing optimal rehab solutions.’ Invacare
PinDot™ Series. offers custom seating solutions personalized for the most challenged.clients. The company
also has a product line of seating products and wheelchairs for the pediatric market. .
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STANDARD PRODUCTS

Manual Wheelchairs. Invacare’s manual wheelchairs are sold for use inside and outside the home,
institutional settings, or public places (e.g., airports, malls, etc.). Our clients include people who are
chronically or temporarily disabled and require basic mobility performance with little or no frame modifi-
cation. Examples of our manual wheelchair lines, which are marketed under the Invacare® brand name, include
the 9000 and Tracer® product lines. These lines offer wheelchairs that are designed to accommodate the
diverse capabilities and unique needs of the individual from petite to bariatric sizes.

Personal Care. Invacare manufactures and/or distributes a full line of personal care products, including
ambulatory aids such as crutches, canes, walkers and wheeled walkers. This category also features the Value
Line Rollator, one of the latest Value Line products. Value Line products are products that are cost-effective,
easy to use and contain the features and benefits that providers, clinicians and individuals require. Also
available are safety aids such as tub transfer benches, shower chairs and grab bars, and patient care products
such as commodes and other toilet assist aids.

Home Care Beds. Invacare manufactures and distributes a wide variety of manual, semi-electric and
fully electric beds for home use under the Invacare® brand name. Home care bed accessories include bedside
rails, mattresses, overbed tables, ‘trapeze bars and traction equipment. Also available are new bariatric beds and
accompanying accessories to serve the spemal needs of bariatric patients.

v

Low Air Loss Therapy Products.  Invacare manufactures and/or distributes a complete line of mattress
overlays and replacement products, under the Invacare® brand name. These products, which use air flotation to
redistribute weight and move moisture away from patients, assist in the total care of those who are immobile
and spend a great deal of time in bed.

Patient Transport. Invacare manufactures and/or distributes products needed to assist in transferring
individuals from surface to surface (bed to chair) or transporting from room to room. Designed for use in the
home and institutional settings, these products include patient lifts and slings, and a new series of mobile,
multi-functional recliners.

RESPIRATORY PRODUCTS

Invacare manufactures and/or distributes home respiratory products, including: oxygen concentrators,
HomeFill™ oxygen transfilling systems, sleep apnea products, aerosol therapy and other respiratory products.
The company’s home respiratory products are marketed predominantly under the Invacare® brand name. The
Invacare® Venture HomeFill™ II Oxygen Compressor enables people to safely and easily ma.ke compressed
oxygen in their home and store it in cylmders for future use.

OTHER PRODUCTS :

Invacare also manufactures, markets and distributes many accessory products, including spare parts,
wheelchair cushions, arm rests, wheels and respiratory parts. In some cases, our accessory items are built to be
interchangeable so that they can be used to replace parts on procucts manufactured by others.

Invacare Supply Group '

Invacare distributes numerous lines of branded medical supplies including ostomy, incontinence, diabetic,

wound care, uroclogy and miscellaneous home medical products, as well as home medical equipment aids for daily
living. Invacare Supply Group (ISG) also sells through the retail market.

Institutional Products Group

Invacare, operating as Institutional Products Group (IPG}, is a manufacturer and distributor of health care

furnishings including beds, case goods and patient handling equipment for the long-term caré markets, specialty
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clinical recliners for dialysis and oncology clinics and certain other home medical equipment and accessory
products.

As:a/Pac:ﬁc

The company 's As:afPaCIﬁc operations consist of Invacare Australia, which imports and distributes the
Invacare range of products and manufactures and distributes the Rollerchair range of custom power wheelchairs and
Pro Med lifts, DecPac.ramps and Australian Healthcare Equipment beds, furniture and pressure care. products;
Dynamic Controls, a New Zealand manufacturer of electronic.operating components used in power wheelchairs and
scooters; Invacare New Zealand, a distributor of a wide range of home medical equipment; and Invacare Asia,
which imports and distributes home medical equipment to the Asian markets.

Europe

The company’s European operations operate as a.“common market” company with sales throughout Europe.

The European operations currently sell a line of products providing room for growth as Invacare continues to
broaden its product line ‘offerings to more-closely resemble those of its North American operations.

-

Most wheelchair products sold in Europe are designed locally to meet specific market requirements..'l'he
company manufactures and/or assembles both manual and power wheelchair products at the following European
facilities: Invacare UK Ltd. in the United Kingdom, Invacare Poirier S.A.S. in France, Invacare (Deutschland)
GmbH in Germany, and Ulrich Alber Gmbh in Germany. Manual wheelchair products are also manufactured and/or
assembled at Invacare Portugal, Invacare AG in Switzerland (the Kuschall Range) and Invacare Rea AB in Sweden,
beds and patient lifts'at EC- -Hong A/S in Denmark and personal care products al Aquatec GmbH i in Germany and
Dolomite AB in Sweden. A range of patient lifts is also assembled at Invacare UK Lid. in the Umted ngdom while
oxygen producls are 1mported from lnvacare U. S operations.  ~ . '

For information relatmg to net sales by product group, see Business Segments in the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included in this report.

L] . - & T F

WARRANTY

Generally, the company's products are covered from the date of sa]e lo the customer by warranties against
defects in material and workmanship for various penods depending on the product Certain components carry a
lifetime warranty. ) L .- ‘

- COMPETITION

-

North America and Asia/Pacific o : o ¢ : e

The home medical equipment market is highly competitive and Invacare products face significant competition
from other well-established manufacturers. The company believes that its success.in increasing market share is
dependent on providing value to the customer based on the quality, performance and price of the company products,
the range of products offered, the technical expertise of the sales force, the effectiveness of the company distribution
system, the strength of the dealer and dlstnbutor network and the availability of prompt and reliable service for its .
products. Various manufacturers, from time to time, have instituted price-cutting programs in an effort-to gain
market share and may do so again in the future _-,i ’

Europe : o : . T ey

As aresult of the differences encountered in the European marketplace, competition generally varies from one
country to another. The company typically encounters one or two strong competitors.in each country, some of them
becoming regional leaders in specific product lines. - , e Do
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MARKETING AND DISTRIBUTION:

North America and Asia/Pacific

Invacare’s products are marketed in the United States and Asia/Pacific primarily to providers who in turn seli
or rent these products directly to consumers within the non-acute care setting. Invacare’s primary customer is the
home medical equipment (HME) provider. The company also employs a “pull-through” marketing strategy to
medical professionals, including physical and occupational therapists, who refer their patients to HME providers to’
obtain specific types of home medical equipment, as well as to consumers, who express a product or brand
preference. '

Invacare’s domestic sales and marketing organization consists primarily of a home care sales force, which
markets and sells Invacare® branded products to HME providers. Each member of Invacare’s home care sales force
functions as a Territory Business Manager (TBM) and handles all product and service needs for an account, thus
saving customers’ valuable time. The TBM also provides training and servicing information to providers, as well as
product literature, point-of-sale materials and other advertising and merchandising aids. In Canada; products are’
sold by a sales force and distributed through regional distribution centers in British Columbia, Ontario and Quebec
to health care prov1ders throughout Canada.

. 2

The Inside Sales Department provides increased sales coverage of smaller accounts and complements the
efforts of the field sales force. Inside Sales offers cost-effective sales coverage through a targeted telesales effort,
and has delivered solid sales growth in each of its five years of existence.

The company 's Technical Education department offers education programs that continue to place emphasis on
improving the productivity of reparr' technicians. The Service Referral Network includes numerous providers who
honor the company’s product warranties regardless of where the product was purchased. This network of servicing
providers seeks to ensure that all consumers using Invacare products receive quality service and support that is’
consistent with the Invacare brand promise. :

The company sells distributed products, primarily soft goods and disposable medical supplies, through ISG.
ISG products include ostomy, incontinence, wound care and diabetic supplies, as well as other soft goods and
disposables. A selection of these products is also sold in the retail market. ISG markets its products through field
account managers, inside telesales, a customer service department and the Internet. Additionally, ISG entered the
long-term care market on a regional basis and markets to those nursing homes utilizing a direct outside sales force.
ISG also markets a Home Delivery Program to home medical equipment providers through which ISG drop ships
supplies in the provider’s name to the customer’s address. Thus, providers have no products to stock, no minimum
order requirements and delivery is made within 24 to 48 hours nationwide. ~

In 2006, Invacare, through the company’s co-op advertising program, continued to offer direct response
television commercials designed to generate demand for Invacare Power Chairs and the HomeFill Oxygen System
sold by the home medical equipment provider. These commercials feature Amold Palmer, the company’s

. worldwide spokesperson, who has become an integral part of Invacare’s “Yes, you can®’ promotional and
marketing efforts. This program encourages consumers to achieve personal mdependence and part1c1pate in the
activities of life, facilitated by the home health care products that Invacare manufactures, distributes and/or markets °
throughout the world. The company has an agreement with Mr. Palmer through the end of 2009. Mr. Palmer, in
serving as the company’s spokesperson, is helping accomplish three objectives: (i) creating attention and awareness
for the category of home health care products, (ii) accelerating ‘acceptance of these products as lifestyle enhancing
so that consumers actually want these products rather than simply needing them, and (iii) establishing the Invacare®
brand as the consumer category-brand for home health care products. Mr. Palmer is featured throughout the
company's marketing communications, including Invacare direct-response televrslon commercrals pnnt adver- .
tising, pomt-of-purchase displays, and other merchandising and marketmg materla]s "

. The company continues to improve performance and usability on www.invacare.com, advancing our position
as the leader in e-commerce in the home medical equipment industry. The majority. of projects in 2006 concentratéd
on stabilizing the website order process and integration with Oracle database applications. To further improve
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website speed and reliability, a new web server and hardware upgrades were installed. During the fourth quarter of
2006, e-commerce began developing a new website design and structure for www.invacare.com and Invacare® Pro
that is more focused on usability, increasing order conversion; and creating a more consumer-oriented approach for
the company’s corporate identity and brand online. The primary focus of 2007 will be the release of this redesigned
website and .the concentration on providing e-commerce “services intelligence” to the organization. Additional
2007 projects will include improved product literature search functionality-and instatlation of a new analytics
platform to better, monitor, website. statistics and allow for more detailed analysis of visitor activities.

Also in 2006, the company conunued its strateg:c advertlsmg campaign in key trade publications that reach the
providers of home med:ca.l equnpmem The company also contributed exlenswely to editorial coverage in trade
publications conceming the products we manufacture and our representatives attended numerous trade shows and
conferences on a national and regional basis in which Invacare products were displayed to providers, health care
professionals and consumers.

PR ~

The company continues to génerote greater consumer awareness of our products. This was evidenced by the
company's sponsership.of a variety of wheelchair sporting events and support of various philanthropic causes
benefiting the consumers of our products. -For the thirteenth consecutive year, Invacare continued as a National-
Corporate Partner with Easter Seals, one of the most recognized charities in the United States that meets the needs of
both children and adults with various types of disabilities. The company continued its sponsorships of 25 individual
wheelchair athletes and teams, including several of the top-ranked male and female racers, hand cyclists, and
wheelchair tennis players in the world. Invacare was the title sponsor for the eighth year in a row of the Invacare
World Team Cup of Wheelchair Tennis Tournament, which took place in May in Brasilia, Brazil. The company also
continued its support of disabled veterans through its sponsorship of the 26th National Veterans Wheelchair Games,
the largest annual wheelchair sports event in the world. The games bring a competitive and recreational sports
experience to military service veterans who use wheelchairs for their mobility needs dué to spinal cord injury,
neurological conditions or amputation.

- The company’s top 10 customers accounted for approximately 12% of 2006 nét sales. The loss of business of
one or more of these customers or buying groups may have a significant impact on the company, although no single
customer accounted for.more than 3% of the company’s 2006 net sales. Providers who are part of a buying group
generqlly make individual purchasing decisions and are invoiced directly by the company.

Europe VK

The company’s European operations consist primarily of manufacturing, marketing and distribution oper-
ations in Western Europe and export sales activities through local distributors elsewhere in the world. The company
has a sales force and where appropriate, distribution centers;’in the United Kingdom, France, Germany, Belgium,
Portugal, Spain, Italy, Denmark, ‘Sweden,,Switzerland, Austria, Norway and the Netherlands, and ‘sells through
distributors elsewhere in Europe. In markets where the company has its own sales force, product sales are typically
made through dealers of medical eqmpment and, in certain markets, directly to government agencies. In 2006, the
expected consolidation of blg buying groups tending to develop their business on a European scale has confirmed
itself. As a result Invacare is generahzmg the apf)hcaUOn of pan-European pricing pohc:es

AR U N s ouir k! e . gL
, ' PRODUCT LIABILITY COSTS

The company’s captive insurance company, Invatection Insurance Co., currently has a pohcy year ‘that runs
from September 1 to August 31 and insures annual policy losses of $10,000,000 per occurrence and $13,000, 000 in
the aggregate of the company’s North- American product liability exposure. The company also has additional layers
of external insurance coverage insuring up to $75,000,000 in annual aggregate losses arising from individual claims
anywhere in. the world that exceed the captive insurance company policy limits or the limits of the company’s per
country-foreign liability limits, as applicable. There can be no assurance that Invacare’s current insurance levels will
continue to be adequate or available at affordable rates, :
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Product liability reservés are recorded for individual claims based- upon historical* experience, industry
expertise and indications from the third-party actuary. Additional reserves, in excess of the specific individual case
reserves, are provided for incurred but not reported claims based upon third-party actuarial valuations at the time’
such valuations are conducted. Historical claims experience and other assumptions are taken into consideration by
the third-party actuary to estimate the ultimate reserves. For example, the actuarial analysis assumes that historical
loss experience is an indicator of future experience, that the distribution of exposures by geographic area and nature
of operations for ongoing operations is expected to be very similar to historical operations with no dramatic changes
and that the government indices used to trend losses and exposures are appropriate. Estimates made are adjusted on
a regular basis and can be impacted by actual loss award settiéments on claims. While actuarial analysrs is used to
help determine adequate reserves, the company accepts responsibility for the determmatlon and recorclmg of
adequate reserves in accordance with accepted loss reservmg standards and practtces

PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT AND EN(:INEERING

- Invacare is committed to continuously improving its existing product lmes in a focused manner. In 2006, new
product development continued to be a focus as part of Invacare’s strategy to gain market share and maintain
competitive advantage. To this end, we introduced over 30 new products and product enhancements The followmg
are some of the most srgmﬁcant 2006 product developments o o

. .
i oo '

North Amenca/HME C :

' B3

The TDX™ Total Dnvmg eXperience SP, the newest addmon to the ’1"D)f{TM lme of power wheelchairs '
improves upon all the features of the TDX Series with enhanced performance superior nde quality, overall
quieter chassis and an elegantly simple design. -,.. .

The Pronto® M41™ power wheelchair, designed to complement the standard versatiﬁty of the Pronto®

. M51™, is a center-wheel drive power.chair that features performance, aesthetics, and serviceability bundled

into a package priced to allow providers to continue to be able 10 provide these mobility devices to their
CONSUIETS. ‘

1
FRE |

The Top End® Crossfire™ is an ultra-lightweight, miade-to-measure titanium rigid chair with a clean,
minimalist open frame design, great looks and simple adjustments — all of which deliver long-term perfor-
mance. It is one of the lightest titanium wheelchairs on the market. !

The inTouch™ Stabilite™ and Flovair™ Seat Cushions combine the stability of a foam base with a layer of

air for. pressure relief and a layer of fluid for shear. reduction: These lightweight and easily configurable

. cushions provide maximum comfort for consumers. They also feature patent-pending Invacare® ThinAir™

liners that suspend bony prominences while surrounding tissue is supported. This is all accomplished with less
volume, thus significantly reducing the weight of the cushion. . o

"The Invacare Valtie Line of Standard Products is commmed to delivering equipment in the self-care
market that is cost-effective, easy to use and includes.the féatires and benefits that provnders clinicians and
individuals require, Based on the success of the Value Line Rollator introduction in the first quarter of 2006,
Invacare added three new product families to the Line: Ambulatory (Single and Blue-Release™ Walkers), Bath
Safety (Tool-less Transfer Benches and Shower Chairs) & Toilet Safety (Clamp-on raised toilet seats and tub
bars). Invacare Value Line products are manufactured by Invacare and/or their third party suppliers with latex
free components.

i, L A P . e v "o . - (TR}

The Irivacare HomeFill™ Rea'dy-Rack was introduced as an accessory to the HomeFill™ Oxygen System
making in-home set-up faster and easier for the oxygen provider. The Ready-Rack allows the HomeFill System
to sit'directly on top of the oxygen concentrator-instead of using 4 HomeFill™ table. This provides a more
stable platform for the HomeFill™ while eliminating the'time requiréd to assemble the table in the home. Also
in 2006,.we introduced new ‘coiled tubing for the HomeFlll ‘which offers a more robust de51gn for 'INOTE -
flexibility and durability. : : '
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The HomeFill featherweight cylinder assemblies, including the new M9, ML6, and ML4, now each weigh
0.4 1b. less than previous cylinder assemblies of the same size thereby meeting the needs of ambulatory oxygen
pattents who are always looking for hghter and more portable options to meet their needs . :

, The Polarts ¥ TR CPAP and the Twilight™ NP (Nasal Pillow) Mask were added to the Invacare sleep
product line through our third quarter 2006 distribution agreement with AEIOMED, Inc. The Polaris™
TR CPAP, named for the True Rest it gives patients, will impress providers and patients with its small size and
portable battery module. The Twilight™ NP (Nasal Pillow) Mask was created by engineers experienced in the
design and production of sleep intétfaces, the nasal seal provides a stable and unobtrusive intérface which will
become a comfoitable part of CPAP therapy. These mnovauve products will help establish Invacare as the third

' .ma_lor player in the sleep mdustry

r

Pe :fecroZ is the next generanon new stanonary concentrator scheduled to be released in early 2007 The'
Perfect02 features an updated ]ook and color and s one;third smalier than the Platinum XL with one-third less
power consumpnon ; [

Asia/Pacific -+ ‘

Dynamic Controls continued various range. extensions and design improvements to(p‘roducts during 2006, A
new Scooter Controller des1gn was completed and launched in early 2006 and new product releases are antlclpated
for 2007. - S

!

Europe ®

Durmg 2006 European operations introduced a substantlal number of products appropnate for its. markets.
Key 1ntr0ductlons and updates in 2006 included:

Kiischall R-33 is a new high active l]ghtweight wheelchair, with an exclusive design and integrated
technology. Its revolutionary suspension system alleviates pressure on the spine. This characteristic is very
pertinent for high active users when driving over obstacles. It is available in different colors for personalizing
the chair and there are 2 multitude of high-end accessories to fit individual needs

Rea Spin x" ".is a lightweight, foldable wheelchair based on an ergononnc design which offers maximum
- *comfort for the user. It is a very compact chair that is easy to fold and store and is adjustable with many options
and accessories to comfortably allow prolonged seating.

Zephyr is a front wheel driven electric power wheelchair equipped with TrueTract™ motors, which are
well known for their silent drive and their soft control. At higher speed, when other front wheel drive power
ehalrs tend to get unstable an electronic gyroscope stabilizes rnovement and provides safety for the user.

- Topan is a new power wheelchair for the British dealer market. Named after an Indonesian wmd its main
benefits are spring suspension at higher speeds, luggage rack, batteries with increased capacity, large choice of
seat options, CllSthIlS and larger tilt angle up to 20 degrees.

Etude Medley isa cost—effeetlve bed for the home care segment, built on the Etude platform. It is available
in four conﬁguranons with four-sectioned mattresses that are electncally operated and bed-ends with fittings
., for both steel and wood side rails. : S ae, .

The Invacare® Rea products are now offered with additional Alber accessories such as: Viamobil™,

" Scalamobil®, E-fix™ and E-motmn This enhances the mobility for passive manual wheelchatrs allowing
better driving comfort for the user and more autonomous dnvmg performance

PEY
i

S MANUFACTURING AND SUPPLIERS

- 1
4

The company’ stob_]ecnve is to malntam the ]owest Cost, h1ghest quality supply cham in the industry. The
ompany seeks to.achieve. this objective through a strategic combination of Invacare manufacturing facilities,
contract manufacturing facilities, and key suppliers. The operational strategy further .supports the marketing
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strategy with assets that are fast, flexible providers of new and modlﬁed products that respond to- the demands of the
market. ‘

The Supply Chain is focused on providing custom, configured, made-to-order products from facilities close to
the customers in each of its major markets. As strategic choices are made on locations globally, those facilities that
remain in higher cost regions of.-North America and Europe will be { very focused factories that prov1de these specific
competitive advantages tc the marketing and sales teams. = '

The company continues to place specific emphasis on ghifting production over the next three to five years o
Astan sourcing opportunities, including China and India, which is a component of our multi-year manufacturing
and distribution strategy. Access to sourcing opportunities has been facilitated by our establishment of a full test and
design engineering facility in our location in Suzhou, China. In Asia, Invacare controls products with intellectual
property, high value add’ margins, and that serve local market opportunities through our wholly owned factories in
Suzhou and Kunshan, Jiangsu Province, China. The facilities, which were opened in 2004, supply products to the
major regions of the world served by Invacare: North America, Europe, and Asia/Pacific.

Best practices in lean manufacturing and six sigma are used throughout the operations to eliminate waste,
shorten lead times, optimize inventory, improve productivity, drive quality, and engage supply cham assocnales in
the deﬁmtlon and implementation of needed change

[

M | T '
The company purchases raw materials, components sub- assembhes and finished goods from a variety of
suppliers globally. The company’s Hong Kong-based Asian sourcing and purchasing office has proven to be a
significant asset to our supply chain through its development and management of suppliers across Asia. Where
appropriate, Invacare utilizes contracts with suppliers in all regions to increase the guarantees of delivery, cost,
quality, and responsiveness. In those situations where contracts are not advantageous, Invacare works to manage
multiple sources of supply and relationships that provide increased flexibility to the supply cham ‘

North America

" The company has focused its factories in North America on the final assembly of powered mobility and custom
manual wheelchairs, the fully integrated manufacture of homecare and institutional care beds, the final assembly of
respiratory products, and the integrated component fabrication, pamtmg, and final assembly of a variety of standard
manual wheelchairs and commodes. The company operates four major factories in Elyria, Ohio; Sanford, Florida;
London, Ontario; and Reynosa, Mexico. :

Asia/Pacific ‘

The company continues to aggresswe]y mtegrate its operanons in Australia to maximize the leverage of
operational efficiencies. . . \

Europe

The company has twelve manufacturing facilities spread throughout Europe with a capability to manufacture
patient aid, wheelchair, powered mobility, bath safety, and patient transport products. The European manufacturing
and logistics facilities are focused on accelerating opportunities for streamlininig to gain significant synergies in cost
and quality over the next three years.

* GOVERNMENT REGULATION

The company is directly affected by government regulation and reimbursement policies in virtually every
country in which it operates. Government regulatlons and health care policy differ from country to country, and
within some countries (most notably the, U.S., European Union, Australia and Canada); from state to state or
province to province. Changes in regulations and health care policy take place frequently and can 1mpact the size,
growth potential and profitability of products sold in each market. ‘
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. In the U.S,, the growth of health care costs has increased at rates in excess of the rate of inflation and as a
percentage of GDP for several decades. A number of efforts to ,control the federal deﬁc1t have impacted
reimbursement levels for government sponsored health care programs and private insurance companies often
imitate changes made in federal programs. Reimbursement guidelines in the home health care industry have a
substantial impact on the nature and type of equipment an end user can obtain and, thus, affect the product mix,
pricing and Ppayment patte{msr“o__f the company:s customers Wh_o_‘a:re_ the Hl}fIE proyjders. o

.-The cornpany continues its pro-active efforts to shape public policyithat impacts home and community-based, '
non-acute health care. We are currently, very.active with federal legislationi'and regulatory policy makers. Invacare
believes that these efforts give the company a competitive advantage in two ways. First, customers frequently
express appreciation for our efforts on behalf of the entire industry. Second, sometimes we have the ability to
anticipate and plan for changes in public policy, unhke most other HME manufacturers who must react to change
after it occurs.

The Safe Medical Devices Act of 1990 and Medical Dévice Amendrieiits of 1976 to'the Fedetal Food, Drug
and Cosmetics Act of 1938 (the “Acts”) provide for regulation by the United States Food and Drug Administration
(the “FDA”) of the manufacture and sale of medtca] deyices. iUnder the Acts -medical devices are classified as
Class I, Class I or Class IIT devices' The company s pnncrpal products are desrgnated as Class I or Class 11 devices.
In general, Class 1 devices’must comply with labeling and record-keeping requirements‘and are subject to other
general controls. In addition to-general controls, certain Class II devices must:comply. with product design-and
manufacturing controls established by the FDA. Domestic and foreign manufacturers'of medical devices distributed
commercrally in the U.S. are subject to periodic inspections by the FDA. Furthermore, state, local and foreign
governments have adopted regulations relatlng to the design, manufacture and marketing of health care products.
Dunng the past year the company was 1nspected by the FDA or Health ‘Canada at several domestic and forelgn
requ:red to meet ISO 13485 requrrements for Canada Europe and other forel gn markets were inspected durmg 2006
and found tobecernﬁable O o S T A TS AR R SV S

From time to time, the company may undertake voluntary reca]ls of our products to maihtain ongomg customer
relationships and to’ enhance its réputation for adhering to high- standards ‘of quality and safety. The’ company
continues to strengthen our programs to better ensure ‘compliance with applicable regulatlons pameularly those
which could have a material adverse effect on the company. T

v .-Although there are”a ‘number of reimbursement related*issues in most of the countties in which Invacare
competes, the issues of primary importance .are currently in the United States.-There are two critical issues for
Invacare: -eligibility for reimbursement for power wheelchairs for elderly- patients and the provisions of the
legislation related to prescription drug coverage under Medicare. With-regard to power wheelchairs, the Centers for
Medicare and Medicaid Services, or “CMS,” has recently implemented a series of changes to the eligibility,
documentation, codes and payment rules that impact the predlctabxhty and access to this benefit, but the transition
will not be complete until early in 2007. Invacare and the home care 1ndustry are working hard to convince the CMS
and the Bush administration to make pragmatic changes, that are consistent with industry practices, to afford seniors
appropriate'access to their home medical equipment. See “Management s Dlscussmn and Analysis of Financial*
Condition and-Results of Operatron i ‘ , T ' '

Starting inl late 2007, competitive bidding for home medical iteins and services WiIl be'implemented in ten of
the largest' mettopolitan Tegions of the United States. In'2009, the competitive bidding pro gram will be extended to
80 of the largest metropolitan regions. In early 2006, Congress passed the ‘Deficit Reduction ‘Act which includes
payment cuts to home oxygen that will take effect in January-2009, ‘as well as reductions for certain durable home'
medlcal equ1pment spendmg that will take effect in 2007: * o DR

e L e E
Although none of these changes are beneﬁc1al to the home care industry, the company beheves that we can strl]

grow and thrive in tlus environment. The home care industry has not received any cost-of-living adjustments over
the last’ few years and will try to respond w1th 1mproved productmty to address the lack of support from Congress.

In addltlon the company’s new products (for example, the HomeFill™. low-cost 0xygen delivery system), can help
address the cuts the home care provider has to endure. The company will continug.to focus on developing products
that help the provider improve proﬁtabrhty g ‘ : .

B AV, T
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Additionally, the company plans to accelerate our activities in China to'make sure that we are one of the lowest
cost manufacturers and dlsmbutors to the home care provxder s . i

. -+ . BACKLOG

The company general]y'manﬁ_faétures most of its products to meet near-term demands by shipf)ing from stock
of by building to order based on the specialty nature of certain products: Therefore, the company does not have
substantial backlog of orders of any partmular product nor docs it believe that backlog is a significant factor for its
business. - . .

o
i

, - 'EMPLOYEES
_As of December 31, 2006, Ihc;;company had agproxigjnate_}y 6,000 employees.

FOREIGN OPERATIONS AND EXPORT SALES ’W - o .m.-

‘The compa.ny also markets 1ts products for export to other foreign countries. In 2006 the company had product
sales in over 80 countries worldwide. For information relating to net sales, operating income and identifiable assets

_ of the company’s foreign operations, see Business Segments in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
. e 3 . : oA
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AVAILABLE INFORMATION O

t.

The -company files Annual Reports on Form- 10-K, Quarterly Repoits on Form 10- Q Current Reports on'
Form 8-K, and any amendments thereto, as well as proxy statements and other documents with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC). The public may read and copy any material that the company files with the-SEC at
the SEC’s Public Reference Room located at 100 F Street, NE, Washington D.C. 20549. The public may obtain
mformatlon on the operauon of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1- 800-SEC 0330. The SEC also
maintains a website, www.sec.gov, which contains all reports, proxy statements and other information filed by the
company with the SEC:

Additionally, Invacare’s filings with the SEC are available on or through the company’ s. website,
www.invacare.com, as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed electronically -with, or furnished to,
the SEC. Copies of the company’s filings also can be requested, free of charge, by writing to: Shareholder Relations
Department, Invacare Corporation, One Invacare Way, P.O. Box 4028, Elyria, OH 44036-2125.

.ot . . s

“®* 7 FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

- This Form 10-K contains forward-lookmg statements within the meaning of the “Safe Harbor provisions of
the. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Terms such as “will.” “should,” “plan,” “intend,” “expect,”
“continue,” “forecast”, "believe,” “anticipate” and “seek,” as well as similar comments; are forward-looking in
nature. Actual results and events may differ significantly from those expressed or amzapated as a result of risks and
uncertainties which mclude, but are not limited to, the following: possible adverse e]j’ects of bemg substantially
leveraged, which could impact our.ability to raise capital, limit,our ability to react to changes in the economy or our.
industry or expose us to interest rate risks; changes in government and other thrrd-party payor reimbursement levels
and practices; consolidation of health care customers and our competitors; ineffective cost reduction and
restructuring ejforts mabiltty to desagn manufacrure, a‘zsrnbure and achieve market acceptance of new products
wifth hzgher ﬁmcnonaluy and lowér costs: extensive govemment regulanon of our products; lower cost imports;
mcreased fre:ght costs; failure to comply with regulatory’ requirements or receive regularory clearance or approval
Jor ¢ our products or operanons in the United States or abroad; potential product recalls; uncollectible accounts.
receivable; dlﬁiculnes in implementmg a new Entetpnse ‘Resource Planning system; legal actions or regulatory
pmceedmgs and govemmental mvesnganons product liability claims; madequate patents' or other intellectual
property protection; incorrect assumptions concerning demographic’ ‘trénds that impact the market for our
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products; provisions in our bank credit agreements or other debt instruments that may prevent or delay a change in
control; the loss of the services of our key management and personnel; decreased availability or increased costs of
raw materials could. increase our costs of producing our products; mabthty to acquire strafegic acquisition,
candidates because of limited financing alternatives; risks inherent in managing and operating businesses in many
different foreign jurisdictions; exchange rate fluctuations, as well as the risks described from time to time in
Invacare’s reports as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Except to the extent required by law, we
do not undertake and specifically decline any obligation to review or update any forward-looking statements or to
publicly announce the results of any revtsmns io any of such staiements 10 reﬂect future events or developments or
otherwise. ! -

Item 1A. Rlsk Factors. "

{

The compa.ny § busmess operations and ﬁna.ncral COndlllOIl are subject to various risks and uncertainties. You
should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with all of the other information-in
this annual report on Form 10-K and in the company’s,other filings with the SEC, before making any investment
decision with respect to the company’s securities. The risks and uncertainties described below may not be the only
ones the company faces. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known by the company or that the
company currently deems immaterial may also affect the company’s business. If any of these known or unknown
risks or uncertainties actually occur or develop, the company’s business, ﬁnancna] condmon results of operatlons
and future growth prospects could change h .

PR . ' .. e Co, . r
'Changes in govemmeur and other th!rd-party payor reimbursement levels and pracuces have negatively
tmpacted and, could connnue to negauvely impact the company’s revenues and proﬁtab:hty

" The company ’s products are-sold through a network of medical equipment and home health care providers,
extended care facilities; hospital and HMOQ-based stores, and other providers. -Many of these providers (the
company’s customers) are reimbursed for the products and services provided to their customers and patients by
third-party payors, such as government programs, including Medicare and Medicaid, private insurance plans and
managed care programs. Many of these programs set maximum reimbursement levels for some of the products sold
by the company in the United States. If third-party payors deny coverage, make the reimbursement process or
documentatron requtrements more uncertain or further reduce their current levels of reimbursement (i.e., beyond the
reductions described below) or if the’ company ’s costs of production increase faster than increases in reimburse-
mentlevels, the compa.ny may be unable to’ sell the affected product(s) through its dlstrlbutlon channels on a
proﬁtab]e basns - g

Reduced govemment reimbursement levels and changes in reimbursement policies have in the past added, and
could continue to add, significant pressure to the company’s revenues and profitability. In early 2006, CMS
announced a series of changes to the eligibility, documentation, codes, and payment rules relating to power
wheelchairs that impact the predictability of reimbursement of expenses for and access to power wheelchairs. The
implementation of these changes will not be completed until early in 2007, after which the effect of these changes
on'the company’s busiriess will become more apparent. However, these changes may be sugmﬁcant Effective
November 15, 2006, the CMS reduced the maximum reimbursement amount for power wheelchairs under Medicare
by up to 28%. The reduced reimbursement levels may cause consumers to choose less expensive versions of the
company’s power wheelchairs. Additionally, the Deficit Reduction Act of 2005 includes payment cuts for home
oxygen equipment that will take effect in 2009 and reductions for certain durable home medical equipment
spending that will take effect in 2007.

Largely as a consequence of the announced reimbursement reductions ‘and the uncertainty created thereby,
North American net sales were lower in 2006 as compared to 2005 as were Asia/Pacific sales as the U.S. reim-
bursement uncenamty in the power wheelchair market, resulted in decreased sales of microprocessor controllers by
the company’s Dynamic Controls subsidiary. Sales of respiratory products were particularly affected by the,
changes. Small and independent provider sales declined as these dealers slowed their, purchases . of the company's
HomeFill™ oxygen system product line, in part, until they had a clearer view of future oxygen reimbursement
levels. Furthermore, a study issued.by the Office of Inspector General or “OIG.” in September 2006
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suggested that $3.2 billion in savings could be achieved over five 'years by reducing the reimbuirsed rental period
from three years (the reimbursement period under current law) to 13 months. The uncertainty created by these
annduncements continues to negatively impact the home oxygen equ1pment market particularly for those provrders
consrdenng changmg to the HomeFill™ oxygen system ‘
b vt e : It et
" Slmrlar trends and concerns are occ urring in state Medlcard programs These recent changes to reimbursement
pohcres and any additional unfavorable reimbursement policies or budgetary.cuts that may. be adopted, could
adversely affect the demand for the company’s products by customers who depend on reimbursement by the:
government-funded programs. The percentage of the company’s overall sales that are dependent on Medicare or
other insurance programs may increase as the portion of the U.S. population over age 65 continues to grow, making
the company more vulnerable to reimbursement level reductions by these organizations. Reduced government.
reimbursement levels also could result in reduced private payor reimbursement levels because some third-party
payors may index their.reimbursement schedules to Medicare fee schedules. Reductions'in reimbursement levels
also may affect the profitability of the company’s customers and ultimately force some customers without strong
financial resources to go out of business. The reductions announced recently may be so dramatic that some of the
company’s customers may not.be able to'adapt quickly enough to survive. The company is-the industry’s largest
creditor and an increase in bankruptcies in the company ’s customer base could have an adverse effect on the:

company 51ﬁnan01al results. - . ’ . oo T RS

P Ve e gt

Medicare will 1nsutute a new competmve blddrng program for various items in ten as yet unidentified of the
largest metropolitan areas late in 2007. This program is designed to reduce Medicare payment levels for items that
the Medicare program spends the most money on under the home medical equipment benefit, This new program
will likely eliminate sorne providers from the competmve blddmg markets because only those provrders who are
chosen to participate (based largely on ' price) will be able to provide beneficiaries with items included in the bid.
Medicare will be expanding the program to an additional 80 metropolitan areas in 2009. In addition, in:2009,
Medicare has the authority.to apply bid rates from bidding areas in non-bid areas. The competitive bidding program

" will result in reduced payment levels,.that will vary by product category, and will depend in large part upon the level.
of bids the company’s customers submit in an effort to ensure they become approved contract suppllers Itis drfﬁcult w

to predict the specific reductions in payment levels that will result from this process oo L
K
Outside the United States relmbursement systems vary 51gn1ﬁcantly by country Many forelgn markets have

govemment-managed health care systems that govern relmbursement for new home health care products. The
ability of hospitals and other providers supported by such systems to purchase the company ] products is dependent

in part, upon public budgetary constraints. Canada and Germany and other European countries, for example, ha\{e
tightened reimbursement rates and other countries may follow. If adequate levels of reimbursement from third-party
payors outside of the United States are not obtained, international sales of the company’s products may.decline,

which could adversely affect the company’s net sales and would have a materlal adverse effect on the company’s-
business, financial condition and results of operations. ol S ot

In January 2007, the OIG announded its goals and priorities for 20()7 whrch mclude a number of i 1nvest1gat10ns
into Medicare and Medicaid payments for durable medical equrpment or “DME " among them for example,
invéstigations into Medicare pricing of equrpment and supplies and the medrcal necessity of durable medical
equipment for whrch Medicare provided payments

. . : - .
v o Aoy '

The. 1mpact of all the changes discussed ‘above are uncertain and could have a matenal adverse effect on the
company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. Cov s : AN .

The consolidation of health care customers and the company’s competitors could result.in a loss of cus-

tomers or in additional competmve pricing pressures. et o e

Numerous initiatives and reforms instituted by legislators, regulators and third:party’ payors to reduce home
medical equrprnent costs have resulted in a consolidation trend in the home medical equlpment 1ndustry as well as'
among the company’s customers, including home health care providers. Some of the company 's competitors have
been lowering the purchase prices of their products in an effort to attract ‘customers. This in turn has resulted in
greater pricing pressures, including pressure to offer customers more competitive pricing terms, and the éxclusion
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of certain suppliers from important market segments as group purchasing organizations, independent delivery
networks and. large :single accounts continue to consolidate purchasing decisions for some of the company’s
customers. Further consolidation could result in a loss of customers, mcludmg 1ncreased collectibility nsks or in
increased competltwe pricing pressures. . . : . ‘

. The mdustry in which the company operates is htghly competitive and some of the company’s compeutors
. may be larger.and may have greater financial resources than the company does. . y . '

The home medical equipment market is highly competitive and the company’s products face significant
competition from other well-established manufacturers. Any increase in competition may cause the company to
lose market share or compel the company to reduce prices to remain competitive, which could matenally adversely
affect the company § resu]ts of operations. . : : - .

If the company’s-cost reducuon efforts are meﬁ'echve, the company’s revenues and proﬁtabduy could be
negatively impacted. . . : :

In response to the reductions in Medicare power wheelchair and oxygen reimbursemeht levels and other
governmental and third"party payor pricing pressures and competitive pricing pressures, the company has initiated
further cost reduction efforts in addition to those announced in 2005 and early 2006. The company may not be
successful in achieving the operating efficiencies and operating cost’ reductions expected from these efforts,
including the estimated cost savings described above, and the company may experience business-disruptions
associated with the restructuring and cost reduction activities, including the restructuring activities previously
announced in 2005 and 2006 and, in particular, the company’s facility consolidations initiated in connection with
these activities. These efforts may not produce the full efficiency and cost reduction benefits that the company
expects. Further, these benefits may be realized later than expected, and the costs of implementing these measures
may be greater than anticipated. If these measures are not successful, the company intends to undertake additional
cost reduction efforts, which could result in future charges. Moreover, the company's ability to achieve other
strategic goals and business plans and the company’s financial performarice may be adversely'affected and the
company could experience business disruptions with customers and elsewhere if the company s cost reduction and
restructuring efforts prove meffectwe'

The company’s success depends on the company’s ability to design, manufacture, d:strtbute and aehteve
market acceptance of new products with higher funcuonahty and lower casts.

The company sells products to customers primarily in markets that are charactenzed by technolog1cal chan ge,
product innovation and evolving industry standards and.in which product price is increasingly the -primary
consideration in customers’ purchasing decisions. The company is continually engaged in product development and .
improvement programs. The company must continue to design and improve innovative products,. effectively
distribute and achieve market acceptance of those products, and reduce the costs of producing the company’s
products, in order to compete successfully with the company’s competitors. If competitors” product development
capabilities become more effective than the company’s product development capabilities, if competitors’ new or
improved products are accepted by the market before the company’s products or if competitors are able to produce
products at a lower cost and thus offer products for sale at a lower price, the company’s business, financial condmon '
and results - of operation could be adversely affected.

'
2

The company is subject to extensive government regulation, and if the company fails to comply with
applicable laws or regulations, the company could suffer severe criminal or civil sanctions or be required
to make significant changes to the company’s operations that could have a matenal adverse effect onthe
company’s results of operations. : "

The company sells its products principally to medical equipment and home health care providers who resell or
rent those products to consumers. Many of those providers (the company’s customers) are reimbursed for the
Invacare® products sold to their customers and patients by third-party payors, including Medicare and Medicaid.
The federal government and all states and countries inswhich we operate regulate many aspects of the company’s
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business. As a health care manufacturer, the company is subject to extensive government regulation, including
numerous laws directed at preventing fraud and abuse and laws regulating reimbursement under various govern-
ment programs. The marketing, invoicing, documenting and other practices of health care suppliers and manu-
facturers are all subject to government scrutiny. Government agencies periodically open investigations and obtain
information from health care suppliers and manufacturers pursuant to the legal process. Violations of law or
regulations can result in severe criminal, civil and administrative penalties and sanctions; including disqualification
from Medicare and other reimbursement programs, which could have a material adverse effect on the company’s
business. The company has established policies and procedures that the company believes are sufficient to ensure
that lhe company w111 oOperate 1n substannal comphance with these laws and regulatlons

*
A i [} - et -4

The company recently received a subpoena from the U.S. Department of Justice secking documents re]atrng to
three long-standing and well-known promotional and rebate programs maintained by the company. The company
believes the programs described in the subpoena are in compliance with all applicable laws and the company is
cooperating fully with the government investigation which is currently being:conducted out of Washington, D.C.
There can be no assurance that the company’s business or financial condition will not be adversely affected by the
govemment 1nvest1gatlor1

1

R B

Health care is an area of raprd regulatory change. Changes in the law-and new interpretations of existing laws
may. affect permissible activities, the costs associated with doing business, and reimbursement amounts paid by
federal, state and other third-party .payors. The company cannot predict the future of federal, state and local- -
regulation or legislation, including Medicare and Medicaid statutes and regulations, or'possible changes in health
care policies in any counltry in which the company conducts business. Future legrslatlon and regulatory changes-
could have a material adverse effecton the company’s business. o '

o e A
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- The company’s research and development and manufactunng processes ‘are subject to fedeml state, local
and foreign envrronmental reqmrements. : - - ' ‘ »

. 1
' y

: KR .
The company s research and deve]opment and manufacturmg processes.are subject to federal state, local and
foreign environmental requrremcnts including requirements governing the discharge of pollutants into the air or
water, the use, handling, storage and disposal of hazardous substances and.the responsibility to investigate and
cleanup of contaminated sites. Under some of these laws, the company could also be held responsible for costs
relating to any contamination at the company s past or present facilities and at third-party waste disposal sites.

These could include costs relating to contarmnatron that did not result from any violation-of law .and, in some
circumstances, contamination that the company did not cause. The company may incur significant expenses relating
to the failure to comply with environmental laws. The enactmiént of stficter laws or regulations; the stricter
interpretation of existing laws and regulations or the requirement to undertake the investigation or remediation of
cirrrently unknown environmental contamination at the company ’s own or thlrd party sites may reqmre the company
to make ‘additional expendltures which could be material." o

C Iy I C%

Lower cost imports could negauvely rmpact the company s proﬁtab:hty

Lower cost imports sourced from Asia may negatrvely impact the company ’s sales volumes. Competrtron from
these products may force the company to lower our prices, cutting into the company’s profit margins and reducing
thé company’s overall profitability. Asian goods had a particularly strong negative impact on the company’s sales of
Standard Products {this category includes products such as manual wheelchairs, canes, walkers and bath ards)
during 2006, which declined compared to the previous year. .. - . .

The compqny’s [failure to comply with regulatory requirements or receive regulatory clearance or
approval for the company’s products or operations in the United States or abroad could adversely affect
the company’s business.

.

The company’s medical devices are subject to extensive regulatron in the Umted States by the Foed and Drug
Administration, or the FDA,” and by similar governmental authorities in the foreign countries where the company '

does business, The FDA regulates virtually all aspects of.a medical device's development, testing, manufacturing,
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labeling, promotion, distribution and marketing. In addition, the company is required to file reports with the FDA if
the company’s products cause, or contribute to, death or serious injury, or if they malfunction and would be likely to
cause, or contribute to, death or serious injury if the malfunction were to recur. In general, unless an exemption
applies, the company’s wheelchair and respiratory medical devices must receive a pre-marketing clearance from the
FDA before they can be marketed in the United States. The FDA also regulates the export of medical devices to
foreign countries. The company cannot be assured that any of the company’s devices, to the extent required, will be
cleared by the FDA through the pre-market clearance process or that the FDA will provide export certificates that
are necessary to export certain of the company’s products. ‘

Addltlonally, the company may be reqmrcd to obtain pre -marketing clearances to market modlﬁcatlons o the
company’s existing products or market its existing” products for new indications. The FDA requires device
manufactuters themselves to make and documem a dctermmatlon of whether or not a modification requires a
new clearance; however, the FDA can review and dlsagree with a manufacturer’s decision. The company has
applied for, and received, a number of such clearances in the past. The company may not be successful in receiving
clearances in the future or the FDA may not agrce wnh the company’s decisions not to seek clearances for any
particular device modification. The FDA may requlre a clearance for any past or future modification or a new
indication for the company’s existing products. Such submissions may require the submission of additional dala and
may be time consuming and costly, and may not ultlmately be cleared by the FDA.

If the FDA requires the company to oblam pre-marketing clearances for-any modification to a previously
cleared device, the company may be required to cease manufacturing and marketing the modified device or to recall
the modified device until the company obtains FDA clearance, and the company may be subject to significant
regulatory fines or penalties. In addition, the FDA may not clear these submissions in a timely manner, if at all. The
FDA also may change its policies, adopt additional regulations or revise existing regulations, each of which could
prevent or delay pre-market clearance of the company’s devices, or could impact the company’s ability to market a
device that was previously cleared. Any of the foregoing could adversely affect the company’s business..

‘

“The company’s failure to comply wnh the regulatory requirements of the FDA and other applicable
U.S. regulatory requirements may subject the company to administrative or judicially imposed sanctions. These
sanctions include warning letters, civil penalties, criminal penalties, injunctions, product seizure or detention,
product recalls and total or partial suspension of production. )

In many of the foreign countries in-which the company 'markets its products, the company is subject to
extensive regulations that are similar to those of the' FDA, including those in' Europe. The regulation of the
company's products in Europe falls primarily within the European Economic Area, which consists of the 27 member
states of the European Umon as well as Iceland, Liechtenstein and Norway. Only medical devices that comply with
certain conformity requlremenls of the Medical Device Directive are allowed to be marketed within the European
Economic Area. In addition, the national health or social security organizations of certain foreign countries,
including those outside Europe, require the company’s products to be qualified before they can be marketed in those
countries: Failure to receive or delays in the receipt of, relevant foreign qualifications in the European Economic
Area or other foreign countries could have a material adverse effect on the company’s business.

. . o . . . o i ' L R .
The company’s products are subject to recalls, which could harm the company’s reputation and business.

The company is subject to ongoing medical device reporting regulations that require the company to report to
the FDA or similar governmental authorities in other countries if the company’s products cause, or contribute to,
death or serious injury, or if they malfunction and would be likely to cause, or contribute to, death or serious injury if
the malfunction were to recur. The FDA and similar governmental authorities in other countries have the authority
to require the company io do a field correction or recall the company’s products in the event of material deficiencies
or defects in design or manufacturing. In addition, in light of a deficiency, defect in design or manufacturing or
defect in labeling, the company may voluntarily-elect to recall or correct the company’s preducts. A government
mandated or voluntary recall/field correction by the company could occur as a result of component failures, .
manufacturing errors or design defects, including defects in labeling. Any recall/field correction would divert
managerial and financial resources and could harm the company’s reputation with its customers, product users and
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the health care professionals that use; prescribe and recommend the company’s products, The company could have
product recalls or-field actions that result in significant costs to the company in the future, and these actions could
have a material adverse effect on the company’s business: -

- '
)

“The company’s reported results may be adversely affected by increases in reserves for uncollectible
accounts recewable. . R

The company has a Iarge balance of accounts recelvable and has ‘established a reserve for the portion of such
accounts receivable that the company estimates will not be collected because of the company’s customers’ non-
payment. Thé reserve is based on historical trends and current relauonshlps with the company’s customers and
providers. Changes.in the company’s collection rates can resilt from a number of factors, including turnover in
personnel, changes in the payment policies or practlces of payors or changes in industry rates or pace of
reimbursement. As a result of recent changes in Medlcare relmbursoment regulations, specifically changes to,
the qua.hﬁcauon processes and reimbursement levels of consumer power wheelchairs and custom power wheel-
chairs, the business viability of several of the company’s customers has become questionable. The company’s
reserve for uncollectible receivables has fluctuated in the past and will continue to fluctuate in the future. Changes
in rates of collection or fluctuations, even 1f they are small in absolute terms, could require the company to increase
its reserve for uncollectible receivables beyond its current level. The company has reviewed the accounts
receivables associated with many. of its customers that are most exposed to these issues. As part of the company’s
2006 financial results, the company recorded an incremental reserve against accounts receivable of $26.8 million.

Difficulties in implementing a new Emerpnse Resource P!anmng system have disrupted the company’s
business. -

* o
Wt

During the fourth quaner of 2005, the company 1mplememed the second phase of the company’s Enterprise
Resource Planning, or “ERP,” system. Primarily as a result of the complexities and business process changes
associated with this implementation, the company encoumered a number of issues related to the start-up of the
system, including difficulties in processing orders, customer dlsruptlons ‘and the loss of some business. While the
company believes that the difficulties associated with 1mplememmg and stabilizing the company’s ERP system
were temporary and have been addressed, there can be no'assurance that the company will not experience additional
ongoing disruptions or inefficiencies in the company’s business operations as a result of this new system
implementation, the final phase of which is to be completed in late 2007 or in 2008. .

N
.

The company may be adversely affected by legal actions or regulatory proceedings.

The company may. be subject to claims, litigation or other liabilities as a result of injuries caused by allegedly
defective products, acquisitions the company has completed or in the intellectual property area. Any such claims or
litigation against the company, regardless of the merits, could result in substantial costs and could harm the
company’s business. Intellectual property litigation or claims also could require the company to: '

* cease manufacturing and selhng any of the company s products that incorporate the challenged intellectual
property;

+ obtain a license from the holder of the infrin'ged_'intellectual property right alleged to have been inf'ringed,
which license may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, if at all; or

. redemgn or rename the company’s products Wthh may not be possible and could be costly and time
consurmng

'I'he results of legal proceedings are drfﬁcult to predict and the company cannot provide any assurance that an
_action or proceeding will not be commenced against the company, or that the company will prevail in any such
“action or proceeding. An unfavorable resolution of any legal action or proceeding could materially and adversely
affect the company’s business, resuits of operations, liquidity or financial condition. -
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Product liability claims may harm the company’s business, particularly if the number of c!a:ms increases
significantly or the company’s. product liability insurance proves inadequate. St

The manufacture and sale of home health care devices and related products exposes lh_e"company to a
significant risk of product liability claims. From time to time, the company has been, and is currently, subject to a
number of product liability claims alleging that the use of the company’s products has resulted in serious injury or
even death. o '

Even if the company is successful in defending against any liability claims, these claims could nevertheless
distract the company’s management result in substantial costs, harm the company’s repulatlon adversely affect the
sales of all the company s products and otherwise harm the company’s business. If there is a 51gn1ﬁcant Increase in
the number of product hablhty claims, the company’s business could be adversely affected

'

The company’s captlve insurance company, Invatection Insurance Company, currently has a policy.year that
runs from September 1 to August 31 and insures annual policy losses of $10,000,000 per occurrence and
$13,000,000 in the aggregate of the company’s North American product liability exposure. The company also
has additional layers of external insurance coverage insuring up to $75,000,000 in annual aggregate losses arising
from individual claims anywhere in the world that exceed the captive insurance company policy limits or the limits
of the company’s per country foreign liability limits as applicable. There can be no assurance that the company 3
current insurance levels will continue to be adequate or available at affordabie rates.

Product liability reserves are recorded for individual claims based upon historical experience, industry
expertise and indications from a third-party actuary. Additional reserves, in excess of the specific-individual case
reserves, are provided for incurred but not reported claims based upon third-party actuarial valuations at the time
such valuations are conducted. Historical claims experience and other assumptions are taken into consideration by
the third-party actuary to estimate the ultimate reserves. For example, the actuarial analysis assumes that historical
loss experience is an indicator of future experience, that the distribution of exposures by geographic area and nature
of operations for ongoing operations is expected to be very similar to historical operations with no dramatic changes
and that the government indices used to trénd losses and exposures are appropriate. Estimates are adjusted on a
regular basis and can be impacted by actual loss awards or settlements on claims. While actuarial analysis is used to
help determine adequate reserves, the company is responsible for the determination and recording of adequate
reserves in accordance with accepted loss reserving standards and practices.

Yo

In addition, as a result of a product hablhty claim or if the company’s products are alleged to be defecnve the
company may have to recall some of j its.products, Wthh could result in significant costs to the company and harm
the company’s business reputation. v e, _— .
If the company’s patents and other intellectual property rights do not adequately protect the company’s
products, the company may lose, market share to its competitors and may not be able to operate the com-
pany’s business profitably. _ .

The company relies on a combination of patents, trade secrets and trademarks to establish and protect the
company’s intellectual property rights in its products and the processes for the development, manufacture and

marketing of the company’s products., . . ' ST

The company uses non-patented proprietary know-how, trade secrets, undisclosed internal processes and other
proprietary information and currently employs various methods to protect this proprietary information, including
conﬁdentlallty agreements, invention assugnment agreements and” proprietary information agreements with ven-
dors, employees, independent sales agents, distributors, consultants, and others. However, these agreements may be
breached. The FDA or another govemmental agency may require the disclosure of this information in order for the
company to have the nght to' market a product. Trade secrets, know-how and other unpatented propr1etary
technology may also otherwise become known 1o or mdependenlly developed by the company s competitors.

In addition, the company also holds U.S. and foreign patents relating to a number of its components and
products and has patent applications pending with respect to other components and products. The company also
applies for additional patents in the ordinary course of its business, as the company deems appropriate. However,
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these precautions offer only limited protection, and the company’s proprietary information may become kanown to,
or be independently developed by, competitors, or the company’s proprietary rights in intellectual property may be
challenged, any of which could have a material adverse effect on the company’s business, financial condition and
results of operations. Additionally, the company cannot assure that its existing or future patents, if any, will afford
the company' adequate protection or any competitive advantage, that any future patent applications will result in
issued patents ‘or that the company’s patents will not be circumvented, invalidated or declared unenforceable.

Any proceedings before the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office could result in adverse decisions as to the
priority of the company’s 1nvent10ns and the narrowing or mvahdatlon of claims in issued patents. The company
could also incur substantial costs in any proceeding. In addition, the laws of some of the countries in which the
company’s products are or may be sold may not protect the company’s products and intellectual property to the
same extent as U.S. laws, if at all. The company may also be unable to protect the company’s rights in trade secrets
and unpatented proprietary technology in these countries.

In addition, the company holds patent and other intellectual property licenses from third parties for some of its
products and on technologies that are necessary in the design and manufacture of some of the company’s products.
The loss of these licenses could prevent the company from, or could cause additional disruption or expense in,
manufacturing, marketing and selling these products, which could harm the company’s business.

The company’s operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected if the company
becomes involved in litigation regarding its patents or other intellectual property rights.

Litigation involving patents and other intellectual property rights is common in the company’s industry, and
companies in the company’s industry have used intellectual property litigation in an attempt to gain a competitive
advantage. The company currently is, and in the future may become, a party to lawsuits involving patents or other
inteltectual property. Litigation is costly and time consuming. If the company loses any of these proceedings, a court
or a similar foreign governing body could invalidate or render unenforceable the company’s owned or licensed
patents, require the company to pay significant damages, seek licenses and/or pay ongoing royalties 1o third parties,
require the company to redesign its products, or prevent the company from manufacturing, using or selling its
products, any of which would have an adverse effect on the company’s results of operations and financial condition.
The company has brought, and may in the future also bring, actions against third parties for an infringement of the
company’s intellectual property rights. The company may not succeed in these actions. The defense and prosecution
of intellectual property suits, proceedings before the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office or its foreign equivalents and
related legal and administrative proceedings are both costly and time consuming. Protracted litigation to defend or
prosecute the company’s intellectual property rights could seriously detract from the time the company’s man-
agement would otherwise devote to running its business. Intellectual bmperty_ litigation relating to the company’s
products could cause its customers or potential customers to defer or limit their purchase or use of the affected
products until resolution of the litigation. '

The company’s business strategy relies on certain assumptions concerning demographic trends that
impact the market for its products. If these assumptions prove to be incorrect, demand for the company’s
products may be lower than expected.

The company’s ability to achieve its business objectives is subject to a variety of factors, including the relative
increase in the aging of the generat population. The company believes that these trends will increase the need for its
products. The projected demand for the company’s products could materially differ from actual demand if the
company’s assumptions regarding these trends and acceptance of its products by health care professionals and
patients prove to be incorrect or do not materialize. If the company’s assumptions regarding these factors prove to be
incorrect, the company may not be able to successfully implement the company’s business strategy, which could
adversely affect the company’s results of operations. In addition, the perceived benefits of these trends may be offset
by competitive or business factors, such as the introduction of new products by the company’s competitors or the
emergence of other countervailing trends. .
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.1 The loss of the services of the company’s key management and personnel could adversely affect its abnhty
fo operate the company’s business.

The company’s future success will depend, in part, upon the continued service of key managerial, research and
development staff and sales and technical personnel. In addition, the company’s future success will depend on its
ability to continue to attract and retain other highly qualified personnel. The company may not be successful in
retaining its current personnel or in hiring or retaining qualified personnel in the future. The company’s failure to do
s0 could have 4 material adverse effect on the company’s business. These executive officers have ‘substantial
experience and expertise in the company’s industry. The company’s future success depends, to a significant extent,
on the abilities and efforts of its executive officers and other members of its management team. If the company loses
the services of any of its management team, the company’s business may be adversely affected.

The company’s Chief Executive Officer and ‘certain members of management own shares representing a
substantial percentage of the company’s voting pawer and their interests may dgffer Jrom other
shareholders.

The company has two classes of common stock. The Common Shires have one vote per share and the Class B
Common Shares have 10 votes per share. As of January 1, 2007 the company’s chairman and CEO, Mr. A. Malachi
Mixen, and certain members of management beneficially own up to approximately 34% of the combined voting
power of the company’s Common Shares and Clas$'B Common Shares and could influence the outcome of any
corporate transaction or other matter submitted to the shareholders for approval, including mergers, consclidations
and the sale of all or substantially all of the company’s assets. They. will also have the power to influence or make
more difficult 2 change in control. The interests of M. Mixon and his relatives may differ from the interests of the
other shareholders and they may take aCllOl}S with which shareholders disagree.

[N

Decreased availability or increased costs of raw materials could increase the company’s costs of produc-
ing its products. . . . .

The company purchases raw materials, fabricated com]'mncms and services from a variety of suppliers. Raw
materials such as plastics, steel, and aluminum are considered key raw materials. Where appropriate, the company
employs contracts with its suppliers, both domestic and international. In those situations in which coniracts are not
advantageous, the company believes that its relationships with their suppliers are satisfactory and that alternative
sources of supply are readily available. From time to time, however, the prices and availability of these raw
materials fluctuate due to global market demands, which could impair the company’s ability to procure necessary
materials, or increase the cost of these materials. Inflationary and other increasés in costs of these raw materials
have occurred in the past and may recur from time to time. In addition, freight costs associated,with shipping and
receiving product and sales are lmpacted by fluctuations in the cost of oil and gas. A reductlon in the. supply or
increase in the cost of those raw materials could i 1mpact the company s ability to manufacture its products and could

increase the cost of production. : o a

L8 v

Since the company’s ability to obtain further financing may be limited, the company may be unable fo
acquire strategic acquisition candidates.

The ccmpany’s plans include identifying, acquiring, and ihtegrating other strategic busine§§qs. There are
various reasens for the company to acquire businesses or product lines, including providing new products or new
manufacturing and service capabilities, to add new customers, to increase penetration with existing customers, and
to expand into new geographic markets. The company’s ability to successfully grow through acquisitions depends
upon its ability to identify, negotiate, complete and integrate suitable acquisitions and to obtain any necessary
financing. ‘The costs of acquiring other businesses could increase- if competition for acquisition candidates
increases. If the company is unable to obtain the necessary ﬁnancmg, it may miss opporlurutles to grow its
business through strategic acquisitions. .
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Additionally, the success of the company’s acquisition strategy is subject to other rlsks and costs, including the
following: :

» the company’s ability to realize operating efficiencies, synergies, or other benefits expected from an
Aacquisition, and possible delays in realizing the benefits of the acquired company or products;

* diversion of management’s time and attention from other business concerns;

+ difficulties in retaining key employees of the acquired businesses who are necessary to manage.these
businesses;

, -

» difficulties in mamtammg uniform standards, controls, procedures and policies throughout acquired
compames

« adverse effects on existing business relationships with suppliers or customers;
= the risks associated with the assumption of contingent or undisclosed liabilities of acquisition targets; and
* ability to generate future cash flows or the availability of financing.

In addition, an acquisition could materially impair the company’s operating results by causing the company to
incur debt or. requmng the amortization of acquisition expenses and acquired assets.,

The company is sub'jed to certain risks inherent in managing and operating businesses in many different
Joreign jurisdictions. ) . .

- The company has significant international operations, including operations in Australia, New Zealand, Asia
and Europe. There are risks inherent in operating and selling products internationally, including:

 difficulties in enforcing agreements and collecting receivables through certain foreign legal systems;
« foreign customers who may have longer payment cycles than customers in the United States;

* tax rates in certain foreign countries that may exceed those in the United States and foreign earnings that
may be subject to withholding requirements;

» the imposition of tariffs, exchange controls or other trade restrictions including transfer pricing restrictions
when products produced in one country are sold to an affiliated entity in another country; g

+ general economic and political conditions in countnes where the company operales or where end users of
' the company s products re51de B

+

* dlfﬁculues associated with managing a large organnzatnon spread lhroughout various countries;

.« difficulties in enforcmg 1ntellectual property nghts and weaker intellectual property nghts protection in
some countries;

* required compliance w1th a vartety of foreign laws and regulanons

* different regulatory environments and reimbursement systems; and

+ differing consumer product preferences. '

The company’s revenues are subject to exchange rate fluctuations that could adversely affect its results of
operations or ﬁnancuzl position.

Currency exchange rates are subject to fluctuation. due to, among other thmgs changes in local regional or
global economic conditiens, the imposition of currency exchange restrictions, and unexpected changés in regu-
latory or taxation environments. The functional currency of the company’s subsidiaries outside the United States is
the predominant currency used by the subsidiaries to transact business. Through the company’s international
operations, the company is exposed to foreign currency-fluctuations, and charges in exchange rales can have a
significant impact on net sales and elements of cost.
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The company uses forward contracts to help reduce its exposure to exchange rate variation risk. Despite the
company’s efforts 1o mitigate these risks, however, the company’s revenues and profitability may be materially
adversely affected by exchange rate fluctuations. The company also is exposed to market risk through various
financial instruments, including fixed rate and floating rate debt instruments. The company uses interest swap
agreements 10 mmgate its exposure to interest rate ﬂuctuanons but those efforts may not adequately protect the
company from significant interest rate risks.

Itém'1B. Um-esolved Staff Comments.

None e

Item 2 Propertles.

- w r R f .
The company owns or leases its warehouses, offices and manufacturing facilities and belleves that these

facilities are well maintained, adequately insured and suitable for their present "and intended uses. Information

concerning certain leased facilities of the company as of December 31, 2006 is set forth in Leases and Commitments

in the Notes'to the Consolidated Financial Statemehts of the company mcluded in this report and i n the table below:

L i . '

Ownership
P R , . - Or Expiration - Renewal . '
North American/HME Operations Square Feet Date of Lease Options U_se
Alexandria, Vlrglma.‘ ........ 230 September 2007 None Oftice '
Alpharetta, Georgga ......... 11,605 December 2008 .. None Warehouse and Offices:
Arlington, Texas ... ... N , 03,626  April 2008 . None Warehouse . ,
Atlanta, Georgia ........... 91,418 Feomary 2008 One (3 yr.) = .Warehouse and Offices . -
Delta, British Columbia. . . . .. .12,000  January 2008 .One (3 yr.) = Warehouse and Offices -
Edison,:New Jersey .. ..:. ... 75, 291 March 2010 None Warehouse and Offices
Elyria, Ohio . : " .
—Taylor Street ,...:..... 251,656 .Own Foal— Manufacturing and Offices
—Clevelmd Street.......: 141,657 November 2007 One (3 yr.) Warehouse T
—One Invacare Way . ..... 50,000, Own ’ — Headquarters
—1320 Taylor Street . ... .. 30,000 January 2010 One (5 yr.) Offices ..
—1160 Taylor Street . .... - - 4,800 Owni. - . Me— Warehouse and Offices
Hong'Kong, China. . ... .... 600  Month to Month None Offices
Kirkland, Quebec. .. ........"- 26,196 'Novembér 2010  One(Syr) Manufacturing, '
o s ] : Warehouse and Offices
Kunshan City, China .. ... ... . 52:700 Jlﬂ}e 2007 " One (2 yr.) Manufacturmg and Ofﬁces
Marlboro, New Jersey .. ..... 2,800 April 2007 None Office " '
Mississauga, Ontario . . ... 26, 530 November 201] Two (5 yr.) Warehouse and Ofﬁces -
Morton, Minnesota ......... o 26 900 June 2009 . Twa (4 yr.) Manufactunng, e
Warehouse and Offices
North Rxdgewlle omo. ee.... 152861  Own . e Manufacturing,
i CROT T A : ‘Warehouses and Offices
North Ridgeville, Ohio:"..... 66,724 Seplember 2007 Two (3 yr)  Office '
Pharr, Texas ...... S 2672 Montii'to Month . — Warehouse
Pinellas Park, Florlda. o100 711,400 Month to Month None Manufacturing and Offices
Reynosa Mexnco. Cheeeee 152,256 Own — Manufacturing and Offices
Sacrament'o, Callfogﬁa ....... - 26,900 May 2008 . One (3 yr.) Manufacturing,
N * “Warehouse and Offices
Sanford, Florida. """ .. . ceen S 117,108 Own ‘ — Manufacturing and Offices -
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* Ownership
" ' . - Or Expiration Renewal

North American/HME Operations ; - Square Feet Date of Lease . Options.
Scarborough, Ontario. ....... c - 5,428 February 2008 None
Simi Valley, California. ‘.. U 38,501' " February 2009 " Two (5 yr.)
Spicewood, Texas .......... 6,500 . Month to Month None
Suzhou, China............. 45,208 May 2008 None
Tonawanda, New York....... 7,515 March 2008 None
Traverse City, Michigan. ... .. 840 Month to Month None
Vaughan, Ontario. .. ........ 19,063 June 2008 None
Vaughan, Ontario. . ......... 7,574 June 2008 None
Invacare Supply Group ] ) _ "’ n '
Atlanta, Georgia ... ..... ... . 45866  February 2008.  One (3 yr)
Grand Prairie, Texas ........ 43,754 April 2008 One (3 yr.)
Holliston, Massachusetts . . . .. - 57,420 December 2007 _ None
Jamesburg, New Jersey ...... - 83,200 November 2009 One (5 yr.).
Rancho Cucamonga, . A . e :
California ........:....... 55,890  June 2009 "' None
South Bend, Indiana ........ ‘48,000 August 2008 Two (5 yr.)
Institutional Products Group ~ e o
Elkhart, Indiana. . .......... 43268  October 2009 Two (5 yr.)
London, Ontario ........... 103,200 Own —
London, Ontario ........... 5,648 Month to Month —
Overland, Missouri . ......... -~ 67,500  May 2007 Two (3 yr.)
Asia/Pacific QOperations - . E
Adelaide, Australia ......... 24,000 August 2007 . .One.(5 yr.)
Auckland, New Zealand. . . . .. 30,518 Septe'l_n.be;; .éOOS Two (3 yr.)
Brisbane, Australia ... ...... 2640  December 2008  -One (3 yr.)
Christchufch, New Zea}?nd . 80,213 Decembgf -2998 ,Ol}p. (3 yr.) _
Christchurch, New Zealand ... ' 15,683  December 2014  Twao (6 yr.)
Melbourne, Australia........ 34,898 October 2007' R
Newtown, Australia .. ....... 721 October 2007 One a yr.)
North Olmsted, Ohio . . ... . .. 2,280 October 2008 -One (3yr.)
Southport, Australia. . ....... 1,119 December %007 One (3 yr.)
South Australia, Australia . . .. 16,146 October 2011 One (5 yr.)
South Australia, Australia .. .. 5,382 Octob_er 2007 | One ( 1yr)
South Australia, Australia -. . . . 753 August 2007 —

. Sydney, Australia. . . .. e 42,477 February 2009 Two (3 yr)
Stafford, Australia . ......... 2,906  May 2007 One (1 yr.)

Use oy

Manufacturing and Offices
Manufaciurifig, _
‘Warehouse and Offices -
Manufacturing and Offices

‘Manufacturing and Offices

Warehouse and Offices

Manufacturing and Offices
Manufaéturing and Offices
Maﬁhfactu_ring and Offices

. Warehoi;se and Ofﬁces

Warehouse and Offices
Warehouse and Offices
"Warehouse and Offices

Warehouse and Offices |
Warehouse

Manufacturil:l g,
Warehouses and Offices

Manufacturing and Offices
Warechouse
Manufacturing,

. Warehouses and Offices

Manufacturing,
Warehouse and Offices

Manufacturing,
Warehouse and Offices

Warehouse and Offices

Manufacturing, .
Warehouse and Offices

Offices

Manufacturing,
Warehouse and Offices

Retail
Office
Retail

Manufacturing, . | -
Warehouse a:;d Offices

Warehouse
‘Retail and Warehouse

Warehouse and Offices
Warehouse




Ownership

. Or Expiration Renewal
North American/HME Operations Square Feet Date of Lease Options
Taipei, Taiwan. . ... ........ 850 July 2007 - —
Taipei, Taiwan............. 2,153 June 2007 —
Windsor, Australia. . . ....... 20,312 October 2007 One (1 yr.)
Windsor, Australia. . ......., . 883 October 2007 ,One. (1 yr)
Windsor, Australia. .’ ....... 1,119 March 2007 —
Windsor, Australia. . . ceen 3,014 October 2007 One (1 yr.}
Windsor, Australia. . .. ... ... 3,498  March 2007 —
Worcester, Unijted Kingdom . . . 15.865 June 2013 Two (6 yr.)
European Operat}ohs S .
Albstadt-Tailfi, Germany . . ... 78,494 February 2018 --. Two (5 yr.)
Anderstorp, Sweden. .. ... ... 47,560 Own —
Bergen, Norway............ -1,076  May 2009 One (5 yr.)
Bridgend, Wales ....._ ..... 131,522 QOwn —
Brondby, Denmark. . .. ... ... 16,142 June 2007 . ~ One (1 yr) .
Cardiff, Wales . . ........... 31,000 December 2009 One (5 yr))
Dio, Sweden . ............. 107,600 Own —_
Dublin, Ireland .. .......... 5000  December 2024 Three (5 yr.)
Ede, The Netherlands ....... 17,545 May-2011 One (5 yr.)
Ede, The Netherlands ....... 4,628 May 2009 One (5 yr)
Fondettes, France. .. ........ 122,415 November 2007 None
Fondettes, France. . ... . .. ... 109,206 Own ‘- —_
Girona, Spain . ............ 13,600 November 2010 One (1 yr.)
Gland, Switzerland ......... 5,531 September 2007 - One (5 yr.)
Gland, Switzerland . ........ 1,173 September. 2007 One (4 yr.)
Goteberg, Sweden .. ........ 7.500 June 2009 One (3 yr.) '
Hong, Denmark. ... .. e 155,541 Own —
Isny, Germany ... -......... 40,000  Own - —
Landskrona, Sweden ........ 3,099 April 2008 ' “ One (3 yr.)
Loppem, Belgium . .....:.... 4,037 - March2015 = One (3 yr)
Mondsee, Austria. . . ... ..... 1,498 March 2008 One (3 yr.)
Oporto, Portugal ........... 27,800 Own.. o —
bskarshamn. Sweden. . . e 3,551 December 2007 One (1 yr:)
Oslo, Norway ............. 30,650 September 2011 - None
Porta Westfalica, Germany . ... 134,563 October 2021 -After 17 yrs.
Spanga, Sweden ... ...... .. 3,228 June 2007 One (3 yr.)
Spanga, Sweden ........... 16,140 Own R—
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Use

Offices
Offices

Manufacturing, |
Warehouse and Offices

Manufacturing
Manufacturing

Retail

Warehouse

Warehouse and Offices

Manufacturing, .
Warehouse and Offices

Manufac_:turing,
Warehouse and Offices

Warehouse and Offices

Manufacturing,
Warehouse and Offices

Warehouse and Offices
Warehouse and Offices’
Manufacturing and Offices
Warehouse and Offices
Offices

Warehouse
Manufacturing
Warehouse and Offices
Warehouse and Offices
Offices

Offices . . .
Warechouse and Offices

Manufacturing, :
Warehouse and Ofﬁceg;

Manufacturing,
Warehouse and Offices

Warehouse
Warehouse and Offices
Warehouse and Offices

_Manufacturing,

Warehouse and Offices

~ Warehouse

Warehouse and Offices
Manufacturing,

: Warehouse and Offices

Warehouse and Ofﬁcé_s
Waiéhouse_and Offices




Qwnership

) C Or Expiration Renewal
North American/HME Operations Square Feet _  Date of Lease . Options . E
St. Cyr sur Loire, France . . . . . 538 Own = Offices
Thiene, Italy .............. 21,520 Own — Warehouse and Offices
Tours, France ............. : 6,626 Own —_ Warehouse and Offices
Trondheim, Norway......... 3,229 December 2007 One (3 yr.) Services and Offices X
Witterswil, Switzerland . . . . . . '40328  March 2015 One (5yr)  Manufacturing, o

Warehouse, and Offices

[ A

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

In the ordinary course of its*business, Invacare is a defendant in a number of lawsuits, primarily product
liability actions in which various plaintiffs seek damages for injuries allegedly caused by defective products. All of
the product liability lawsuits have been referred to the company’s insurance carriers and generally are contested
vigorously. The coverage-territory of the company’s insurance is worldwide with the exception of those countries
with respect to which, at the time the product is sold for use or at the time-a claim is made, the U.S. government has
suspended or prohibited diplomatic or trade relations. Management does not believe that the outcome of any of
these actions will have a material adverse effect upon the company’s business or financial condition.

The company received a subpoena from the U.S. Department of Justice seeking documents relating to three
long-standing and well-known promoticnal and rebate programs maintained by it. The company believes that the
programs described in the subpoena are in compliance with all applicable laws and the company is cooperating fully
with the government investigation which is currently being conducted out of Washington, D.C.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a, Vote of Security Holders.

During the fourth quarter of 2006, no matter was submitted to a vote of the company’s security holders.

Executive Officers of the Registrant.*

The following table sets forth the names of the executive officers of Invacare, each of whom serves at the
pleasure of the Board of Directors, as well as certain other information.

Name ' Age © 7 . r Position
A. Malachi Mixon, 11T ... ....... :.v. 66 Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive -
. . o Officer - ‘

Gerald B.Blouch ................. 60 President, Chief Operating Officer and Director )

Gregory C. Thompson ... . .......... 51 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Dale C.LaPorte .................. 65 Senior Vice President — Business Development, General

’ Counsel and Secretary

Joseph B. Richey, 11 ......... ...t 70 President — Invacare Technologies, Senior Vice President —
S T " Electronics and Design Engineering and Director

Louis FJ. Slangen. .. ........... ,o- 59 Senior Vice President — Global Market Development

Joseph 8. Usaj. ................... 55 Senior Vice President — Human Resources

A. Matachi Mixon, I1I has been a director since 1979. Mr. Mixon has been Chief Executive Officer since 1979
and Chairman of the Board since 1983 and also served as President until 1996, when Gerald B. Blouch, Chief
Operating Officer, was elected President. Mr. Mixon serves as a director of The Lamson & Sessions Co. (NYSE),
Cleveland, Ohio, a supplier of engineered thermoplastic products, and The Sherwin-Williams Company (NYSE),
Cleveland, Ohio, a-manufacturer and distributor of coatings and related products. Mr. Mixon also serves as

* The description of executive officers is included pursuant to Instruction 3 to Section (b) of Item 401 of Regulation S-K.
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Chairman of the Board of Trustees of;The Cleveland Cltmc Foundation, Cleveland Ohio, one of the world’s leading
academic medical centers. TR F

. Gerald B. Blouch has been President and.a director of Invacare since November 1996. Mr. Blouch has been
Chief Operating Officer since December 1994 and Chairman — Invacare International since December 1993.
Previously, Mr. Blouch was President — Homecare Division from March 1994 to December 1994 and Senior Vice
President — Homecare Division from September ,1992 to March 1994. Mr. Blouch served as Chief Financial
Officer of Invacare from May 1990 to May_1993 and Treasurer of Invacare from March 1991 to May-'1993.
Mr. Blouch is alsoadrrector of NeuroControl Corporation, North Ridgeville, Ohio, a privately held company, which

develops and markets electromedrcal stlmulauon systems for stroke pauents O g .
il - B MU [ hl

Gregory C. Thompson was named Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in November. 2002,
Before coming to Invacare, Mr.- Thompson served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
Sensormatic Electronics ‘Corporation, a global manufacturer of electronic security products, from October 2000 to
January 2002 and was Vic& President and Controller from February 1997 to October 2000. Prewously, Mr! Thomp-_
son was Vice President and Corporate Controller for Wang Laboratones from August 1994 to February 1997 and
Asswtant Corporate Controller frorn October 1990 to August 1994 e - '

Ve er s i S ] SR LAY .
Dale C. LaPorte has been Senior Vice President for Busmess Development General Counsel and Secretary
since January 1, 2006. Previously, Mr. LaPorte was a partner in the law firm of Calfee, Halter & Griswold LLP from

1974 to 2005. He served as Charrman of that firm from 2000 through 2004,

Joseph B. Richey, II has been a director since 1980 and in September 1992 was named President — Invacare
Technologies and Senior Vice President — Electronics and Design Engineering. Previously, Mr. Richey was Senior
Vice President of Product Development from July 1984 to September 1992 and Senior Vice President and General
Manager of North American Operations from September 1989 to September 1992, Mr. Richey also serves as a
director of Steris Corporation (NYSE), Cleveland, Ohio, a manufacturer and distributor of medical sterilizing
equipment and as Chairman of the Board of Directors and CEO of NeuroControl Corporation, North Ridgeville,
Ohio, a privately held company, which develops and markets electromedical stimulation systems for stroke patients,
and is a member of the Board of Trustees for Case Western Reserve University and The Cleveland Clinic
Foundation.

Louis F J. Slangen was named Senior Vice President — Global Market Development in June 2004. Previ-
ously, Mr. Slangen was Senijor Vice President — Sales & Marketing from December 1994 to June 2004 and from
September 1989 to December 1994 was Vice President — Sales and Marketing. Mr. Slangen was previously
President — Rehab Division from March 1994 to December 1994 and Vice President and General Manager —
Rehab Division from September 1992 to March 1994,

Joseph S. Usaj has been the Senior Vice President — Human Resources since May 2004. Before coming to
Invacare, Mr. Usaj served as Vice President — Human Resources for Ferro Corporation, a global manufacturer of
performance materials in the electronics, automotive, consumer products and pharmaceutical industries, from
August 2002 to December 2003. Previously, Mr. Usaj was Vice President — Human Resources for Phillips Medical
Systems from 1998 to 2002,

PART I1

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.

Invacare's Common Shares, without par value, trade on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the
symbol “IVC.” Ownership of the company’s Class B Common Shares (which are not listed on NYSE) cannot be
transferred, except, in general, to family members. Class B Common Shares may be converted into Common Shares
at any time on a share-for-share basis. The number of record helders of the company Common Shares and Class B
Common Shares at February 23, 2007 was 4,014 and 25, respectively. The closing sale price for the Common Shares
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on February 23, 2007 as reported by NYSE was $19.54. The prices set forth below do not include relall markups
markdowns or commissions.

The range of high and low quarterly prices of the Common Shares and dividends in each of the two most recent
fiscal years were as follows: -

2006 ‘ ) ) ’ 2005
o Cash Dividends B o " Cash Dividends -
Quarter Ended: High, . Low Declared High - Low . Declared '
December 31........... 325_.27 $21.39 $0.0]2_5 $4!.50 $30.70 $0.0125
September 30 .......... 25.59 20.18 0.0125 ' '44.87 37.35 0.0125
June 30. . oL oL, 31.16 24.84 - 0.0125 4593 - 40.96 0.0125 ¢
March 31 ..... P 35.12 30.32 - 0.0125 '_ 48.08 43.67 00125

Durmg 2006 and, 2005 the Board of Directors also declared d1v1dends of $0.045 per Class B Common Share
For information regqrdmg limitations on the payment of dividends in the company loan and note agreements, see
Long Term Debt in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report. The Common Shares
are entitled to receive cash dmdends at a rate of at least 110% of cash d1v1dends pmd on the Class B Common

t

Shares. P
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SHAREHOLDER RETURN PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph compares the yearly, cumulative total return on Invacare’s common shares against the
yearly cumulative total return of the companies listed on the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index, the Russell 2000
Stock Index and the S&P Supercomposne Health Care Equipment & Supplies Index (S&P Healthcare Index*).
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* The S&P Supercomposite Health Care Equipment & Supplies Index is a‘capitalization -weighted airerage index
comprised of health care companies in the S&P 500 Index. This index contains-companies that are affected by
many of the same health care trends as Invacare.

T

The above graph assumes $100 invested on December 31, 2001 in the common shares of Invacare Corporation,
S&P 500 Index, Russell 2000 Index and the S&P Supercomposite Health Care Equ1pment & Supplies Index,
including reinvestment of dividends, through December 31,.2006.

The following table presents information with respect to repurchases of common shares made by the company
during the three months ended December 31, 2006. All of the repurchased shares were surrendered to the company

by employees for tax withholding purposes in conjunction with the vesting of restricted shares held by the
employees under the company’s 2003 Performance Plan.

Total Number of Shares Maximum Number

- Purchased as Part of of Shares That May Yet

Total Number of Average Price Publicly Announced Be Purchased Under
Period Shares Purchased  Paid Per Share Plans or Programs the Plans or Programs
10/1/2006-10/31/06 . ... ... 12,000 $23.67 . — —

1/1/2006-11/30/06 ........ 364" 23.09 S _ —
12/172006-12/31/06 . . . ... .. —

g
B
o
2
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g
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On August 17, 2001, the Board of Directors authorized the company to purchase up to 2,000,000 Common
Shares. To date, the company has purchased 637,100 shares with authorization remaining to purchase 1,362,900
more shares. The company purchased no shares pursuant to this.Board authorized program during 2006.:
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The selected consolidated financial data set forth below with respect to the company’s ébnst_)lidated statements of
eaniings. cash flows and shareholders’ equity for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, and the
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 are ‘derived from the Consolidated Financial
Statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The consolidated statements of eamnings, cash flows and
shareholders’ equity data for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 are derived from the
company’s previously filed Consolidated Financial Statements. The data set forth below should be read in conjunction
with Item 7 — “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the
company's Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Earnings

NetSales ....................
Net Earnings (loss) . . . ..........

Net Earnings (loss) per Share —

Basic ......... ... ..

Net Earnings (loss) per Share —

Assuming Dilution ..........
Dividends per Common Share . . . .,

Dividends. per Class B Common

-Share .. ... .. e

Balance Sheet

Current Assets . . ... e
Total Assets . ..................
Current Liabilities. . . . ... ... ...
Working Capital . . . . .
Long-TermDebt...............
Other Long-Term Obligations . . . .. '
Shareholders’ Equity............

Other Data
Research and Development

Expenditures. . ..............
Capital Expenditures. ...........
Depreciation and Amortization . . . .

Key Ratios

Returnon Sales ........... .
Return on Average Assets ........
Return on Beginning Shareholders’

Equity.....................

2006+ 2005+ 2004 2003 2002
(In thousands, except per share and ratio dnta)

$1,498,035 $1,529,732 $1,403,527 © $1,247,176  $1,089,161

(317,774) 48,852 75,197 71,409 64,770

(10.00) 1.55 2.41 2.31 2.10

(10.00) 1.51 2.33 2.25 2.05

0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 - 0.05

0.04545 0.04545 0.04545 ' 0.04545 0.04545

$ 655758 8§ 594466 $ 565,151 % 474722 § 398,812

1,490,451 1,646,772 1,628,124 1,108,213 906,703

447,976 356,707 258,141 223,488 168,226

207,782 237,759 “307,010 251,234 230,586

448,883 457,753 547,974 232,038 234,134

108,228 79,624 68,571 « 34,383 24,031

485,364 752,688 753,438 - 618,304 ‘480,312

$ 22,146 '$ 23247 $ 21638 §% 19,130 $ 17934

21,789 30,924 41,757 28,882 21,451

39,892 40,524 32,316 27,235 26,638
(21.2)% 3.2% 5.4% 5.7% 5.9%
(20.3)% 3.0% 5.5% 1.1% 1.1%
(42.2)% 6.5% 12.2% 14.9% 17.0%

1.5:1 1.7:1 2.2:1 2.1:11 2.4:1

0.9:1 0.6:1 0.7:1 0.4:1 0.5:1

* Reflects restructuring charge of $21,250 ($18,700 after tax or $.59 per share assuming dilution), $3,745 expense
related to finance charges, interest and fees associated with the company’s previously reported debt covenant
violations ($3,300 after tax or $.10 per share assuming dilution), $26,775 expense related to accounts receivable
collectibility issues arising primarily from Medicare reimbursement reductions for power wheelchairs
announced on November 15, 2006 ($26,775 after tax or $.84 per share assuming dilution), $300,417 expense
for an impairment charge related to the write-down of goodwill and other intangible assets ($300,417 after tax or

$9.45 per share assuming dilution).

** Reflects restructuring charge of $7.533 (35,160 after tax or $0.16 per share assuming dilution).
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The comparability of the Selected Financial Data provided in the above table is limited as acquisitions made, in
particular the Domus acquisition in 2004, materially impacted the company’s reponed results. See Acquisitions in
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as provided i in the company’s Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2004,

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,

OUTLOOK

The company has undergone an internal review of its operations and is undertaking additional cost reduction
actions in 2007. The company believes that the implementation of these new initiatives, along with the previously
announced global, multi-year plans to reduce manufacturing and distribution costs, will improve the company’s
gross margin and result in approximately $38 million of realized savings in 2007. The company anticipates
restructuring charges of approximately $20 million in 2007 relating to these actions. Annualized savings from these
initiatives implemented by the end of 2007 should approxlmale $56 million thcreafter The core initiatives are as
follows:

. ; Product line simplification. The company plans to simplify its product lines and pricing processes to reduce
.costs and improve service levels. .

» ‘Improvement of gross margins and reduction of fixed costs through further product and sub-assembly
outsourcing. The company expects to accelerate its outsourcing of commodity producls and sub assem-
blies. Asian sourcing is planned to double over the next three years,

s

- *» Rationalization of facilities. Today, Invacare’s primary manufactunng facilities consist of fourteen inte-
grated fabrication plants and two assembly plants worldwide. Invacare will continue in its strategy to move
from integrated fabrication plants to assembly plants worldwide, We are finalizing plans to_close and/for
consolidate several locations worldwide beginning this year through 2009.

* Standardization of product platforms. To further simplify and reduce production costs, as*well as to
leverage development and tooling investment, the company has begun the process of slandarchzmg some of
its product platforms globally.

The company ant1c1pates earnings declines in lhe quaner to quarter comparisons in the first half of the year as a
result of these cost reduction initiatives being heavily weighted to the second half of the year, as well as the impact
of increased competitive pricing pressures and higher interest costs as a result of the company’s debt refinancing.
The company believes that the execution of cost reduction plans will provide an improvement in earnings in the
second half of the year. The full year earnings are expected to:be consistent with the previously announced guidance
by the company in a press release issued on February 1, 2007. ‘

, Vo o .- >

I\"'

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

2006 Versus 2005

Charge Related 1o Restructuring Activities. 'The company continues to make progress with the restructuring
initiatives that it began in 2005 to drive cost reductions and improve profitability which was necessitated by the
continued decline in reimbursement for medical equipment by U.S. government programs as well as similar
reimbursement pressures abroad’ and continued pricing pressures faced by the company as a resu]t of outsourcing by
competitors to lower cost locations.

The cost reduction and profit improvement actions include: reduction in personnel, outsourcing improvements
utilizing the company’s China manufacturing capability and third parties, shifting resources from product devel-
opment to manufacturing cost reduction activities and product rationalization, reducing freight exposure through
freight auctions and changing the freight policy, general expense reductions, and exiting facilities.
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To date, the company has made substantial progress on its restructuring activities, including exiting four
facilities and eliminating approximately 600 positions through December 31, 2006, including 300 positions during
2006. Restructuring charges of $21,250,000 were incurred during 2006 of which $3,973,000 is recorded in cost of
products sold, since it relates to inventory markdowns, and the remaining charge amount is included in the Charge
Related to Restructuring Activities in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. The costs incurred during 2006
were principally for severance, product line discontinuation and costs associated with facility closures. There have
been no material changes in accrued balances related to the charge, either as a result of revisions in the plan or
changes in estimates, and the company expects to utilize the accruals recorded as of December 31, 2006 during
2007. ' ; :

With additional actions planned in 2007, the company anticipates recognizing an additional charge of
$20,000,000 pre-tax. In addition, the company continues o further refine its global manufacturing and distribution
strategy. Execution of these cost reduction actions has begun. The company expects a global reduction of at least
350 additional positions and to exit a number of its manufacturing operations worldwide resultmg in $38.,000, 000 of
cost reductions in 2007, .

Net Sales.  Consolidated net sales for 2006 decreased 2.1% for the year, to $1,498,035,000 from
$1,529,732,000 in 2005." Acquisitions accounted for a one percentage point increase in net sales while foreign
currency iranslation-had less than a one percentage point impact. The overall decline was primarily driven by sales
declines in the NA/HME and Asia/Pacific segments. In the fourth quarter of 2006, the company expanded its
number of reporting segments from three to five due to organizational changes within the former North American
geographic operating segment and changes in how the chief operating decision maker (as that term is defined in
FASB SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information) assesses performance
and makes resource allocation decisions. North America now includes: North America/Home Medical Equipment
(NA/HME), Invacare Supply Group (1SG) and Institutional Products Group (IPG). The company has modified its
operating segments and reportable segments in 2006 with the corresponding prior year amounts being reclassified

. to conform to the 2006 presentation.

North America/Home Medical Equipment

NA/HME net sales declined 4.3% in 2006 versus the prior year to $676,326,000 from $706,555,000 with
acquisitions and foreign currency translation each increasing net sales by one percentage point. These sales consist
of Rehab (power wheelchairs, custom manual wheelchairs, personal mobility and seating and positioning),
Standard (manual wheelchairs, personal care, home care beds, low air loss therapy and patient transport), and’
Respiratory (oxygen concentrators, HomeFill™ transfilling systems, sleep apnea, aerosol therapy and other
respiratory) products. Rehab product line net sales declined by .7% in 2006, primarily driven by the significant
reimbursement changes in the U.S. market during the year. Standard product line net sales declined by 4.7% in
2006, driven by continued pricing pressures for these products which was somewhat offset by increased volumes.
Respiratory product line sales declined by 11.1% in 2006 primarily attributable to lower pricing on oxygen
concentrators, changes during the year regarding reimbursement for Respiratory product which hampered volumes,
and reduced purchases from national and independent providers for HomeFill™ 1 oxygen systems.

Invacare Supﬁly Group

ISG net sales increased 3.3% in 2006 over the prior year to $228,236,000 from $220,908,000. Acquisitions and
fdreign currency translation had no impact on the sales increase. These sales consist of ostomy, incontinence,
diabetic, wound care and other medical supply product. The increase is primarily attributable to volume increases in
the diabetic and incontinence product lines as well as increased volumes into the Retail market channel.

Institutional Products Group

IPG net sales increased 9.4% in 2006 over the prior year to $93,455,000 from $85,415,000. Acquisitions and
foreign currency translation had no impact on the sales increase. These sales consist of bed, furniture, home medical
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equipment, and bathing equipment products sold into the long-term care market. The increase is primarily
attributable to higher volumes in its core bed products.as well as increases in bathing equipment. :

Europé , ) } P R

European net sales declined .4% in 2006 compared to the prior year to $430,427,000 from $432,142,000 with
acquisitions increasing net sales one percentage point and foreign currency translation-decreasing net sales by one
percentage point. Strong sales performance in most of the regions was offset by continued weakness in the German
market related to reimbursement policy. : . ‘ . .

Asm/Pacrfc : - Co

AsmfPamﬁc net sales declined 17 8% in 2006 from the pnor year to $69 591 ,000 - from $84 712,000.
Acquisitions increased net sales by five percentage points and foreign currency translation decreased net sales
by four percentage points. Performance in this region continues to be negatively impacted by U.S. reimbursement
uncertainty in the consumer power wheelchair market, resulting in decreased sales of microprocessor controllers by
Invacare’s New Zealand subsidiary and reduced volumes in the company’s Australian distribution business. In
addition, the  Asia/Pacific segment transactsa substantial amount of its business with customers outside of their
region in various currencies other than their functional currencies. As a result, changes in exchange rates
particularly with the Euro and U.S. Dollar, can have a significant impact on'sales and cost of sales. -

Gross Profit. Consolidated gross profit as a percentage of net sales was 27.8% in 2006 versus 29.2% ir 2005,
The margin decline was primarily attributable to continued reimbursement issues and competitive pncmg pressures
as well as inventory write-downs related to restructuring, increased freight costs and lower manufacturlng volumes
The decline was partially offset by cost reduction initiatives. .

NA/HME gross profit as 4 percentage of net sales was 29.7% in 2006 versus 33.8% iri'2005. The decline was
primarily attributable-to pricing réductions experienced in Rehab; Standard and Respiratory product lines, inventory
write-downs related to restructuring, reduced volumes as a result of reimbursement changes in Rehab and
Respiratory product lines, and increased freight costs, all of which were partially offset by continued cost
reduction efforts. | - ‘ . . S

ISG gross profit as a percentage of net sales declined .7 of a percentage point from the prior year. The decline
was primarily attributable to inventory write-downs related to réstructuring and an unfavorable product rmx toward
lower margm product — dlabetlc and 1ncont1nence products

"4

- IPG gross profit as a percentage of net sales mcreased 1.9 percentage pomts in 2006 from the prlor year. “The
increase in margin is attributable to volume increases and continued cost reduction activities. ; ceo .

Gross profit in Europe as a percentage of net sales lmproved 2.2 percentage pomts in 2006 from the pnor year
Thé increase was pnmanly attributable to cost reductton act:vmes P

. Gross proﬁt in Asia/Pacific as a percentage of net sales decl_tned by .6 of a percentage point in 2006 from the
prior year. The decrease was largely due to inventory write-downs related to restructuring. . <., . .

Selling, General and Administrative. Consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses as a
percentage of net sales. were 24.9% in 2006 and 22.4% in 2005. The overall dollar increase was $31,807,000
or 9.3%, with acquisitions increasing selling, general and administrative costs by approximately $3,750,000 or one
percentage point and foreign currency translation decreasing expenses by $2,424.000 or one percentage point,
Excluding acquisitions and foreign currency translation impact, SG&A increased $30,481,000 or 8.9%. The
primary driver of the increase is attributable to an incremental reserve against accounts receivable of $26,775,000 in
the NA/HME segment as described below. R ) . o Do

As the company previously disclosed, throughout 2006 Medicare proposed several significant changes to
durable medical equipment and oxygen reimbursement, which dramatically impacted the company’s résults and the
profitability of our U.S. customers. The many changes to reimbursement, which were finalized in the fourth quarter
of 2006, added complexity and uncertainty to the claims process and have eroded our customers’. ability to provide
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quality solutions. As a result of these changes in reimbursement, the company performed a review of its customers
most vulnerable to changes in the reimbursement for power mobility products and, as part of its 2006 fourth quarter
financial results, the company recorded an incremental reserve against accounts receivable of $26,775,000. In
response to these regulatory changes, the company is implementing tighter credit policies and is working with
certain customers in an effort to help them reduce costs and improve their financial viability.

Selling, general and administrative expenses excluding acquisitions, foreign currency transiation and the
incremenial reserve against accounts receivable increased $3,706,000 in 2006 or 1% primarily as a result of
increased information technology and distribution costs.

_Selling, general and administrative expenses for NA/HME increased 17.7% or $31,699,000 in 2006 compared
to 2005. Acquisitions increased selling, general and administrative expense by approximately $1,656,000 and
foreign currency translation increased expense by $1,082,000. Selling, general and administrative expense also
increased $26,775,000 attributable to the incremental reserve recorded for accounts receivable discussed above.
The remaining increase in expense is $2,186,000 or 1.2%.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for 1SG increased by 8.1% or $1,711,000 in 2006 compared to
2005. The increase is attributable to an increase in distribution and sales and marketing expenses. Selling general
and administrative expenses for IPG increased by 3.4% or $463,000 compared to 2005. The increase is attributable
to increased product liability and advertising expenses.

- European selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by 1.5% or $1,620,000 in 2006 compared to
2005. Acquisitions increased selling, general and administrative expense by approximately $594,000 and foreign
currency translation decreased expense by $2,647,000. The remaining increase in expense of $433,000 or .4% was
primarily due to higher distribution costs.

Asia/Pacific selling, general and administrative expenses decreased 2.4% or $446,000 in 2006 compared to
20035. Acquisitions increased selling, general and administrative expense by approximately $1,500,000 and foreign
currency translation decreased expense by $859 000. The remaining declme in expense of $1,087,000 or 5.9% is
attributable to reduced cost structure.

Debt Finance Charges, Interest and Fees Associated with Debt Refinancing,  As previously disclosed in the
company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006, in November 2006, the company determined that
it was in violation of a financial covenant contained in three Note Purchase Agreements between the company and
various institutional lenders (the “Note Purchase Agreements”). The Note Purchase Agreements related to an
aggregate principal amount of $330 million in long-term debt of the company. The financial covenant limited the
ratio of consolidated debt to consoclidated operating cash flow. The company believes the limits were exceeded as a
result of borrowings by the company in early October, 2006 under its $500 million credit facility dated Janvary 14,
2005 with various banks (the “Credit Facility’"). The violation of the covenant under the Note Purchase Agreements
also may have constituted a default under both the credit facility and the company’s separate $100 million trade
receivables securitization facility. The company obtained waivers of the covenant violation from each of its lenders
through February 15, 2007. On February 12, 2007, the company closed on its new financing facilities and replaced
all existing debt facilities. Fees incurred during 2006 associated with the waivers of the covenant violation totaled
$3,745.000.

Asset write-downs related to goodwill and other intangibles. As previously disclosed in the company’s
September 30, 2006 Form 10-Q, the company undertakes its annual impairment test of goodwill and intangible
assets in accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, in connection with the preparation
of its fourth quarter results each year. As a result of the reduced profitability of its NA/HME operating segment, and
uncertainty associated with future market conditions, the company recorded an impairment charge related to
goodwill and intangible assets of this segment of $300,417,000. The company is in process of finalizing the
underlying valuation associated with this charge in accordance with SFAS No. 142; however, based on the
information known at this time, this is the company’s best estimate of the impairment.

The impairment of goodwill in the NA/HME operating segment was primarily the result of reduced
government reimbursement levels and changes in reimbursement policies, which negatively affected revenues
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and profitability in the NA/HME operating segment. During 2006, changes announced by the Centers for Medicare

-and Medicaid Services, or “CMS,” affected eligibility, documentation, codes, and payment rules relating to power
wheelchatrs These changes.impacted the predictability of relmbursement of expenses for and access to power
wheelchairs, created uncertainty in the market place, and thus had a negative impact on NA/HME’s revenues and
relaied eamings. Effective November 15, 2006, CMS reduced’ the maximum reimbursement amount for power
wheelchairs undér Medicare by up to 28%. The reduced reimbursement levels may cause consumers to choose less
expensive versions of the company's power whee]chalrs

~

NA/HME sales of respiratory products were also negatwely affected by the changes in 2006 Small and
mdependent provider sales declined as these dealers slowed their purchases of the company’ s HomeFill™ oxygen
system product line, in part, until they had'a clearer view of future oxygen relmbursement levels. Furthermore a
study issued by the Office of Inspeetor General or “OIG " in Séptember 2006 suggested that $3.2 billion in savmgs
could be achieved over five years by reducing the reimbursed rental period from three yéars (the reimbursement
period under current law) to 13 months. The uncertainty created by these announcements contmues o negatlvely
impact the home oxygen equipment market, parttcularly for those providers consxdenng changmg to the
HomeFill™ oxygen system;, . R . ‘ S .

E

Medicare will also institufé 2 new competltwe btddlng program for vanous 1tems m ten as, yet umdentlﬁed of
the la.rgest metropolitan areas late in 2007. This program is demgned 1o reduce Medlcare payment levels for i 1tems
that the Medicare ] progra.m spends the most money on under the home medical equ1pment beneﬁt This new
program will likely eliminate some provxders from the competitive bidding markets, because only those providers
who are chosen to part1c1pate (based largely on price).will be able to provide beneficiaries with items included in the
bid. Medlcare will be expandmg the program o an addmona] 80 metropolnan areas ln 2009. ) N

R T
The impact of the above reimbursement changes were taken into consideration in rev1ewmg the profitability of
the company’s NA/HME operalmg segment and'in evaluatmg 1mpa1rment of goodwﬂl and other 1ntang1bles

. Interest. Interest expense mcreased to. $34 084, 000 in 2006 from $27 246 000 in 2005 representmg a 25%
increase. This increase was atiributable to increased borrowing rates. Interest income in 2006 was $2,775,000,
which was higher than the prior year amount of $1,683, OOO pnmanly due to an increase in interest received
associated with financing prov1ded to customers. .

Income Taxes. The company had an effective tax rate of 2.7% in 2006 and 31 5% in 2005, The company ’s
effective tax rate is higher than the expected benefit at the U.S. federal statutory rate primarily due to losses with no
corresponding tax benefits and a valuation reserve recorded. against domestic deferred;tax assets reduced by, tax
credits and earnings abroad being taxed at rates lower than the U.S. federal statutory rate. The decline in the
effective rate in 2006 compared to 2005 is primarily due 1o the losses without benefit and valuation reserve.

Research and Development. The company ‘continues to invest in research: and' clevelopment activities to
maintain its competitive advantage The company dedicate$ dolla.rs to applied research activities to ensure that new
and enhanced design concepts are available to its busmesses Research and development expenditures, which are
included in costs of products sold, decreased to $22,146, 000 in 2006 from $23,247, 000 in 2005. The expend1tures
as a percentage of net sales, were 1.4% and 1.5% in 2006 and 2005, respectively.

¥

2005 Versus 2004

Charge Related to Restructuring Activities.. .On July 28, ‘2005. the company announced cost reduction and
profit improvement actions, which included: reducing global headcount, outsourcing improvements utilizing the
company’s China manufacturing capability and third parties, shifting substantial resources from product devel-
opment to manufacturing cost reduction activities and-product rationalization, reducing freight exposure through
freight auctions and changing the freight policy, general expense reductions, and exiting four facilities. .

To date, the company has made. substantial progress on its restructunng activities, including’ exiting four
facilities and eliminating approximately 300 positions through December 31, 2005, which resulted in restructuring
charges of $7,533,000, principally. for severance, of which $4,181,000 has been paid as of December 31, 2005.
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There have been no material changes in accrued balances related to the charge, either as a result of revisions in the
plan or changes in estimates, and the company utilized the accruals recorded as of December 31, 2005 during 2006.

The company continues to further refine its global manufacturing and distribution strategy. Execution of these
cost reduction actions has begun. Once complete in 2008, these actions are anticipated to generate approximately
$30 million of annual pre-tax savings and to result in pre-tax restructuring charges totaling $42 million. The
company expects a global reduction of at least 600 additional positions and to exit a number of its manufacturing
operations worldwide.

Net Sales. Consolidated net sales for 2005 increased 9% for the year, to $1,529,732,000 from
$1,403,327,000. Acquisitions accounted for nine percentage points of the net sales increase while foreign currency
translation had less than a one percentage point impact. The overall growth was primarily driven by growth in
Europe resulting from the Domus acqunsmon in 2004 as well as the 1mpac[ of other acquisitions worldwide.

North America/Home Medical Equipment

NA/HME net sales for 2005 decreased 1.9% over the prior year to $706,555,000 from $720,553,000 with
acquisitions and foreign currency translation each increasing net sales by one percentage point. These sales consist
of Rehab (power wheelchairs, custom manual wheelchairs, personal mobility and seating and positioning),
Standard (manual wheelchairs, personal care, home care beds, low air loss therapy and patient transport), and
Respiratory (oxygen concentrators, aerosol therapy, sleep, homefill and associated respiratory) products. In 2005,
net sales growth was impacted by the disruption caused by the implementation of the ERP system in the fourth
quarter. The company estimates that this resulted in lost sales in NA/HME during the fourth quarter of 2003,
primarily due to start up difficulties in processing orders and the inability to ship products to customers within
required lead times. Respiratory products declined 1.2% due to reduced purchases from national accounts for the
Homefill™ Il oxygen system and oxygen concentrators and the disruptions arising out of the ERP system
implementation; Standard products declined 2.5% as a result of reduced pricing and ERP issues. Rehab products
declined 2.1% primarily due to contmued Medicare power wheelchair eligibility pressures and Medicaid related
reimbursement pressures. ' - .

Invacare Supply Group

ISG net sales increased 7.7% in 2005 over the prior yedr to $220,908,000 from $205,130,000. Acquisitions and
foreign currency translation had no impact on the sales increase. These sales consist of ostomy, incontinence,
diabetic, wound care and other medical supply product. The increase is consistent with ISG’s recent growth pattern.’

Institutional Products Group

IPG net sales increased 11.5% in 2005 over the prior year to $85,415,000 from $76,590,000. Acquisitions
increased net sales by 11.99% while foreign currency translation had no impact on the sales increase. These sales
consist of bed, furniture, home med1cal equipment, and bathing equipment products sold into the long-term care
market.

European Operations

European net sales increased 28.3% in 2005 over the prior year to $432,142,000 from $336,792,000 with
acquisitions contributing to almost the entire increase as foreign currency did not have a material impact. Organic
growth in Europe was minimal and reflected increases throughout Europe offset by declines, primarily in Germany,
as a result of pricing pressures. - '

Asia/Pacific .Operalions

Asia/Pacific net sales increased 31.8% in 2005 from the prior year to $84,712,000 from $64,262,000.
Acquisitions contributed sixteen percentage points of the increase while foreign currency translation contributed
four percentage points. The overall growth was primarily driven by volume increases. The Asia/Pacific segment
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transacts a substantial amount of its business with customers outside of their region in various currencies other than
their functional currencies. As a result, changes in exchange rates, particularly with the Euro and U.S; Dollar, can
have a significant impact on sales and cost of sales.

_Gross Profit. .Consolidated gross profit as a percentage of net sales was 29.2% in 2005 versus 29.8% in 2004.
The margin decline was primarily attributable to continued reimbursement issues and competitive pricing pressures
as well as increased freight costs and lower manufacturing volumes, and inefficiencies resulting from the North
American ERP implementation in the fourth quarter. The factors attributable to the decline were partjally offset by
the cost reduction initiatives.

NA/HME gross profit as a percentage of net sales was 33.8% in 2005 versus 34.8% in 2004. The decline was
primarily attributable to unfavorable mix as a result of reduced Rehab and Respiratory product line volumes, pricing
pressures in the Standard product line and higher freight costs as a result of the high price of oil, which was partially
offset by continued cost reduction efforts,

ISG gross profit as a percentage of net sales decreased .6 of a percentage peintin 2005 from the prior year. The
decline was primarily attributable to unfavorable product mix toward lower margin product and higher freight costs.

IPG gross profit as a percentage of net sales decreased 6.0 percentage points in 2005 from the prior year. The
decline in margin was attributable to reduced pricing, unfavorable product mix toward lower margin product and
higher freight costs.

* Gross profit in Europe as a percentage of net sales increased 1.8 percentage points in 2005 from the prior year.
The increase was primarily attributable to acqursmons in particular the full year impact of the Domus acqursltron
and manufacturmg cost reductions.

Gross profit in Asia/Pacific as a percentage of net sales increased 1.3 percentage points in 2005 from the prior
year. The increase was largely due 1o increased volumes and cost reduction activities. ,

Selling, General and Administrative. Consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses as a
percentage of net sales were 22.4% in 2005 and 21.2% in 2004. The overall dollar increase was $43,482,000
or 15%, with acquisitions increasing selling, general and administrative costs by approximately $37,455,000 or
thirteen percentage points and currency transiation adding $3,245,000 or one percentage point:” Excluding
acquisitions and cwrrency translation impact, SG&A increased $2,782,000 or 1% as a result of increased
distribution and commission related costs related to increased volumes, continuous investment in marketmg
and higher bad debt and legal costs.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for NA/HME increased 5% or $7,710 000 in 2005 compared to
2004. Acquisitions increased selling, general and administrative expense by 1% or approximately $2,926,000 and
foreign currency translation increased expense by 1% or $1,090,000. The remaining increase of $6,018,000 or 3%
was attributable to continued investments in marketing and branding programs, increased distribution and
commission costs related to mcreased volume and higher bad debt and legal costs.

Selling, general and adrrumstratlve expenses for ISG mcreased by 4% or $804 000 in 2005 compared to 2004.
The increase was attributable to higher distribution, commissions and administrative costs. :

Selling general and administrative expenses for IPG increased by 4% or $1,520,000 in 2005 compared lo 2004
with acquisitions increasing expense by $1,492,000 or 4%.

European operations’ selling, general and administrative expenses increased 29% or $24,336,000 in 2005 from
the prior year. European selling, general and administrative expenses increased due to acquisitions, which caused an
increase of $30,978,000 or 36% and foreign currency translation, which increased expenses by $1,556,000 or 2%.
The remaining decrease was primarily attributable to a reduced cost structure.

Asia/Pacific operations’ selling, general and administrative expenses increased 99% or $9,112,000 in 2005
compared to 2004 with acquisitions accounting for 22% and foreign currency increasing the expense by $599,000
or 7%. The remaining increase was primarily attributable to cost increases related to increased depreciation, sales
and marketing costs and costs -associated with expanding our market share in Asia.
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- Interest. Interest expense increased to $27,246,000 in 2005 from $14,201,000 in 2004, representing a 92%
increase. This increase was attributable to increased borrowings under the company’s previously existing revolving
“credit facility, resulting primarily from 2004 acquisitions, and to increased borrowing rates. The company’s
debt-to-equity ratio decreased to 0.6:1 as of December 31, 2005 from 0.7:1 as of the end of the prior year. Interest
income in 2005 was $1,683,000, which was lower than the prior year amount of $5,186,000 primarily due to
reduced interest rate financing given to customers through De Lage Landen Inc. {(DLL). Since December 2000,
Invacare customers desiring financing have primarily utilized the third-party ﬁnancmg arrangement with DLL, a
subsidiary of Rabo Bank of the Netherlands, to provide financing.

Income Taxes. The company had an effective tax rate of 31.5% in 2005 and 31.9% in 2004. The effective tax
raté declined due to a change in the mix of earnings and permanent deductions. The company’s effective tax rate was
lower than the federal statutory rate prunanly due to tax credits and eammgs abroad bemg taxed at rates lower than
the federal statutory rate.

. Research and Development. Research and development expenditures, which are included in costs of
products sold, increased to $23,247, 000 in 2005 from $21,638,000 in 2004 The expenditures, as a percentage of net
sales, were 1.5% in 2005 and in the prior yeaI

INFLATION

Although the company cannot determine the precise effects of inflation, management believes that inflation
does continue to have an influence on the cost of materials, salaries and benefits, utilities and outside services. The
company attempts to minimize or offset the effects through increased sales volume, capltal expenditure programs
designed to improve productivity, alternative sourcing of malterial and other cost control measures. In 2006, 2005
and 2004, the company was able to offset the majority of the impact-of price increases from suppliers by
productivity improvements and other cost reduction activities.

' LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

'I‘he company continues to mamtam an adequate hquldny position through its unused bank lines of credit (see
Long-Term Debt and Subsequent Events in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements) included in this report
and working capital management. The company maintains various bank lines of credit to finance its worldwide
operations. :

. Total debt outstanding was $573.1 million at the end of the year, resulting in a debt-to-total-capitalization of
54.1% versus 41.7% at the end of last year. The increase in the debt-to-capitalization ratio was impacted primarily
by the reduction in equity related to the goodwill and intangible asset write-off recorded by the company during the
fourth quarter 2006 and the restriction on the company’s ability to pay down debt as noted below.

The company obtained waivers of the covenant violation disclosed in its Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2006 from each of its lenders. The waivers were effective through February 15, 2007. The waivers
limited the company’s debt, (excluding $75 million for asset-backed securitization borrowings) to a maximum
amount of $521 million and did not allow a pay down of debt below $501 million. At year-end 2006, the company’s
debt, as defined under the waivers, was at the minimum level. The company’s cash and cash equivalents at the end of
2006 were approximately $82.4 million as a result of restrictions on debt pay down included in the debt covenant
waivers. ' : . . |

" On Febritary 12, 2007, the company completed the refinancing of its existing indebtedness and put in place a
long-tefm capital structure. The new financing program provides the company with total capacity of approximately
$710 million, the net proceeds of which were utilized to refinance substantially all of the company’s existing
indebtedness and pay related fees and expenses (the “Refinancing”). As part of the financing, the company entered
into a $400 million senior secured credit facility consisting of a $250 million term loan facility and a $150 million
revolving credit facility. The company’s obligations under the new senior secured credit facility are secured by
substantially all of the company’s assets and are guaranteed by its material domestic subsidiaries, with certain
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obligations also guaranteed by its material foreign subsidiaries. Borrowings under the new senior secured credit
facility will generally bear interest at LIBOR plus a margin of 2.25%, including an initial facility fee of 0.50%
per annum on the facility.

The company also completed the sale of $175 million principal amount of its 9 %% Senior Notes due 2015 to
qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A and to non-U.S. persons outside the United States in reliance on
Regulation S under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act™). The notes are unsecured senior
obligations of the company guaranteed by substantially all of the company’s domestic subsidiaries, and pay interest
at 9 %% per annum on each February 15 and August 15. The net proceeds to the company from the offering of the
notes, after deducting the initial purchasers’ discount and the estimated offenng expenses payable by the company,
were approximately $167 million.

Also, as part of the refinancing, the company completed the sale of $135 million principal amount of its
Convertible Senior Subordinated Debentures due 2027 to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A
under the Securities Act. The debentures are unsecured senior subordinated obligations of the company guaranteed
by substantially all of the company’s domestic subsidiaries, pay interest at 4.125% per annum on each February 1
and August 1, and are convertible upon satisfaction of certain conditions into cash, common shares of the company,
or a combination of cash and common shares of the company, subject to certain conditions. The initial conversion
rate is 40.3323 shares per $1,000 principal amount of debentures, which represents an initial conversion price of
approximately $24.79 per share. The debentures are redeemable at the company’s option, subject to specified
conditions, on or after February 6, 2012 through and including February 1, 2017, and at-the company’s option after
February 1,2017. On February 1, 2017 and 2022 and upon the occurrence of certain circumstances, holders have the '
right to require the company to repurchase all or some of their debentures. The net proceeds tothe company from the
offering of the debentures, after deducting the initial purchasers’ discount and the esnmaled offering expenses
payable by the company, were approxlmately $132.3 million,

The notes, debentures and common shares issuable upon conversion of the debentures have not been registered
under the Securities Act or the securities laws of any other jurisdiction and may not be offered or sold in the United
States absent registration under, or an apphcable exemption from, the registration requirements of the Securities Act
and applicable state securities laws. - : ! . : v

The company estimates that the weighted average interest rate of the new facilities and securities combined
will be approximately 7.5% versus the weighted average interest rate for 2006 approximately 5.9%.

Additionally, the company maintains various other demand lines of credit totaling a U.S. dollar equivalent of
approximately $53,722,000 as of December 31, 2006. The lines of credit along with cash generated from operations
have been and will continue to be used to fund the company’s domestic and foreign working capital, capital
expenditures and acquisition requirements.

The company’s borrowing arrangements contain covenants with respect to; among other items, interest
coverage, net worth, dividend payments, working capital, and funded debt to capitalization, as defined in the
company's bank agreements and agreement with its note holders. The company is in compliance with all covenant
requirements. Under the most restrictive covenant of the company’s borrowing arrangements, the company was at
its maximum borrowing capacity pursuant to the covenants of the company’s previously existing $500,000,000
multi-currency, long-term revolving credit agreement, which was repaid in full as part of the Refinancing. However,
as a result of the Refinancing, the company has available approximately $26,175,000 in borrowing capacity, with an
associated cash balance of $80,983,000, as of February 23, 2007 under the most restrictive covenants of its new
financing arrangements.

While there is general concern about the potential for rising interest rates, exposure to interest rate fluctuations
is manageable given that a portion of the company’s debt is at a fixed rate through 2027, the company has the ability
to utilize swaps to exchange variable rate debt to fixed rate debit, if needed, and the company’s free cash flow should
aliow Invacare to absorb any modest rate increases in the months ahead without any material impact on our liquidity
or capital resources. As of December 31, 2006, the weighted average floating interest rate on borrowings was
3.90%, but as a result of the Refinancing, is expected to climb to approximately 7.5% for 2007.
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

There are no individually material capital expenditure commitments outstanding as of December 31, 2006.
The company estimates that capital investments for 2007 could approximate $25,000,000, compared to actual
capital expenditures of $21,789,000 in 2006. The company believes that its balances of cash and cash equivalents,
together with funds generated from operations and existing borrowing facilities, will be sufficient to meet its
operating cash requirements and fund required capital expenditures for the foreseeable future.

CASH FLOWS

Cash flows provided by operating activities were $61,737,000 in 2006, compared to $77,244,000 in the
previous year. The decrease is due primarily to decreased earnings, which were impacted by an increase in
recoverable taxes, partially offset by an increase in accounts payable and decrease in accounts receivable.

Cash flows used for investing activities were $34,446,000 in 2006, compared to $86,734,000 in 2005. The
decrease in cash used was primarily attributable to lower acquisition costs compared to 20035 and a reduction in
purchases of property and equipment as compared to the prior year as the company invested more in 2005 on
implementing ERP Systems in North America, Europe and Asia/Pacific. '

- . Cash flows provided by financing activities in 2006 were $27,941,000, compared to cash flows provided of
$2,497,000 in 2005. Cash borrowed for financing activities in 2006 was much higher than in 2005 as the company
borrowed more for ongoing business activities.

During 2006, the company generated free cash flow of $52,181,000 compared to free cash flow of $53,522,000
in 2005. The decrease was primarily attributable to lower earnings, which were impacted by restructuring charges,
and an increase in recoverable taxes. Free cash flow is a non-GAAP financial measure that is comprised of net cash
provided by operating activities, excluding net cash impact related to restructuring activities, less net purchases of
property and equipment, net of proceeds from sales of property and equipment. Management believes that this
financial measure provides meaningful information for evaluating the overall financial performance of the company
and its ability to repay debt or make future investments (including acquisitions, etc.). The non-GAAP financial
measure is reconciled to the GAAP measure as follows (in thousands):”

Twelve Months Ended

December 31,
2006 2005
Net cash provided by operating activities . ......................... . $61,737 $77244
Plus: :
Net Cash impact related to restructuring Activities . ................... 9935 1,837
Less: '
Purchases of property and equipment —mnet .. .. ... ... .......,.... .- 19491y  (25,559)

Free CashFlow . ........ ... ... .0 . i, e $52,181 $ 53,522
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

Payments due by period
Total Less than 1 year 1-3 years 3.5 years More than'§ years
(In thousands)

Long-term debt obligations

Senior Notes .. .............. $431,167 $ 68,514 $133,854 § 39,208 $189,591
Revolving credit agreements. . . . . 184,147 8,772 17,544 157,831 —
Othernotes . .......... e 71,750 71,750 R — — —_
Operating lease obligations ....... 43,589 - ' 17,448 17,560 5475 - 3,106
Capital lease obligatior;s S 18,675 1876 3362 . 2,812 10,625
Purchase obligations (primarily '
computer systems contracts). . . .. 542 500 42 — —
Other long-term- obligations - ' ‘ :
Product Liability . . . . . e 22,631 3,296 " 10,067 3,464 5,804
SERP.......... P 33676 424 1,752 1,752 29,748
Other, principally deferred _ ” B S
compensation. . ............ 13,366 364 755 635 © 11,612
Total . ............. . ... ..... $819,543 $172,944 $184.936  $211,177 $250,486

The long-term debt 6bligation payments shown above are as of December 31, 2006, However, as'a result of the
Refinancing that was completed on February 12, 2007, the long- -term debt obhgauons are estlmated to be as
follows: Lo :

Payments due by period

Total Less than 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years More than S years
{In thousands)

Long-term debt obligations |

Credit Facility. ... ...... $£363,507 . $19,158 $42,790  $42,790 -$258,769 -~ -
9%% Senior Notes due '
2015, . ... ..., 311,622 15052 34,125 34,125 . 228,320
4.125% Convertible Senior o ‘ '
Subordinated

Debentures due 2027. .. $246,416 $4913 $11,138  $11,138  $219,227

DIVIDEND POLICY

It is the company’s policy to pay a nominal dividend in order for its stock to be more attractive to a broader
range of investors. The current annual dividend rate remains at $0.05 per Common Share and $0.045 per Class B
Common Share. It is not anticipated that this will’ change materially as the company continues to have available
significant growth opportunities through internal development and acquisitions. For 2006, dividends of $0.05 per
Common Share and $0.045 per Class B Common Share were declared and paid.

L ™

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Consolidated Financial Statements included in the report include accounts of the company, all majonty—
owned subsidiaries and a variable interest entity for which the company is the primary beneficiary. The preparation
of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires
management to make estimates and assumptions in certain circumstances that affect amounts reported in the
accompanying .Consolidated Financial Statements and related footnotes. In preparing these financial statements,
management has made its best estimates and judgments of certain amounts included in the financial statements,
giving due consideration to materiality. However, application of these accounting policies involves the exercise of
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Judgment and use of assumpt10ns as to future uncertaintiés-and, as a result, actual results could differ from these
estimates. o Lo - :

The folfowing critical accounting policies, arhong others, affect the more significant judgrnents and estimates
used in preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition '

Invacare’s revenues are recognized when products are shipped to unaffiliated customers. The SEC’s Staff
Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 101, “Revenue Recognition,” as updated by SAB No. 104, provides gutdance on the
appllcanon of ‘generally accepted accountmg principles (GAAP) to selected revenue recognition issues. The
company has concluded that lts revenue recogmtxon pohcy is appropnale and in accordance w1th GAAP and
SAB No. 101.-

Sales are only made to customers with whom the company believes collection is reasonably assured based
upon a credit-analysis, which may include obtaining a credit application, a signed security agreement, personal
guarantee and/or a cross corporate guarantee depending on the credit history of the customer. Credit lines are:
established for'new customers after an evaluation of their credit report and/or other relevant financial information.
Exlstmg credit lines are regularly reviewed and adjusted with consideration g1ven to any outstandmg past due
amounts. .

The company offers discounts and rebates, which are accounted for as reductions to revenue in the period in
which the sale is recognized. Discounts offered include: cash discounts for prompt-payment, base and trade
discounts based on contract level for spec1ﬁc classes of customers: Volume discounts and rebates are given based on
large purchases and the achievement of certain sates volumes, Product returns are accounted for as a reduction to’
reponed sales with, esumates recorded for ant1c1pated returns at the time of sale. The company does not sell any
goods on con31gnment :

Distributed products sold by the company are accounted for in accordance with Emergmg Issues Task Force, or
“EITF” No. 99-19. Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an Agent. * The company records
~distributed product sales gross as a principal since the company takes title to the products and have the risks of loss
for collections, dellvery and- returns.

Product sales that glve rise to mstallment recetvables are recorded at the time of sale when the risks and
rewards of ownership are transferred. In December 2000, the company entered into an agreement with DLL, a third
party financing company, to provide the majority of future lease financing to Invacare customers. As such, interest
income is recognized based on the terms of the installment agreements. Installment accounts are monitored and if a
customer defaults on payments, interest income is no longer recognized. All installment accounts are accounted for
using the same methodology, regardless of duration of the installment agreements.

Allowance far Uncoliecnble Accaunts Recewable .

)

Accounts recelvable are reduced by an allowance for amounts that may become uncollecnble in the future.
Substantially all of our recewables aré due from health care, medical equipment dealers and long term care facilities
located throughout the United States, Australla Canada, New Zealand and Europe. A significant portion of
products sold to dealers, both foreign and domestic, is ulnmately funded’ through”"government reimbursement
programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. As a consequence, changes in these programs can have an adverse impact
on dealer hquldlty and profitability. The estimated allowance for uncol]ectlble amounts is based primarily on
management’s evaluation of the financial. condition of the customer. In addition, as a result of the third party
ﬁnancmg arrangement with DLL, management monitors the collection status of these contracts in accordance with
our limited recourse obhganons and provides amounts necessary for esumated losses in the allowance for doubtful
accounts, : U _ .

In 2006 the company recorded an incremental reserve against accounts recewable of $26,775,000 due to the
increased collectibility risk to the'company resulting from changes in Medicare reimbursement regulations,
specifically changes to the qualification processes and reimbursement levels of power wheelchairs. The company
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has reviewed the accounts receivables associated with many of the company’s customers that are most exposed to
these issues. The company is also working with certain of its customers in an effort to help them reduce costs and
improve their profitability. In addition, the company has also implemented tighter credit policies with many of these
accounts.

Inventories and Related Allowance Jor Obsolete and Excess Inventory

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market with cost determined by the first-in, ﬁrst—out method.
Inventories have been reduced by an allowance for excess and obsolete inventories. The estimated allowance is
based on management’s review of inventories on hand compared to estimated future usage and sales. A provision for
excess and obsolete inventory is recorded as needed based upon the discontinuation of preducts, redesigning of
existing products, new product introductions, market changes and safety issues. Both raw materials and finished
goods are reserved for on the balance sheet.

In general, we review inventory turns as an indicator of obsolescence or slow moving product as weil as the
impact of new product introductions. Depending on the situation, the individual itern may be partially or fully
reserved for. No inventory that was reserved for has been sold at prices above their new cost basis. We continue to
increase our overseas sourcing efforts, increase our emphasis on the development and introduction of new products,
and decrease the cycle time to bring new product offerings to market. These initiatives are sources of inventory
obsolescence for both raw material and finished goods.

Goodwill, Intangible and Other Long-Lived Assets

Property, equipment, intangibles and certain other long-lived assets are amortized over their useful lives.
Useful lives are based on management’s estimates of the period that the assets will generate revenue. Under
SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have indefinite
lives are subject to annual impairment tests. Furthermore, goodwill and other long-lived assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable. We complete our annual impairment tests in the fourth quarter of each year. As a result of reduced
profitability in the NA/HME operating segment and uncertainty associated with future market conditions, the
company recorded impairment charges related to goodwill and intangible assets of this segment of $300,417,000 at
December 31, 2006. Interest rates have a significant impact upon the discounted cash flow methodology utilized in
our annual impairment testing, Increasing interest rates decrease the fair value estimates used in our testing.

Product Liability

The company’s captive insurance company, Invatection Insurance Co., currently has a policy year that runs
from September 1 to August 31 and insures annual policy losses of $10,000,000 per occurrence and $13,000,000 in
the aggregate of the company’s North American product liability exposure. The company also has additional layers
of external insurance coverage insuring up to $75,000,000 in annual aggregate losses arising from individual claims
anywhere in the world that exceed the captive insurance company policy limits or the limits of the company’s per
country foreign liability limits, as applicable. There can be no assurance that Invacare’s current insurance levels will
continue to be adequate or available at affordable rates.

Product liability reserves are recorded for individual claims based upon historical experience, industry
expertise and indications from the third-party actuary. Additional reserves, in excess of the specific individual case
reserves, are provided for incurred but not reported claims based upon third-party actuarial valuations at the time
such valuations are conducted. Historical claims experience and other assumptions are taken into consideration by
the third-party actuary to estimate the ultimate reserves. For example, the actuarial analysis assumes that historical
loss experience is an indicator of future experience, that the distribution of exposures by geographic area and nature
of operations for ongoing operations is expected to be very similar to historical operations with no dramatic changes
and that the government indices used to trend losses and exposures are appropriate. Estimates made are adjusted on
a regular basis and can be impacted by actual loss award settlements on claims, While actuarial analysis is used to
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help determine adequate reserves, the company accepts responsibility for the determination and recordmg of
adequate reserves in accordance with accepted loss reserving standards and practices.

2 r i r
Warranty

Generally, the company’s products are covered from the date of sale to the customer by warranties against
defects in material and workmanship for various periods depending on the product. Certain components carry a
lifetime warranty. A provision for estimated warranty cost is recorded at the time of sale based upon actual
experience. The company continuously assesses the adequacy of its prodict warranty accrual and makes adjust-
ments as needed. Historical analysis is primarily used to determine the company’s warranty reserves. Claims history
is reviewed and provisions are adjusted as needed. However, the company does consider other events, such as a
product recall, which could warrant additional warranty reserve provision. No material adjustments to warranty
reserves were necessary in the current year. See Current Liabilities in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements included in this report for a reconciliation of the changes in the warranty accrual,

L
- . -, ]

Accounting for Stock-Based Co#zbeﬁ_sdtibn

Prior to January 1, 2006, the company accounted for options under our stock-based compensation plans using
the intrinsic value method in® Accounting Pf‘inciples Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees, and related Interpretations. Effective January 1, 2006, the company adopted Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard No. 123 (Revised 2004}, Share Based Payment (“SFAS 123R”) using the modified pro-
spective application method. Under the modified prospective method, compensation cost was recognized for the
twelve months ended December 31, 2006 for: (1) all stock-based payments granted subsequent to January 1, 2006
based upon the grant-date fair value calcilated in accordance with SFAS 123R, and (2) all stock-based payments
granted prior to, but not vested as of, January 1, 2006 based upon grant-date fair value previously calculated for
previously presented pro forma footnote disclosures i in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS No. 123,
Accounting for Stock Based Compensanon Results for penods prior to January 1, 2006 have not been restated

Upon adoption of SFAS 123R, the company did not make any other modifications to the terms of any
prevxouqu granted options. However, the terms of new awards granted have been modified so that the vesting
periods are deemed 10 be substantive for those who may be retiree eligible. No changes were made regarding the
valuation methodologies or assumptions used to determine the fair value of options granted and the company.
continues to use a Black-Scholes valuation model. As. of December 31, 2006, there was $13.182,000 of total
unrecognized compensation cost from stock-based compensation arrangements granted under the plans, which is
related to non-vested shares, and includes $3,512,000 related to restricted stock awards. The company expects the
compensation expense to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately two years.

- The majority of the opt1ons awarded have been granted at excrcise prices equa] to the market value of the
uriderlying stock on the date ‘of grant; ‘thus, no compensation was reflected in the consolidated statement of
operatlons for these options prior to January 1, 2006. However, restricted stock awards granted w1th0ut cost to the
rec1p1ents ‘were and continue to be expensed on a stralght hne basis over the vestmg periods. o

Income Tti.'res .,

As part of the process of preparing its financial statements, the company is required to estimate income taxes in
various jurisdictions. The process requires eSllmalll’lg the company's current tax exposure, 1ncludmg assessmg the
risks associated with tax audits, as well as estimating temporary differences due to the different treatment of items
for tax and accounting policies. The temporary differences are reported as deferred tax assets and or liabilities. The
company also must estimate the likelihood that its deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income
and whether or not valuation allowances should be established. In the event that actua] results, differ from its
estlmates the company 's provision for mcome laxes could be materially impacted.

¥

The company does not believe that there is a substannal likelihood that ma(enally different amounts would be
reported related to its critical accounting policies. - R
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ACCOUNTING CHANGES

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board “FASB” issued SFAS No. 158, Employers’
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements
No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R), or “FAS 158.” FAS 158 requires plan sponsors to recognize the funded status of their
defined benefit postretirement benefit plans in the consolidated balance sheet, measure the fair value of plan assets
and benefit obligations as of the balance sheet date and to recognize changes in that funded status in the year in
which the changes occur through comprehensive income. The company adopted the provisions of FAS 158 on
December 31, 2006. The adoption required the company to recognize the funded status (i.e., the difference between
the fair value of plan assets and the projected benefit obligations) of our postretirement benefit plan in the
December 31, 2006 balance sheet, with a corresponding adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive income,
net of tax. The adoption of FAS 158 did not aifect the company’s consolidated statement of operations for the year
ended December 31, 2006, or for any prior period presented. See Retirement and Benefit Plans in the Notes to lhe
Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report.

In December 2004, FASB issued SFAS 123R, which required companies to expense stock options and other
share-based payments. SFAS 123R supersedes SFAS No. 123, which permitted either expensing stock options or
providing pro forma disclosure. The provisions of SFAS 123R, which were effective for the company on January 1,
2006, apply to all awards granted, modified, cancelled or repurchased after January 1, 2006 as well as the unvested
portion of prior awards. The company adopted the standard as of January 1, 2006. See Shareholders’ Equity
Transactions in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report.

In the fourth quarter of 2006, the company expanded its number of reporting segments from three to five due to
organizational changes within the former North American geographic operating segment and changes in how the
chief operating decision maker assesses performance and makes resource allocation decisions. Accordingly, the
company has modified its operating segments and reportable segments in 2006 with the corresponding prior year
amounts being reclassified to conform to the 2006 presentation. See Business Segments in the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report.

In 2006, the company determined that the reported December 31, 2005 accumulated benefit for the cor.nlﬁany’s
non-qualified defined benefit Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) was understated by $2,941,000
($1,912,000 after-tax), or $0.06 per share, as the result of accounting errors in which recorded expense in prior years’
was netted by SERP benefit payments. The company assessed the error amounts considering SEC Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 99, Materiality, as well as SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior
Year Misstatements When Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements, or “SAB 108.” The
error was not material to any prior period reported financial statements, but was material in the current year.
Accordingly, the company recorded the correction of thetunderstatement of expense as an adjustment to begmmng
retained earnings pursuant to the special transition pr0v1sxon detailed in SAB 108. ’

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, or “FIN 48.” FIN 48 prescribes recognition and measurement of a tax
position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return as well as guidance regarding derecognition, classification,
interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2006, thus January 1, 2007 for Invacare. The company will adopt the standard as of
the effective date and currently does not believe the adoption will have a material impact on the company’s financial
position or future results.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk.

The company is exposed to market risk through various financial instruments, including fixed rate and floating
rate debt instruments. The company uses interest swap agreements to mitigate its exposure to interest rate
fluctuations. Based on December 31, 2006 debt levels, a 1% change in interest rates would impact interest expense
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by approximately $2,292,000 and by approximately $5,588,000 if the company’s new Refinancing had been in
effect as of December 31, 2006. Additionally, the company operates internationally and, as a result, is exposed to
foreign currency fluctuations. Specifically, the exposure results from intercompany loans and third party sales or
payments. In an attempt to reduce this exposure, foreign currency forward contracts are utilized. The company does
not believe that any potential loss related to these financial instruments would have a material adverse effect on the
company’s financial condition or results of operations.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Sulaplementary Data.

Reference is made to the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, Consolidated Balance
Sheet, Consolidated Statement of Operations, Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, Consolidated Statement of
Shareholders’” Equity, Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial Stalement Schedule, which appear
on pages FS-1 to FS-38 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Dlsclosure
None. :

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
{a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2006, an evaluation was performed, under the supervision and with the participation of the
company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of
the design and operation of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)). Based on that evaluation, the company’s management, including the Chief -
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, concluded that the company’s disclosure controls and procedures
were effective as of December 31, 2006, in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by the company in the
reports it files and submits under the Exchange Act is (1) recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the
time periods speciﬁed in the Commission’s rules and forms and (2} accumulated and communicated to the
company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, as approprlate to
a]]ow for nmely decisions regarding required disclosure.

(b) Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is respensible for establishing and maintaining a system of adequate internal control over
financial reporting that provides reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and that transactions .are
authorized, recorded and reported properly. The system includes self-menitoring mechanisms; regular testing
by the company’s internal auditors; a Code of Conduct; written policies and procedures; and a careful selection and
training of employees. Actions are taken to correct deficiencies as they are identified. An effective intemal control
system, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations — including the possibility of the circumvention or
overriding of controls — and therefore can provide only reasonable assurance that errors and fraud that can be
material to the financial statements are prevented or would be detected on a timely basis. Further, because of
changes in conditions, internal control system effectiveness may vary over time.

‘ Management s assessment of the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting is
based on the Internal Control — Integrated Framework published by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission.

In management’s opinion, internal control over financial reporting is effective as of December 31, 2006.

The company’s independent registered public accounting firrn, Emnst & Young LLP, audited management’s
assessment of internal control over financial reporting and, based on that audit, issued an attestation report regarding
management’s assessment, which is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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{c) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no significant changes in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during our last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, thé
company’s internal control over financial reporting.

item 9B. Other Information.

None.

PART II1 T g o !

Ttem 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant. n

Information required by Item 10 as to the executive officers of the company is included in Part I of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. The other information required by Item 10 as to the directors of the company, the Audit
Committee, the audit committee financial expert, the procedures for recommending nominees to the Board of
Directors, compllance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act and corporate governance is incorporated herein by
reference to the information set forth under the captions “Election of Directors,” “Corporate Governance,” and
“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Compliance” in the company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2007
Annual Meeting of Shareholders.  ~

We submitted the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE™) Section 12(a) Annual CEQ Certification as to our
compliance with the NYSE corporate governance listing standards to the NYSE in June 2006. In addition, we have
filed the certifications of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 regarding the quality of our public dlsclosures as exhibits to this Annual Report on_
Form 10-K.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by Item 11 is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the
captions “Executive Compensation” and “Corporate Governance” in the company'’s definitive Proxy Statement for
the 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. ‘

Item. 12, Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management.

The information required by Item 12 is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the caption
“*Share Ownership of Principal Holders and Management” in the company’s deﬁmuve Proxy Statement for the 2007
Annual Meeting of Shareholders

Information regardmg the securities authorized for issuance under the company’s equity compensation plans is
incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the captions “Compensation of Executive Officers” and
“Compensation of Directors” in the company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

The information required by Item 13 is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the caption
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions™ in the company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders. :

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services,

The information required by Item 14 is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the caption
“Independent Auditors” and “Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures” in the company's definitive Proxy Statement
for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.
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PART IV

item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules,

(a¥(1) Financial Statements.
The following financial statements of the company are included in Part 1l, Item 8:
Consolidated Statement of Operations — years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
Consolidated Balance Sheet — December 31, 2006 and 2005
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows — vears ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004

" Consolidated Statement of Shareholders’ Equity — years ended.December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements .

(a}2) Financial Statement Schedules. e
The fbllowing financial statement schedule of the company is includéd in Part II, ltem 8: .
Schedule 11 — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable or not required, or because the
required information is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or notes thereto.

' @)(3) Exhibits.
See Exhibit Index at page number 1-52 of this Report on Form 10-K.

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(;!) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunte duly
authorized as of March 7, 2007,

L T ' INVACARE CORPORATION

By: . Is/ A, Malachi Mixon, 1I1

A. Malachi Mixon, 1IT
Chairman of the Board of Directors
. . X . . .~ and Chief Executive Officer
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated as of March 7, 2007.

Signature Title
fs/ A, Malachi Mixon, 111 Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive
- A. Malachi Mixon, HI Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ _Gerald B: Blouch President, Chief Operating Officer and Director
Gerald B, Bloich - - ) ‘
fs/ Gregory C. Thompson Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Gregory C. Thompson . Financial and Accounting Officer)
/s/_James C. Boland Director ’

James-C. Boland

/s/ Michael F. Delaney Director K
Michael F. Delaney ] . , '
* ' ' ‘[ H ) -
fs/ C. Martin Harris, M.D. Director
C. Martin Harris, MD
/s/ Bernadine P. Healy, MD. ° , ° Director '
Bernadine P. Healy, M.D. ~ »
/s/ John R. Kasich ' Director
John R. Kasich - o
f/s/ Dan T. Moore, III . - - Director
Dan T. Moore, III :
s/ Joseph B. Richey; 1 " Director )
Joseph B. Richey, Il "
i
v fs/ William M. Weber o Director
William M. Weber
Director . . ,

James L. Jones
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L INVACARE CORPORATION S
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006.

Exhibit Index
Official - - - ) Sequential
Exhibit No. C Descnptlon .- Page No.
2.1 Sale and Purchase Agreement Regardmg the Sale and Purchase of All Shares in WP (A)

Domus GmbH by and among WP Domus LLC, Mr. Peter Schultz and Mr. Wilhelm
Kaiser, Invacare GmbH & Co. KG and Invacare Corporation dated as of July 31, 2004

22 Guarantee Letter Agreement of Warburg, Pincus Ventures, L.P. and Warburg, Pincus (A)
*  International, L.P. dated as of September 9, 2004

3(a)’ Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, as last amended February 2 1996 (H)

3(b) Code of Regulations, as amended on May 22, 1996, ‘ (H)

) Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporanon as I
amended on July 8, 2005

4(a) Specimen Share Certificate for Common Shares . -. B : ’ L (Q)

4b) Specimen Share Certificate for Class B Common Shares Q)

4(c) Rights agreement between Invacare Corporanon and National Clty Bank dated as of D
July 8, 2005

4(d) Indenture, dated as of February 12, 2007, by and among Invacare Corporauon the (3

Guarantors named therein and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as trustee (including the Form of
4.125% Convertible Senior Subordinated Debentire due 2027 and related Guara.mee
attached as Exhibit A)

4(e) Indenture, dated as of February 12, 2007, by and among Invacare Corporation, the (S)

Guarantors named therein and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as trustee (including the Form of
9 %% Senior Note due 2015 and related Guarantee attached as Exhibit A).

10(a) 1992 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan adopted in May 1992 . ()

10(b) Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors, ad'opted in May 1992 H)

10(c) Invacare Corporation 1994 Performance Plan approved January 28, 1994 (H)

10(d) Amendment No. ! to the Invacare Corporation'1994 Performance Plan approved May 28, (H)*
1998

10(e) Amendment No. 2 to the Invacare Corporation 1994 Perfonnance P]an approved May 24, . (B)*
2000 .

10(f) Amendment No. 3 to the Invacare Corporation 1994 Performance Plan (Ey*

10(g) Invacare Retirement Savings Plan, effective January 1, 2001 ({C)

10(h) Agreement entered into by and between the company and Chief Operating Officer (Dy*

10(i) Amendment No. 1 to Invacare Corporation 401(K) Plus Benefit Equalization Plan (G)

10G) Invacare Corporation 401(K) Plus Benefit Equalization Plan (As amended and restated (G)
effective January 1, 2003)

10(k) Invacare Corporation 2003 Performance Plan (Fy*

10(1) Form of Change of Control Agreement entered into by and between the company and Q)

certain of its executive officers and Schedule of all such agreements with current
executive officers

10{m) Form of Indemnity Agreement entered into by and between the company and certain of (D)y*
its Directors and executive officers and Schedule of all such Agreements with Directors
and executive officers

10(n) Employment Agreement entered into by and between the company and Chief Financial (D)*
Officer

10(0) Invacare Corporation Deferred Compensation Plus Plan, effective January 1, 2005 (H*

10(p) Invacare Corporation Death Benefit Only Plan, effective January 1, 2005 (H)*
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Official

Exhibit No.

10(q)
10(r)
10(s)
10(1)

10(w)
10(v)
10(w)
10(x)

10(y)
1X(z)
10(aa)
10(ab)

10(ac)

10(ad)

10{ae)

10(af)

10(ag)

10{ah)

10(ai)

Description
A. Malachi Mixon, 111 10b5-1 Plan, effective February 14, 2005
Gerald B. Blouch 10b5-1 Plan, effective February 22, 2005
Gregory C. Thompson 10b5-1 Plan, effective February 21, 2005

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (As amended and restated effective February 1,
2000)

Form of Director Stock Option Award under Invacare Corporatlon 1994 Performance
Plan '

Form of Director Stock Option Award under Invacare Corporation 2003 Perfo'nnanc:e
Plan

Form of Director Deferred Optioﬁ Award under Invacare Corporation 2003 Performance

Plan

Form of Restricted Stock Optlon Award under Invacare Corporation 2003 Performance
Plan

Form of Stock Option Award under Invacare Cdrporatigh 2003 Performance Plan
Director Compensation Schedule
Invacare Corporation Executive Incentive Bonus Plan, effective as of January 1, 2005

Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2005, among Invacare |
Receivables Corporation, as Seller, Invacare Corporation, as Servicer, Park Avenue
Receivables company, LLC and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Agent

Note Purchase Agreement dated as of April 27, 2006, by and among Invacare
Corporation and the various purchasers named therein, relating to $150,000,000
6.15% Senior Notes Due April 27, 2016.

Amendment #1, dated as of September 28, 2006, to the Receivables Purchase '
Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2005, by and among Invacare Receivables
Corporation, as Seller, Invacare Corporation, as Servicer, Park Avenue Receivables
company, LLC and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Agent

Omnibus Waiver, Amendment and Reaffirmation of Performance Undertaking dated as
of November 14, 2006 to Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 30,
2005, among Invacare Receivables Corporation, as Seller, Invacare Corporation, as
Servicer, Park Avenue Receivables company, LLC and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
Agent

Waiver and Amendment dated as of November 14, 2006 to Note Purchase Agreemenl
dated as of April 27, 2006, by and among Invacare Corporation and the various
purchasers named therein, relating to $150, 000 000 6.15% Senior Notes Due April 27,
2016.

Second Omnibus Walver Amendment and Reaffirmation of Performance Undertaking
dated as of November 14, 2006 to Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of
September 30, 2005, among Invacare Receivables Corporation, as Seller, Invacare
Corporation, as Servicer, Park Avenue Receivables company, LLC and JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as Agent

Second Waiver and Amendment dated as of November 14, 2006 to Note Purchase
Agreement dated as of April 27, 2006, by and among Invacare Corporation and the
various purchasers named therein, relating to $150,000,000 6.15% Senior Notes Due
April 27, 2016.

Credit Agreement, dated February 12, 2007, by and among Invacare Corporation, the
Fac1l|ty Guarantors named therein, the lenders named therein, Banc of America
Securities LLLC and KeyBank National Association as jeint lead arrangers for the term
loan facility, and National City Bank and KeyBank National Association as joint lead
arrangers for the revolving loan facility.
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Official ) Sequential

Exhibit No. - Description ' Page No.

10(aj) Purchase Agreement by and among Invacare Corporation, the Subsidiary Guarantors R) .
named therein, and the Initial Purchasers named therein dated as of February 5, 2007.

10¢ak) Purchase Agreement by and among Invacare Corporation, the Subsidiary Guarantors (R)
named therein, and the Initial Purchasers named therein dated as of February 7, 2007.

18 Letter re: Change in Accounting Principles : (Q)

2]1** Subsidiaries of the company

23x# Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

31.1**  Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002

31.2**  Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley 'Act of 2002

32.1**  Centification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Secti.on 1350, as

adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2**  Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as

adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

* Management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement

** Filed herewith.

(A)
(B)
©
(D)
E)
®

)
H)
M

0)

(K)
w©

(M)

Reference is made to the appropriate Exhibit to the company report on Form 8-K, dated September 9, 2004,
which Exhibit is incorporated herein by reference. .

Reference is made to the appropriate Exhibit of the company report on Form S-8, dated March 30, 2001,
which Exhibit is incorporated herein by reference.

Reference is made to Exhibit 10.1 of the company report or Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended September 30
2002, which Exhibit is incorporated herein by reference.

Reference is made to the appropriate Exhibit of the company report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2002, which Exhibit is incorporated herein by reference.

Reference is made to the appropnate Exhibit of the company report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2003, which Exhibit is incorporated herein by reference.

Reference is made to Exhibit 4.5 of Invacare Corporation Form S-8 filed on October 17, 2003, which is
incorporated herein by referénce, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Reference is made to the appropriate Exhibit of the company report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2004, which Exhibit is incorporated herein by reference.

Reference is made to the appropriate Exhibit of the company report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2004, which Exhibit is incorporated herein by reference.

Reference is made to the appropriate Exhibit of the company repert on Form §-K, dated July 8, 2005, which is
incorporated herein by reference.

Reference is made to the appropriate Exhibit of the company report on Form 8-K, dated Apnl 4, 2005, which
is incorporated herein by reference. .o .

Reference is made to the appropriate Exhibit of the company report on Form 8-K, dated September 29, 2005,
which is incorporated herein by reference.

Reference is made to the appropriate Exhibit of the company report on Form 8-K, dated March 13, 2006
which is incorporated herein by reference.

Reference is made to the appropriate Exhibit of the company report on Form 8-K, dated April 27, 2006, which
is incorporated herein by reference.

1-54




(N)
(0)
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(5)

Reference is made to the appropriate Exhibit of the company report on Form 8-K, dated April 27, 2006, which
is incorporated herein by reference.

Reference is made to the appropriate Exhibit of the company report on Form 8-K, dated November 14, 2006,
which is incorporated herein by reference.

Reference is made to the appropriate Exhibit of the company report on Form §-K, dated December 15, 2006,
which is incorporated herein by reference.

Reference is made to the appropriate Exhibit of the company report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2005, which Exhibit is incorporated herein by reference.

Reference is made to the appropriate Exhibit of the company report on Form 8-K, dated February 5, 2007,
which is incorporated herein by reference.

Reference is made to the appropriate Exhibit of the company report on Form 8-K, dated February 12, 2007,
which is incorporated herein by reference,
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Shareholders and Board of Directors : '
Invacare Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Invacare Corporation and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consclidated statements of operations, cash flows and shareholders’
equity for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006. Our audits also included the financial
statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15. (a)(2). These financial statements and .schedule are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our respon51b111ty is to express an.opinion on these financial
statements and-schedule based on our audits. a :

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accoummg Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An.audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of Invacare Corporation and subsidiaries at December’ 31, 2006 and 2005, and
the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting.principles. Also, in our opinion, the
related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole,
presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein. -

As discussed in Accounting Policies in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, the Company
adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), Share Based Payment, effective January 1, 2006; the provisions of
SFAS No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined. Benefit Pension and Other Posrrerzremenr Plans, an amendment
of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R), e_ﬁ"ecnve December 31, 2006; and the provisions of SAB No. 108,
Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Cn}'ren"t Year Financial
Statements, applying the one-time special transition provisions, in 2006. In addition, as described in Accounting
Policies in the notes to the consotidated financial statements, in 2005 the Company changed its method of
accounting for inventories.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accouniting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of Invacare Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 28, 2007
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

g,

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Cleveland, Ohio . : o '
February 28, 2007 : . . "

FS-1°




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Shareholders and Board of Directors
Invacare Corporation

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management. Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting, that Invacare Corporation maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in /nrernal Control — Integrated Framework
issuzed by the Committee of Spensoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Invacare
Corporation’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over
ﬁnanc1al reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance wuh the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance abowt
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal .control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing
such other procedures as we consnderecl necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable baSlS for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2} provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accountmg principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. :

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
rmsstatements Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of comphance with the
pohmes or procedures may deteriorate. .

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Invacare Corporation maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects; based on the COSO criteria.
Also, in our opinion, Invacare Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, l?ased on t_he CQOSO critenia.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Invacare Corporation as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the
related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and shareholders’ equity for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2006 of Invacare Corporation, and the financial statement schedule for the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2006 and our report dated February 28, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion
thereon,

Is/  ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
February 28, 2007

FS§-2




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

INVACARE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
{In thousands, except per share data)
Netsales . vttt it it e i e e e $1,498,035  $1,529,732  $1,403,327
Costof products sold . .............. oot 1,080,965 1,083,533 985,383
o GressProfit. ... ... ... .. Lo 417,070 446,199 417,944
Selling, general and administrative éxp_enses e 373,846 342,039 | 298,557
* Charge related to restructuring activities ..................... 17.277 7,295 —
Debt finance charges, interest and fees associated with debt ' '
refinancing ... ... . i e ‘ 3,745 — . -
Asset write-downs related to goodwill and other intangibles. ... ... 300,417 — -
Interest eXpPense . .. ... i e et 34,084 27,246 14,201
Interest iNCOME. . . ..o\ttt et (2,775) - (1,683) " (5,186)
' Earnings (loss) before Income Taxes . . . ................ (309,524) 71,302 7 110,372
Income taxes . ... ... ... i e 8,250 22,450 35,175
Net Earnings (loss) .....................ccvvve......8(317,774) & 48852 $ 75197
Net Earnings (loss) per Share —Basic ................. $ (10000 $ 155 § 241
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding — Basic. . ........... W 31,789 31,555 31,153
Net Earnings (loss) per Share — Assuming Dilution. . ... .. $ 1000y $ ° 151 $ 2.33
Weighted Average Sha;‘eerutsianding — Assuming Dilution . , . . .. 31,789 ' 32452 32,347
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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| CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

INVACARE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

December 31, December 31,
2006 2005

(In thousands)

Assets
Current Assets
 Cashandcashequivalents .. ......... ... ... ... . . i iiuiriurinn.. $ 82203 § 25624
Marketable securities. . . ... ... .. e 190 - 252
Trade receivables, MEt .. .. ... ...\ e e 261,606 287,955
Installment receivables, net ...l 7097 12,935
Inventories, Mel . . ... vii it e e A 2;01,756 176,925
Deferred income taxes. ... ... e ‘ e 13,512 27,446
Other CuITEnt AS8EL8 . . . . . . . Lt it ittt ie e it s §9,394 63,329
Total Current Assets. . ... ... ... ... . . .. .. . .. 655,758 594,466
Other Assets . ........... e e e 66,346 47,110
Otherlhtangihles.........‘....................................i 103,973 108,117
Property and Equipment, net . . .. ........... ... .. ... .. ... .. ...... 173,945 176,206
GoodWill .. . ... 490,429 720,873
_ Total Assets ........ e S P, $1,490,451  $1,646,772
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities _ \ . . :
Accounts payable ..... ....... e e $ 163,041 $ 133,106
Accrued EXPenSES . . . ... e e e e 147,776 130,033
AcCrued INCOME 1aXBS . . . .t v ittt et it e et ettt 12,916 13,340
Short-term debt and current maturities of long-term obligations .......... 124,243 80,228
Total Current Liabilities. . .. . ............... ... ... .. ....... 447976 356,707
Long-Term Debt . . .. ... ... ... . . 443,883 457,753
Other Long-Term Obligations ..................................... ' 108,228 79.624

Shareholders’ Equity
Preferred Shares (Authorized 300 shares; none outstanding)
Common Shares (Authorized 100,000 shares; 32,051 and 31,695 issued in

2006 and 2005, respectively) —mnopar. ............ ... 8,013 . 1925
Class B Common Shares (Authorized 12,000 shares; 1,112, issued and
outstanding) —no par . ...... ... ..., 278 278
Additional paid-in-capital ........... . ... . .. . e . 143,714 138,937
Retained earnings ... ........ ... ittt e 276,750 598,025
Accumulated other comprehensive eamnings ... .............. ... .... 09,188 47,480
Unearned compensation on stock awards . .......................... —_ (1,692)
Treasury shares (1,186 and 1,058 shares in 2006 and 2005, respectively). . . . (42,579) (38,265)
Total Shareholders’ Equity. . .. ... ... ... ....... ... S 485,364 752,688
Total Liabilities and Shareholders” Equity . . ................... $1,490,451 $1,646,772

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
INVACARE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Operating Activities
Netearnings (1oss) ... ... .. ittt e

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net cash provided by
operatmg activities:

" Depreciation and amortization
Provision for losses on trade and installment receivables . . .. ...,
Provision for deferred income taxes . ... . ... ............. ..
Provision for other deferred liabilities. . .. ..................
Loss on disposals of property and equipment
. Write down of goodwill and intangibles
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Tradereceivables. ... ... ... .. ... .. . ... oL

Installment sales CONracts, DL . . - . o oo v v e e o eer s, pee

Inventories. . . .. ... . ... e
Other current assets . . ... ..ottt e
. Accounts payable. . .. ... ... e
Accrued EXPENSES .. ... ...
Other long-term liabilities

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Investing Activities
Purchases of property and equipment .. ....................
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment . .............,
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired . . . ... e
Increase (decrease) in other investments . . . .. e

Net Cash Required for Investing Activities. . ... . ... ...,
Financing Activities '
- Proceeds from revolving lines of credit, securitization facﬂny and
fong-term borrowings . . . ........... ... ... 0 L
Payments on revolving lines of credit, securitization facility and

v

long-term borrowings . .~ .. ... .. .. oL e
Proceeds from exercise of stock options . .. .................
Payment of dividends, .. .. ... ... .. .. ... .. ... . ... ...
Purchase of treasury stock

..............................

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash '

Increase (decrease) in.cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents atend of year . .. .................. L.

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands)

$(317,774) ' $ 48852 § 75,197
39,892 40524 32,316
37,711 14,168 11,222
4,285 (100) 4,250
4,607 3,571 4,091
2,219 297 (14)
300,417 — —
(40350 (10,075  (19,978)
(5.997) (4.402) - (2911
(15932)  (12919)~  (15781)
1(25,043) (7.046)" (516)
22,857 (6923) ... 19,718
19,284 9,185 . .(11,281)
(754) 2112 - 1997
61,737 77244 - 98250
21789)  (30.924)  (41,757)
2298 5365 3
(15296)  (58216)  (343.554)
S22 @ (603)
(850) (1,013) (3,133)
939 (1,902) 96
(34.446)  (86,734)  (388,948)
872,549 796,073 844432
(846,100)  (796,619) (541,244)
3,081 4,623 9.850
(1,589)  (1,580) (1,557
— — (4,430)
27,941 2,497 307,051
1,347 50 140
56,579 " (6,943) 16,493
- 25,624 32,567 16,074
$ 82203 § 25624 $ 32,567

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

INVACARE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Accumulated
¢ Additional Other
Common Class B Paid-in- Retained Comprehensive  Unearned  Treasury
Stock Stock  Capital Earnings Earnings (Loss) Compensation Stock Total
(In thousands)

January 1, 2004 Balance . . . . $7.686 $278  $109,015 §$477.113 $ 51,057 $(1,458) $(25,387) $ 618,304
Exercise of stock options,

including tax benefit . ... .. 112 13,872 (2,444) 11,540
Restricted stock awards . . . ... 5 906 o1 - —
Restricted stock award expense . . 812 812
Netearnings .. ........... 75,197 75,197
Foreign currency translation : )

adjustments . . .......... 57,903 . 57,903
Unrealized loss on cash flow

hedges . .............. (4,322) (4,322)
Marketable securities holding ' . :

loss ... ... ... ()] R &)
Total comprehensive income. . . . 128,769
Dividends . . ............. (1,557 . (1,557)
Purchase of treasury shares. . . . (4430) (4,430)
December 31, 2004 Balance . . . 7,803 278 123,793 550,753 104,629 (1,357) (32,261) 753,438
Exercise of stock options,

including tax benefib; ..... 117 14.133_ (6,004) 8,246
Restricted stock awards . . . . .. 5 1,011 (1,016) —
Restricted stock award expense . . 881 ' 881
Netearnings .. ............ 48,852 48,852
Foreign currency transkation

adjustments . . .......... (56,176) (56,176)
Unrealized losses on cash flow '

hedges . .............. (1,008) (1,008
Marketable securities holding

gain.......:......... 35 3
Total comprehensive loss . . . . . (8,297)
Dividends . .. ............ . (1,580) (1,580)
December 31, 2005 Balance . . . 1,925 278 138,937 598,025 47,480 (1,692} (38,265) 752,688
Curnulative effect adjustment,

adoption of SAB 108, net of

. S (1,912) . (1,912)
Adjustment upon adoption of R .

FASI23R ............. : (1,692) 1,692 —
Exercise of stock options,

including tax benefit . ... .. 59 5423 (4,314) 1,168
Restricted stock awards . . . . . . 29 1,046 1,075
Netloss ................ ‘ (317,774) (317,774)
Foreign currency transiation

adjustments . ... ... AP 64,386 64,386
Unrealized gains on cash flow

hedges . .............. . 2,303 2,303
Marketable securities holding ‘ N

loss .. ... ... ... “n) (41)
Total comprehensive loss . . . . . (251,126)
Adjustment to initially apply

FASB
Statement No, 158, net of tax . . . (14,940) (14,940)
Dividends . . . . ........... , , (1.589) (1,589)
December 31, 2006 Balance ... $8,013 $278  $143.714 § 276,750 $ 99,188

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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INVACARE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations: Invacare Corporation is the world’s leading manufacturer and distributor in the
$8.0 billion worldwide market for medical equipment used in the home based upon our distribution channels,
breadth of product line and net sales. The company designs, manufactures and distributes an extensive line of health
care products for the non-acute care environment, including the home health care, retail and extended care markets.

Principles of Consolidation: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the company, its
majority owned subsidiaries and a variable interest entity for which the company is the primary beneficiary. Certain
forelgn subsidiarics, represented by the European segmem are consolidated using a November 30 fiscal year end in
order to meet filing deadlines. No material subsequent events have occurred related to the European segment, which
would require disclosure or adjustment to the company’s ﬁnaucxal statemems All significant intercompany
transactions are eliminated.

Use of Estimates: The consolidated financial statements aré prepared in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States, which require management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanymg notes. Actual results may differ from
these estimates. :

" Marketable Securities: Marketable securities consist of short-term investments in repurchase agreements,
governimient and corporate securities, certificates of deposit and equity securities. Marketable securities with
original maturities of less than three months are treated as cash equivalents. The company has ‘classified its
* 'marketable securities as available for sale. The securities are carried at their fair value and net unrealized holding
gams and losses, net of tax, are carried as a component of accumulated other comprehenswe earrungs (loss).

Inventories: Inventories are stated at the lower of costor market wnh cost determined by the first-in, first-out
method. Market costs are based on the lower of replacemem cost of estimated net realizable value. Inventories have
been reduced by an allowance for excess and obsolete inventories. The estimated allowance is based on
management s review of inventories on hand compared to estimated future usage and sales.

In the fourth quarter of 2005, the company changed its method of accouming for domestic manufactured
inventories from the lower of cost, as deterrmned by the last-in, first-out {LIFO) method of accounting, or market to
the lower of cost, as determined by the first-in, first-out {FIFO) method of accounting, or market. The company
believes that this change is preferable because: 1) the change conforms to a single method of accounting for all of
the company’s inventories, 2) LIFO inventory values have not been materially different than FIFQ inventory values,
and 3) the majority of the company’s competitors use FIFO.

The change from LIFO to FIFO did not result in any change to the'company’s reported Consolidated Balance
Sheets because the inventory valued under LIFQ was at current cost. As a result, there was no impact for the change
from LIFO to FIFO on the company’s Consolidated Statement of Operattons and Consolidated Statement of
Shareholders’ Equity for all periods presented. '

Property and Equipment:  Property and equipment are stated on the basis of cost. The company principally
uses the straight-line method of depreciation for financial reporting purposes based on annual rates sufficient to
amortize the cost of the assets over their estimated useful lives. Accelerated methods of depreciation are used for
federal income tax purposes. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the”
carrying amount may not be recoverable. The asset would be considered impaired when the future net undiscounted
cash flows generated by the asset are less than its carrying value. An impairment loss would be recoguized based on
the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fair value.

Goodwill and Other Intangibles: In accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,
(“SFAS No. 142™) goodwill is subject to annual impairment testing. For purposes of the impairment test, the fair
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INVACARE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES . TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Accounting Policies — Continued

value of each reporting “unit is estimated by forecasting cash flows and discounting those cash flows using
appropriate discount rates. The fair valuesare then compared to the carrying value of the net assets of each reporting
unit. As a result of reduced profitability in the NA/HME opefating segment and uncertainty associated with future
market conditions, the company recorded impairment charges refated to goodwill and 1ntang1ble assets of this’
segment of $300,417,000 at December 31, 2006

" Accrued Warranty Cost:, Generally. the company s producls are covered by warranties against defects in
material and workmanshlp for penods up to' $ix years from the date of sale to the customer. Certain components
carry a lifetime warranty. A provision for estimated warranty cost is recorded at the time of sale based upon actual
experience. The company continuously assesses the adequacy of its product warranty accrual and makes adjust-
ments as needed. Historical analysis is primarily used to determine the company’s warranty reserves. Claims history
is reviewed and provisions are adjusted as needed. However, the company does consider other events, such as a
product recall, which could warrant additional warranty reserve provision. No material adjustments to warranty
reserves were necessary in'the current year. See Current Liabilities in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for a reconciliation of the changes in the warranty accrual.

Product Liability Cost: The company’s captive insurance company, Invatection Insurance Co., currently has
a policy year that runs from September 1 to August-31 and insures annual policy losses of $10,000,000 per
occurrence and $13,000,000 in the aggregate of the company’s North American product liability exposure. The

company also has additional layers of external insurance coverage insuring up to $75,000,000 in annual aggregate - *

losses arising from individual claims anywhere in the world that exceed the captive insurance company policy limits
or the limits of the company’s per country foreign liability limits, as applicable. There can be no assurance that
Invacare’s current insurance levels will continue 'to be adequate or available at affordable rates.

A

Product liability reserves are recorded for.individual claims based upon historical experience, industry
expertise and indications from the third-party actuary Additional reserves, in excess of the specific individual case
reserves, are provided for incurred but not reponed claims based upon third- -party actuarial vatuations at the time
such valuations are conducted. Historical claims e expenence ‘and other assumptions are taken into consideration by
the third-party actuary to estimate the ultimate reserves: For example, the actuarial analysis assumes that historical
loss experience is an indicator of future experience, that the distribution of exposures by geographic area and nature
of operations for ongoing operations is expected to be very similar to historical operations with no dramatic changes
and that the government indices used to trend losses and exposures are appropriate. Estimates made are adjusted on
a regular basis and can be impacted by actual loss award settlemenis on claims. While actuarial analysis is used to
help determine adequate reserves, the. company accepts responsﬂnhty for the determination and recording of
adequate reserves in accordance with _accepted loss reserving standards and practices.

‘Revenueé Recognifion: Invacare’s revenues are recognized when products are shipped to unaffiliated cus-
tomers, The SEC’s Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 101, Revenué Recognition, as updated by SAB No. 104,
provides guidance on the application of GAAP to selected revenue recognition issues. The company has concluded
that its revenue recognition policy is appropriate and in accordance with GAAP and SAB No. 101.

Sales are only made to customers with whom the company believes collection is reasonably assured based
upon a credit analysis, which may include obtaining a credit application, a signed security agreement, personal
guarantee and/or a cross corporate guarantee depending on the credit history of the customer. Credit lines are
established for new customers after an evaluation of their credit report and/or other relevant financial information.
Existing credit lines are regularly reviewed and adjusted with consideration given to any outstanding past’ due
amounts. -

The company offers discounts and rebates, which are accounted for as reductions to revenue in the period in
which the sale is recognized. Discounts offered inciude: cash discounts for prompt payment, base and trade
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INVACARE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Accounting Policies — Continued

discounts based on contract level for specific classes of customers. Volume discounts and rebates are given based on
large purchases and the achievement of certain sales volumes. Product returns are accounted for as a reduction to
Teported sales with estimates recorded for anticipated returns at the tlme of sale. The company does not sell any”
goods on consignment. .

Distributed products sold by the company are accounted for in accordance with EITF No. 99-19 Reporting
Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an Agent. The company records distributed product sales gross as a
principal since the company takes title to the products and has the risks of loss for collections, delivery and returns.

Product sales'that' give rise to installment receivables are recorded at the time' of sale when the risks and
rewards of ownership are transferred. In December 2000, the company entered into an agreement with DLL, a third
party financing company, to provide the majority of future lease financing to Invacare customers. As such, interest
income is recognized based on the terms of the instaliment agreements. Installment accounts are monitored and if a
customer defaults on payments, interest income is no-longer recogmzed All installment accounts are accounted for
using the same methodology, regardless of duration of the installment agreements -

Research and Develdpment: 'Research and development costs are expensed as incurred and included in cost
of products sold. The company’s annual expenditures for product development and engineering were approximately
$22,146,000, $23,247,000, and $21,638,000 for 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

Advertising:  Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and included in selling, general and administrative
expenses. The company has a co-op advertising program in which the company reimburses customers up to 50% of
their costs of qualifying advertising expenditures. Invacare product, brand logos and corporate spokesperson,
Arnold Palmer, must appear in all advertising, Invacare requires customers to submit proof of advertising with their
claims for reimbursement. The company’s cost of the program is included in SG&A expense in the consolidated
statement of operations at the time the liability is estimated.. Reimbursement is made on an annual basis and within
3 months of submission and approval of the documentation. The company receives monthly reporting from those in
the program of their qualified advertising dollars spent and accrues based upen information received. Advertising
expenses amounted to $24,214,000, $26,621,000 and $g4,999,000 for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, the
majority of which i incurred for advertising in the United States.

Stock-Based Compensation Plans: Prior to the company's adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard No. 123 (Revised 2004) Share Based Payment (“SFAS 123R”), the company accounted for options under
its stock-based compensation plans using the intrinsic value method pmscnbed in Accountmg Principles Board
Opinion (APBO) No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related Interpretations. Only compensation
cost related to restricted stock awards granted without cost was reflected in net earnings, as all other options
awarded were granted at exercise prices equal to the market value of the underlying stock on the date of grant.

Effective January 1, 2006, the company adopted SFAS No, 123R using the modified prospective application
method. Under the modified prospective method, compensation cost was recognized for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2006 for: 1) all stock-based payments granted subsequent to January 1, 2006 based upon the grant-
date fair value calculated in accordance with SFAS No. 123R; and 2) all stock-based payments granted prior to, but
not vested as of, January 1, 2006 based upon grant-date fair value as calculated for previously presented pro forma
footnote disclosures in accordance with the criginal provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock Based
Compensation. The amounts of stock-based compensation expense recognized were as follows (in thousands):

' . ' . s . . 2006 205 2004

* Stdck-based compensation expense recognized as part of sellmg, general - ' ,
and administrative expense .. ............ ...ttt $1,587 %881 %812




INVACARE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Accounting Policies — Continued

The 2006 amounts above reflect compensation expense related to restricted stock awards and nonqualified
stock options awarded under the 2003 Performance Plan. The 2005 and 2004 amounts reflect compensation expense
recognized for restricted stock awards only, before SFAS No. 123R was adopted. Stock-based compensation is not”
allocated to the business segments, but is reported as part of All Other as shown in the company’s Business Segment
Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

As aresult of adopting SFAS No. 123R on January 1, 2006, the comf)any s earnings (loss) before income taxes
and net earnings (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2006 are 5(51 1,000) and $ (332,000) lower, respectively,
than if it had continued to account for share-based compensatlon under APBO No. 25. Basic and diluted eamings
(loss) per share for the year ended December 31, 2006 are $0.01 lower than if the company had continued io account
for share-based compensation under APBO No. 25. ) R '

s

Pursuant to the modified prospectivé application method, results for periods prior to January 1, 2006 have not
been restated to reflect the effects of adopting SFAS No. '123R. The pro forma information below is presented for
comparative purposes, as required by SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and
Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123, to illustrate the pro forma effect on net earnings and related
earnings per share for 2005 and 2004; as if the company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of
SFAS No. 123 to stock-based compensatlon for those years,(m thousands):

2005 2004

Net earnings, as TePOTted . . . . .. ..ottt iite e s $ 48,852  $75,197
Add: Stock-based compensation_ expense 1ncluded ln reponed earnings, net of " B . .,
tax ($308 and $284, respectively) .. ....... R 5373 528
Deduct: Total stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value-
. based method for all awards, net of tax ($7 993 and $2,559, respectlvely) (14,845) 4,754
Adjusted net earnings .. ...... b et e e e e .. $34,580 - $70,971
-Net earnings per share: : " - ‘
Basic —asreported. . . ........... P AT e .. % 155§ 24l
Basic — as adjusted for stockibased'compen'éation expense. . ... .. . .". .. % L0 3 228
Diluted—asreported.......................: ................ $ 151 § 233
Diluted — as adjusted for stock-based compensation expense . .......... $ 107 § 219

On December 21, 2005, the company’s Board of Directors, based on the recommendation of the Compen-
sation, Management Development and Corporate Govemance Committee, approved the acceleration of the vesting
for substantially all of our unvested stock options, which were then underwater. The Board of Directors decided to
approve the acceleration of the vesting of these stock options primarily to partially offset certain reductions in other
benefits made by the company and to provide additional incentive to those employees critical to our cost reduction
efforts.

The decision, which was effective as of December 21, 2003, accelerated the vesting for a total of 1,368,307
options on the company’s' common shares, including 646,100 shares underlying options held by the company’s
named executive officers. The stock options accelerated equated to 29% of the company’s total outstanding stock
options. Vesting was not accelerated for the restricted stock awards granted under the company’s stock-based
compensation plans and no other modifications were made to the awards that were accelerated. The exercise prices
of the accelerated options, all of which wére underwater, were unchanged by the acceleration of the vesting
schedules. All of the company’s outstanding unvested options under our stock-based compensation plans which
were accelerated, had exercise prices ranging from $30.91 to $47.80 which were greater than our stock market price
of $30.75 as of the effective date of the acceleration. : -
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INVACARE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Accounting Policies — Continued

Income Tuxes: The company uses the liability method in measuring the provision for income taxes and
recognizing deferred tax assets-and liabilities on the balance sheet. The liability method requires that deferred
income taxes reflect the tax consequences of currently enacted rates for differences between the tax and financial
reporting bases of assets and liabilities. Undistributed earnings of the company’s foreign subsidiaries are considered
to be indefinitely reinvested and, accordingly, no provision for United States federal income taxés has been
provided. The amount of the unrecognized deferred tax liability for temporary differences related to mvestments in
foreign subsidiaries that are permanenlly reinvested is not practically determinable.

Derivative Instruments: The company recognizes its derivative instruments as assets or liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheet measured at fair value. A majority of the company’s derivative instruments are
designated and qualify as cash flow hedges. Accordingly, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivarive
instrument is reported as a component of other comprehensive income and reclassified into earnings in the same
period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. The remaining gain or loss on the derivative
instrument in excess of the cumulative change in the fair valve of the hedged item, if any, is recognized in current
earnings during the period of change. The derivatives designatéd as fair value hedges are perfectly effective; thus,
the entire gain or loss associated with the derivative mstrument dlreclly affects the value of the debt by increasing or
decreasmg its carrymg valuc

The company was a party to interest rate swap agreemerts dunng the year that qualified as fair value hedges
and effectively converted ﬁxed rate debt to ﬂoatmg—rate debt, so the company could avoid paymg higher than
market interest rates. -

The company also had interest rate swap agreements, which expired in 2004, that qualified as cash flow hedges
and effectively converted $20,000,000 of its floating-rate debt to a fixed-rate basis, thus reducing the impact of
interest-rate changes on future interest expense. The company recognized a net loss of $696,000 in 2006 and net
gains of $1,230,000 and $4,577,000, respectively, related to its swap agreements in 20035 and 2004, whlch is
reflected in mterest expense on the consolidated statemem of operations.

To protect against increases/decreases in forecasted foreign currency cash flows resulting from inventory
purchases/sales over the next year, the company utilizes cash flow hedges to hedge portions of its forecasted
purchases/sales denominated in foreign currencies. The company recognized a net loss of $240,000 and $280,000 in
2006 and in 2005, respectively and a net gain in 2004 of $6,961,000, on foreign currency cash flow hedges. The
gains and losses are included in cost of products sold and selling, general and administrative expenses on the
consolidated statement of operations. '

The company recognized no gain or loss related to hedge ineffectiveness or discontinued cash flow hedges. If it
is later determined that a hedged forecasted transaction is unlikely to occur, any gains or losses on the forward
contracts would be reclassified from other comprehensive income into earnings. The company does not expect this
to occur during the next twelve months. '

Foreign Currency Translation: The functional currency of the company’s subsidiaries outside the United
States is the applicable local currency. The assets and liabilities of the company’s foreign subsidiaries are translated
into U.S. dollars at year-end exchange rates. Revenues and expenses are translated at weighted average exchange
rates. Gains and losses resulting from translation are included in accumulated other comprehensive eami@s (loss).

Net Earnings Per Share: Basic earnings per share are computed based on the weighted-average number of
Common Shares and Class B Common Shares outstanding during the year. Diluted eamings per share are computed
based on the weighted-average number of Common Shares and Class B Common Shares outstanding plus the
effects of dilutive stock options outstanding during the year.
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INVACARE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Accounting Policies — Continued

Recent Accounting Pronouncements: In September 2006, the Financial- Accounting Standards Board, or
“FASB.” issued FASB Statement No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other
Postretirement Plans — an Amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 123(R) (“FAS 158”). FAS 158
requires plan sponsors to recognize the funded status of the benefit in its statement of financial position, measure the
fair value of plan assets and benefit obligations as of the balance sheet date and provide additional disclosures. On
December 31, 2006, the company adopted the recognition and disclosure provisions of FAS 158. The effect of
adopted FAS 158 on the company’s financial condition at December 31, 2006 has been included in the 2006
consolidated financial statements and did not have an effect on the company’s financial condition at December 31,
2005 or 2004 and did not effect the company’s consolidated statement of operations for 2006, 2005, or 2004. The
adoption of FAS 158 resulted in a decrease of $14,940,000 on a pre-tax and after-tax basis on the company’s
accumulated other comprehensive earnings (loss). See Retirement and Benefit Plans Note for further discussion on
the effect of adopting FAS: 158 on the company’s consolidated financial statements.

In 2006, Lhe company deterrmned that the reported December 31, 2005 accumulated benefit for the company’s
non-qualified defined benefit Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP)} was understated by $2,941,000
($1,912,000 after-tax) as the result of accounting errors in which recorded -expense in prior years was netted by
SERP benefit payments. The company assessed the error amounts considering SEC staff published Staff Account-
ing Bulletin No. 99, Materiality, as well as SEC staff published Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, Considering the
Effects of Prior Year Misstatements When Quantifving Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements, or
“SAB 108. The error was not deemed to be material to any prior period reported financial statements, but was
deemed material in the current year. Accordingly, the company recorded the correction of the understatement.of
expense as an ad}uslrnem to beginning retained earnings pursuant to the special transition provnsmn detailed in
SAB 108. ‘

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Intérpretauon No 48, Accounting for Uncerramry in Income Taxes, an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, or “FIN 48.” FIN 48 prescribes recognition and measurement of a tax
position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return as well as guidance regarding . derecognmon classification,
interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2006, thus January 1, 2007 for Invacare. The company will adopt the standard as of
the effective date and currently does not believe the adoption will have a material impact on the company’s financial
position or future results.

Rec!as'siﬁcdtions.' Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior yeafs’ consolidated financial
statements to conform to the presentation used for the year endeéd December 31, 2006. )

Receivables . .

Accounts receivable are reduced by an altowance for amounts that may become uncollectible in the future.
Substantially all of the company's receivables are due from health care, medical equipment dealers and long term
care facilities located throughout the United States, Australia, Canada, New Zealand and Europe. A significant
portion of products sold to dealers, both foreign and domestic, is ultimately funded through government reim-
bursement programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. In addition, the company has seen a significant shift in
reimbursement 1o customers from managed care entities. As a consequence, changes in these programs can have an
adverse impact on dealer liquidity and profitability. The estimated allowance for uncollectibie amounts
($35,591,000 in 2006 and $12,470,000 in 2005) is based primarily on management’s evaluation of the financial
condition of the customer. The increase in the allowance for uncollectible accounts in 2006 compared to 2005 is
primarily the result of the company recording additional allowances due to the increased collectibility risk to the
company resulting from changes in Medicare reimbursement regulations, specifically changes to the qualification
processes and reimbursement levels of power wheelchairs. The company has reviewed the accounts receivables
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INVACARE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Receivables — Continued

- e " . Gl . .
associated with many of it’s customers that are most exposed to these issues. The company is also working with
certain of its customers in an effort to help them reduce costs, including product line consolidations and introduction
of simplified pricing. In addition, the company has also implementing tighter credit policies with many of these
accounts. . |

On September 30, 2005, the company entered into a 364-day $100 million accounts receivable securitization
facility. The Recewables Purchase Agreement (the “Receivables Agreement”), provides for, among other things,
the transfer from time to time by Invacare and certain of its subsidiaries of ownership interests of certain domestic
accounts receivable on a revolving basis to the bank conduit, an asset-backed issuer of commercial paper, and/or the
financial institutions named in the Receivables Agreement. Pursuant to the Receivables Agreement, the company
and certain of its sub51d1anes from time to time may fransfer accounts receivable to Invacare Receivables
Corporation (IRC), a special purpose entity and subsidiary of Invacare. IRC then transfers interests in the
receivables to the Conduit and/or the financial institutions named in the Receivables Agreement and receives
funds from the conduit and/or the financial institutions raised through the issuance of commercial paper (in its own
name}) by the conduit and/or the financial institutions. In accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted ‘Accounting
Principles (GAAP), Invacare accounts for the transaction as a secured borrowing. Borrowings under the facility are
effectively repaid as receivables are collected, with new borrowings created as additional receivables are sold. As of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, Invacare had $71,750,000 and $79,351,000, respectively, in borrowings pursuant to
the securitization facility at a borrowing rate of approximately 6.1% in 2006 and 4.6% in 2005. The initial
borrowings were used to reduce balances outstanding on Invacare’s revolving credit facility. The debt is reflected on
the short-term debt ‘and current maturities of long-term obligations line of the consolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2006 and'2005.

Instaliment receivables as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 consist of the following (in thousands):

2006 2005
AR s - Long- - Long- -

i . Current Term Total Current Term | Total
Installment recelvab]es ........... $9077 $18991 328,068 $23630 %162 $23,79
Less: . Y ,

Uneamed inferg:st e (1,401) (1,738) (3,139) @n (16 . (87)
Allowahce for doubtful accounts . . (579  (1,463) (2,042) (10,624) —  (10,624)

$7.097 $15790 $22,887 $12,935 $146 $ 13,081

The decrease in the’ allowance for doubtful accounts in'2006 was the result of the write-off of accounts
receivable for which collection efforts were exhausted. ‘ ‘

In addition, as a result of the third party financing arrangement with DLL, management monitors the collection
status of these contracts in accordance with the company’s limited recourse obligations and provides amounts
necessary for estimated losses in the allowance for doubtful accounts. See Concentration of Credit Risk in the Notes
to the Consclidated Financial Statements for a description of the financing arrangement. Long term installment
receivables are mcluded in “Other Asscts“ on the consohdated balance sheet.

Yo v, . [
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INVACARE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
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Inventories

e » ~

Inventories as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 consist of the following (in thousands): .

o 4 . v .. 2006 . 2005 ,
Finished goods . ....... e ..., .. U el "$118,323 - $100,337
Raw Materials . . . . . oottt e e it e e e 66,718 59,888
Work in process . ............. e e e e . 16715 16,700
: T T 801756 8176925
Other Current Assets = =, , . . . . .

Other current assets as of Décémber 31, 2006 and 2005 consist of the following (in thdusé.nds):
. " . . A r e -
2006 2005

- . . : Lo C o
Value added taxes receivable:......)........ L Lo, $43.264 0 3315125
' Prepaids and other current assets . . ... ... ... . ... S S DR 46,130 32,204

o : : ; .. $89394 $63329 .

Loet . . . ' *

Property And Equlpment . ‘ - - . !

Property and equ1pmcm as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 consist of the followmg (in thousands)

-, 2006 . 2005
Machinery and equipment . . ... ... ..o e, e .. $276,062 % 252,545
Land, buildings and improvements ............ ... ... .. ... 0., 86,544 84,031
Furniture and fixtures . .............. e 29,609 28,788
Leasehold improvements .. . . ... ..ocvoennnnionnn.un e 15,943 15,194
o 408,158 380,558

Less allowance for depreciation. . ... ...t eaeenn (234,213)  (204,352)
| ' o . . $173945 $ 176,206

Acquisitions
In 2006, Invacare Corporation acquired the following businesses, which were individually immaterial and in
the aggregate, at a total cost of $15,296,000, which was paid in cash: - '

» . Home Health Equipment Pty Ltd (HHE)}, an Australian based company, and leading supplier of medical

. equipment in South Australia, providing high quality equipment and service to institutions and individual

clients selling the full range of rehabililalion mobility and continuing care products

« Morris Surgical Pty Ltd (Moms) an Auslrahan based company, "and 2 leadlng suppller of medical
equipment in Queensland, provndmg high quahty equipment and service to institutions and individual
clients selling the full range of rehabilitation, mobility, continuing care products as well as niche and made
to order products.

On September 9, 2004 the company acquired 100% of the shares of WP Domus GmbH (Domus), a European-
based holding company that manufactures several complementary product lines to Invacare’s product lines,
including power add-on products, bath lifts and walking aids, from WP Domus LLC. Domus has three divisions:

F5-14




INVACARE CORPORATION ANb SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (ébntinrled)

Acquisitions — Continued

Alber, Aquatec and Dolomite. The acquisition allows the company to-expand its product line and reach new
markets. The final purchase price was $226 806,000, including acquisition costs of $4,116,000, which' was paid in

cash. .

In accordance with EITF Issue No, 95-3, Recognition of Liabilities in Connection with a Purchase Business
Combination, the company previously recorded accruals for severance and exit costs for. facility, closures and
contract terminations. A progression of the accruals recorded in the purchase price allocation is as follows (in
thousands):

Exit of * Sales Agency

o Severance  Product Lines  Terminations

Balance at 1/1/05. ... ... oot $ 561 $ — 0 85—
Additional aceruals. . ................. e 4,445 897 7 612
PPAYMENTS . - ... [P (1957 | __ — . (612)

" Balance at 12/31005 . . . . .. P 3049 897 -
AQUSIMENES . . . . e (1,285 (897 —_—
Payments . . ........ P A (566) — =
Balance at 12/31/06 ... ...... e e PR $ 1,198 § — § —

+

The company antu:lpates all of the remaining reserves to be utilized in’ 2007. The adjustments represent
reversals to goodwill for accruals not to be utilized. o
, . . . . 1
Goodwill . o

The carrying amount of goodwill by operating segment is as follows (in thousands):

North Invacare Supply - Institutional o

. Americas/ HME Group Products Group Europe Asia/Pacific  Consolidated
Balance at-January 1, 2005 ... .. $ 313,327 . $ . - . $ — $390,611 514,026 + $717,964
Acquisitions . . . ............. . 142937 C— — 22,481 - 8984 45,758 .
Foreign currency translation: . ) ‘ Co ' T

adjustments. . .. ........... 4,313 —_ — {45,941) -(1,226) {42,849)
Balance at December 31, 2005. . . 331,938 - — 367,151 21,784 . 720,873
Acquisitions. . .. ............ e pp— . — — - 8,081 -~ 8,081
Foreign currency translation . T - .

.adjustments.,. .. ......... e 43066 ) —_ - 51,983 - 1964 - 587313

Purchase accounting : : :

adjustments. . .. ... [ — - = , — 2182y . - = . (2,182)
Re-allocatton . ... ........... (41,648) 23,541 18,107 — — —
Impairment charge ........... (294,656) — — — — (294,656)
Balance at December 31,2006 ... § — $23,541 $18,107 $416,952 $31,829 $ 490,429

As a resutt of the HHE and Morris acquisitions in 2006, additional goodwill of $8,081,000 was recorded none
of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. -

In the fourth quarter of 2006, the company expanded its number of reporting segments from three to five due to
organizational changes within the former North American geographic operating segment and changes in how the
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‘ INVACARE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Contiriued)

Goodwill — Continued

chief operating decision maker assesses performance and makes resource allocation decmons Accordingly, under
the provisions of SFAS No.' 142, the company allocated a portion of the goodwill related to the former North
American reporting ‘unit in 2006 based upon the relative fair values of each of the three reporting units now
comprising North America.

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, goodwill is subject to annual impairment testing. For purposes of Step I of
the impairment test, the fair value of each reporting unit is estimated by forecasting cash flows and discounting
those cash flows using appropriate discount rates. The fair values are then compared to the carrying value of the net
assets of each reporting unit. Step II of the impairment test requires a more detailed assessment of the fair values
associated with the net assets of a reporting unit that fails the Step I test, including a review for impairment in
accordance withl SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (“SFAS 144”).
Pursuant to SFAS No. 144, the company compared the forecasted un-discounted cashflows for each facility in the
North America/HME segment to the carrying value of the net assets associated with a given facility, which
calculated no impairment of any other long-lived assets. As a result of reduced profitability in the NA/HME
operating segment and uncertainty associated with future market conditions, the company recorded an impairment
charges related to goodwill in the North America/HME segment of $294,656,000 in the fourth quarter of 2006.

The impairment of goodwill in the NA/HME operating segment was primarily the result of reduced
government reimbursement levels and changes in reimbursement policies, which negatively affected revenues
and profitability in the NA/HME operating segment. The changes announced by the Centers for Medicare and
Medicaid Services, or “CMS,” affected eligibility, documentation, codes, and payment rules relating to.power
wheelchairs impacted the predictability of reimbursement of expenses for and access to power wheelchairs and
created uncertainty in the market place, thus decreasing purchases. Effective November 15, 2006, the CMS reduced
the maximum reimbursement amount for power wheelchairs under Medicare by up to 28%. The reduced
reimbursement levels may cause consumers to choose less expensive versions of the company’s power wheelchairs.,

NA/HME sales of respiratory products were also negatively affected by the changes in 2006. Small and
independent provider sales declined as these dealers slowed their purchases of the company’s HomeFill™ oxygen
system product line, in part, until they had a clearer view of future oxygen reimbursement levels. Furthermore, a
study issued by the Office of Inspector General or “OIG,” in September 2006 suggested that $3.2 billion in savings
could be achieved over five years by reducing the reimbursed rental period from three years (the reimbursement
period under current law) to 13 months. The uncertainty created by these announcements continues to negatively
impact the home oxygen equipment market, particularly for those providers considering changing to the
HomeFill™ oxygen system. A

+

Medicare will also institute a new competitive bidding program for various items in ten as yet unidentified of
the largest metropolitan areas late in 2007, This program is designed to reduce Medicare payment levels for items
that the Medicare program spends the most money on under the home medical equipment benefit. This new
program will likely eliminate some providers from the competitive bidding markets, because only those providers
who are chosen to participate (based largely on price) will be able to provide beneficiaries with items included in the
bid. Medicare will be expanding the program to an additional 80 metropolitan areas in 2009.
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INVACARE CORPORA;I‘IOSI AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — {Continued)

Other Intangibles

All of the company’s other intangible assets have definite lives and contimie to be’amortized over their useful
lives, except for $33,034,000 related to trademarks which have mdeﬁmle lives. The company’s mtanglbles consist
of the following (in thousands):” ' v

- +

December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005

’ - Historical Accumulated Historical ~ Accumulated

! - ‘ Cost * Amortization Cost Amortization
Customer Lists........................ $ 71,106  $14373  $ 64218  $ 8270
Trademarks . ...........ooenn e 330340 T — 30246 —
License agreements . . . ........... L. 8149 . 6384 7,564 5,821
- Developed Technology ...... e el 6819 940 6,260 . 487
Patens. . . .ov i b e e e -6631 . 13869 . 12414 2,690

OMher. ..ot 8005 - 4205 7876 - 3193

$133,744 $29,771 $128,578 $20.461

Intangibles recorded as the result of acquisitions during 2006 were as follows (in thousands): .

. Welghteﬂ Average
N ’ ’ Fair Value = Amortization Period
o) . . .

éu.stomer relationships. . .. ................. P e $1,941 6 years
Non-Compete Agreements. ... .... e 134 3 years
41 e 82075

Amomzatlon expense related to other intangibles was $9,311,000 and $9,307,000 for 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Estimated amortization expense for each of the next five years is expected to be. $8,622,000 for
2007, $8,186,000 in 2008, $7,944,000 in 2009, $7,559,000 in 2010 and $7,283,000 in 2011.

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, the company reviews intangibles for impairment. For purposes of the
impairment test, the fair value of each unamortized intangible is estimated by forecasting cash flows and
discounting those cash flows using appropriate discount rates. For amortized intangibles, the forecasted un-
discounted cash flows were compared to the carrying value, and if impairment results, the impairment is measured
based on the estimated fair value of the intangibles. The fair values are then compared to the carrying value of the
intangible. As a result of the company’s 2006 intangible impairment review, an impairment charge of $160,000 was
recorded associated with a trade name and a charge of $5,601,000 was recorded related to the intangible recorded
associated with NeuroControl, See Investment in Affiliated Company in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements included in this report below. The company has recorded a material amount of intangibles as the result of
acquisitions which may become impaired if performance assumptions, primarily related to sales and operating cash
flows estimates, made at the time of originally valuing the intangibles are not achieved. .

o ‘ o - S oo YT . i

Investment in Affiliated Company' '

FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (FIN 46), which was revised in
December 2003 and, requires consolidation of an entity if the company is subject to a majority of the risk of loss
from the variable interest entity’s (VIE) activities or entitled to receive a majority of the entity’s residual returns, or
both. A company that consolidates a VIE is known as the primary beneficiary of that entity.
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INVACARE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Investment in Affiliated Company — Continued

The company consolidates NeuroControl, a development stage company, which is currently pursuing
FDA approval to market a product focused on the treatment of post-stroke shoulder pain in the United States.
Certain of the company’s officers and directors (or their affiliates) have small minority equity ownership positions
in NeuroControl. Based on the provisions of FIN 46 and the company’s analysis, the company determined that it
was the primary beneficiary of this VIE as of Yanuary 1, 2005 due to the company board of directors' approval of
additional funding in 2005. Accordingly, the company consolidated this investment on a prospective basis since
January 1, 2005 and recorded an intangible asset for patented technology of $7,003,000. The other beneficial
interest holders have no recourse against the company.

In the fourth quarter of 2006, the company’ § board of directors made a decision to no longer fund the cash
needs of NeuroControl, to commence a liquidation proccss and cease operations as it was decided that the additional
investment necessary to commercialize the business was not in the best interest of the company. Therefore, funding
of this investment ceased on December 31, 2006. As a result of this decision, the company established a valuation
reserve telated to the NeuroControl intangible asset of $5,601,000 to fully reserve against the patented technology
intangible as it was deemed to be impaired,

Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 consist of the following (in thousands):

2006 2005
Accrued taxes other than income taxes, primarily Value Added Taxes. ... .. $ 43,899 % 30,955
Accrued salaries and Wages . . ... ... e 31,970' ‘ 29,681
Accrued Warranty Cost. .. ... ... .. e 15,165 15,583
Accrued interest . .. ... DS PP 10,893 - 5,180
‘Accruedrebates................._. ........................... 8,356 9434
" Accrued legal and professional .................... ..., e L. 8222 6,077
Accrued SEVErance. . . @ ..o it e e e e ) 6,457 6,153
Accrued freight . . .. ... ... . . 4278 4,144
Accrued product liability, current portion . . ........ e 3,296 2,657
Accrued insurance. . .. ...... . ... R T 2,258 2,519
Accrued derivative liability . .. . .. P e e 435 2,330
Othef accrued items, principally trade accruals. . . ... .. .. e e - . 12,547 15,320

'$147,776  $130,033
Accrued rebates relate to several volume incentive programs the company offers its customers. The company
accounts for these rebates as a reduction of revenue when the products are sold in accordance with the guidance in
EITF No. 01-09, Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a Reseller of the
Vendor's Products). The company has experienced significant pricing pressure in the U.S. market for standard
products in recent years and has partially reduced prices to our customers in the form of a volume rebate such that
the rebates would typically apply only if customers increased their standard product purchases from the company.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Current Liabilities — Continued

Changes in accrued wa}ranty costs were as"_ follows (in thousands):

2006 2005
Balance as of January 1..... '. e L e . SRR $ 15,583  $13.998
Warranties prov;ded dunng theperiod ....................... .. 9,175 9.811
Settlements made during the period . . ... ... .. ... o . (10,252)  (8,93])
‘Changes in liability for pre-existing warranties during the penod 1nclud1ng ‘
-BXpll’ﬂthl‘lS......................................‘. ........... 659 705
. Batance as of December 31 r ............ $ 15,165 $15,583
Long-Term Debt N ‘
1.
Debt as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 consist of the following (in thousands):
1. PN : r ' ’ bl 2006 2005 '
Revolving credit agreement ($500,000,000 multl-cunency) at 0, 675% to
1.40% above local interbank offered rates, expues Janvary 14, 2010. .. .. $157.465 $264,828
$80,000,000 senior notes at 6.71%, due in February 2008. . ............. 80,000 80,553
$50,000,000 senior notes at 3.97%, due in October 2007 .........:..... 49,565 49,244
$30,000,000 senior notes at 4.74%, due in October 2009 ... .. .......... 30,000 30.339
$20,000,000 semor notes at 5.05%, due in October 2010 ... ... ........ 20,000 . 20,134
$150,000,000 senior notes at 6.15%, due in April 2016 ................ 150,000 —
Short-term borrowings secured by accounts receivable . ... ............. 71,750 79.351
Otherinotes and lease obligations. .". , ., e, e 14,346 13,532
| - S Lo 573,126 537,981
Less short-term borrowings secured I_Jy accounts reueiv'able ..... b e (11,750 0 (79,351)
Less current maturities of long-termdebt. . ......................... (52,493) (877)
.. 3448883 $457,753

IR
L o - c. e '

The carrying values of the aeniof notes have been adjusted by _fhe -,igbains/losses on the swaps accounted for as
fair value hedges.

4

- On November 6, 2006, the company determined that it was in violation of a financial covenant contained in
three Note Purchase Agreements between the company and various institutional lenders (the “Note Purchase
Agreements”). The Note Purchase Agreements relate to an aggrégate principal amount of $330 million in long-term
debt of the company. The financial covenant limits the ratio of consolidated debt to consolidated operating cash
flow. The company believed the limits were exceeded as a result of ‘borrowings by the company in early October,
2006 under its $500 million credit facxhty dated January 14, 2005 wnh various banks (the “Credit Facility™). The
violation of the covenant under the Note Purchase Agreements also may have constituted a default under both the
Credit Facility and the company 's separate $100 million trade receivables securitization fac111ty (collectively, all of
these loan facilities are referred to as the “Loan Facnlmes”} The ‘company obtained the necessary waivers of the
covenants that were violated. On February 12, 2007, the company announced the completion of its previously
announced reﬁnancmg transactions. The new ﬁnancmg program_ provndes the company with total capacity of
approximately $710 million, the net proceeds of which have been used to refinance substantially all of the
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Long-Term Debt — Continued .

company’s existing indebtedness and pay related fees and expenses. See Subsequent Events in the Notes to the’
Consolidated Financial Statements for an explanation of the details of the company’s new financing structure.

On April 27, 2006, the company consummated a new Senior Notes offering for $]SO mllhon at a fixed rate of
6.15% due April 27, 2016. The proceeds were used to reduce debt outstanding under the company ] $500 million
revolving credit facility.

On March 31, 2006, the cofhpany and the other parties to.its $500 million Credit Agreement dated as of
January 12, 2005, entered into certain amendments to the Agreement which among other things: (i) amended the
definitions of Adjusted EBITDA and EBIT under the Credit Agreement to clarify the treatment of restructuring
costs under the Credit Agreement, and (ii) amended the definition of Consolidated Interest Expense under thé Credit
Agreement to exclude any interest accrued under any Trade Receivables Securitization Transaction permitted
pursuant to Section 5.2(n) of the Credit Agreement.

-+
On January 14, 2005, the company entered into a $450,000,000 multi-currency, long-term revolving credit
agreement which was increased on April 4, 2005 by $50,000,000 to an aggregate amount ‘of $500,000,000 and
expires on January 14, 2010. The facility provides that Invacare, may, upon consent of its lenders, increase the
amount of the facility by an additional $50,000,000. The new agreement replaced the $325,000,000 multi-currency,
long-term revolving credit agreement entered into in 2001 and a $100,000,000 bridge agreement enlered into in
2004. R

Borrowings denominated in foreign currencies aggregated $115,964,000 at December 31, 2006 and
$131,464,000 at December 31, 2005. The borrowing rates under. the revolving credit agreement are determined
based on the ratio of debt to EBITDA of the company as defined in the agreement and range from 0.35% to .675%
above the various interbank offered rates. As of December 31 2006 and 2005 the welghted average floating interest

rate on borrowings was 5.90% and 4.53%, respectively.

‘ . N :
The revolving credit agreement and senior notes all require the company to maintain certain conditions with
respect to net worth, funded debt to capita.lization, and interest coverage as defined in the agreements. Under the
most restrictive covenant of the company’s borrowing arrangements, the company was at its maximum borrowing
capacity as of December 31, 2006 pursuant to the covenants of the company ] $500 000,000 multi- currency, long—
term revolving credit agreement. :

In October 2003, the company exchanged the fixed rates of 3.97%, 4.74% and 5.05% on the $50,000,000,
$30.000.000 and $20,000,000 Senior Notes due in October 2007, October 2009 and October 2010 for variable rates
based on LIBOR plus 0.01%; LIBOR plus 0.14% and LIBOR plus 0.26%, respectively. The effect of these swaps

+ was to exchange fixed rates for floating rates. In November 2005, the $30,000,000 and $20,000,000 swaps,
exchanging fixed rates of 4.74% and 5.05% for variable rates, were terminated. In December 2006, the $50,000,000
swaps were de- de51gnated as hedges as the associated debt was to be paid off as part of the company’s
recapitalization, which was“completed in February 2007. R . - .

In December 2001, the company exchanged the fixed rate of 6.71% on $50,000,000 of the $80,000, 000 in
Senior Notes due in February 2008. The three agreements for $25,000,000, $15,000,000 and $10,000, 000
exchanged the fixed rate for variable rates equal to 'LIBOR plus 1.9%, 1.71% and 1. 62%, respectlvely In January
2002, the company exchanged the ﬁxed rale of 6.71% on the remaining $30,000,000 of the $80, 000.000 in Senior
Notes due in February 2008. The two agreements for $10 000,000 and $20,000,000 exchanged the fixed rate for
variable rates equal to LIBOR plus 1.05% and 1.08%, respectxvely and were terminated in August 20006. All losses
associated with the terminations of fair value- hedge swaps have been amortized over the remalmng life of the
previously hedged debt using the effectwe yield method:
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Long-Term Debt — Continued

The aggregate minimum maturities of long-term debt for each of the next five years are as follows:
$52,493,000 in 2007, $80,884;,000 in 2008, $30,896,000"in 2009,$178,219,000' in 2010, and $789,000 in
2011. Interest paid on borrowmgs was $28, 723 000 $29 0]7 000 and $lS 348 000 in 2006 2005 and 2004
respectwely N

o 5 : (R AR | . . t‘_ ’ FURT P R | oLt H
Other Long-Term Obligations . S S e . qoa
; ) ) L b, - . 1 1 s - R St .
0ther long-term obhgauons as of December 31 2006 and 2005 consist of the followmg (m thousands)

"‘t)t!};""‘-. IR el Ty R

2006 " 2005
Supplementai Executlve Retirement Plan hablhty ...................... $ 33251 314962
. Product liability ... ...%. . ... ... L PG S PR -0 19,335 0 18,292
'« Deferred federal income taxes'. . v, .. ...l L SELLETN L .' 134593 27792
Other, prmc1pa.lly deferred compensatlon el ;'i".':. R '“' S0 21,049 18,578
, TR S & T I '
Total long-term obhganons Moo - $108,228 1, $79,624

Leases and (;,oin‘llnit.mén'ﬁs

The company leases a substantial portion of its facilities, transportatlon eqmpment data processing equipment
and certain other equipment, These leases have terms of up to 14 years and provide for renewal options. Generally,
the company is required to pay taxes and normal expenses of operating the facilities and equipment:' As of
December 31, 2006, the company is committed under non-cancelable operating leases, which have initial or

remaining terms in excess of one year and expire on various dates through 2015. Lease expenses were approx-
1mately $21,302,000 in 2006, $18,718,000 in 2005, and $18, 663 ,000 in 2004.

, The amount of bu11dmgs and equlpment eapttallzed in connectlon with capital leases was $17,072,000 and
$15, 592 000 at December, 31, 2006 and 2005, respecuve]y At December 31, 2006 and 2005, accumulated
amomzanon was $5, 461 OOO and $4 505 000 respectwely .y

'Futire nummum operatmg and capital’ lease comrmtments as of December 31 2006 are as follow (in

thousands) COa T e . oo ‘ .
Year t ' Capltal Leases  Operating Leases
2007 .......nnn R U $ 1,876 $17.448
20080 LT ST L 1,719 11,530

[N L T :

2009 s e Sl 1643 6030
2010%......... Vo PRI U ST 1421 0 2976
7/1) § LU, SO S 1,391 Y 2,498
Thereafter ......... e B O S 10,625 3107
Total future minimum lease payments. . . .. .of vie v o vt e e u s, 18,675 . - $43:589
Amounts representmg mterest. e SR ;: A .'.f.'."-._ S oot ea00)
. - 1 PR L A T - e e
Present value of minimum lease payments ................... - $12,375
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Retirement and Benefit Plans

h-‘S‘ubstagltially all full-time salaried a;nd hourly domestic employees are included in the Invacare Retirement
Savings Plan. sponsored by the company. The company makes'matching cash contributions up -to 66.7% of
employees’ contributions up to 3% of compensation, quarterly contributions based upon 4% of qualified wages and
may make discretionary contributions to the domestic plans based on an annual resolution of the Board of Directors.

The company sponsors a Deferred Compensation Plus Plan covering certain employees, which"p!rbvides.for
elective deferrals and the company retirement deferrals so that the total retirement deferrals equal amounts that
would have contributed to the company’s principal retiremnent plans if it were not for limitation imposed by income
tax regulations. Contribution expense for the above plans in 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $5,514,000, $5,811,000, and
$5,860,000, respectlvely .

The company also sponsors a non- quahﬁed defined beneﬁt Supplemental Executive Renrement Plan (SERP)
for certain key executives. The projected benefit obligation related to this unfunded plan was $33,676,000 and
$31,071,000 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and the accumulated benefit obligation was $20,236,000
and $15,386,000 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively based upon estimated salary increases of 5%, an
assumed discount rate of 6.75% and a retirement age of 65. Expense for the plan in 2006, 2005 and 2004 was
$2,861,000, $2,439,000, and $2,278,000, respectively of which $1,407,000, $1,278,000 and $1,211,000 was related
to interest cost. Benefit payments in 2006, 2005 and 2004 were $952,000, $424,000, and $_424,0Q0, respectively.

In conjunction with these non-qualified plans, the company has invested in life insurance policies related to
certain employees to satisfy these future obligations. The current cash surrender value of these policies approx-.
_imates the current benefit obhgatlons In addition, the prOJected policy benefits exceed the- prcuected beneﬁt
obligations. ‘ - ! : L
On December 31, 2006,-the company adopted the recognition and dlsclosure provxslons of FAS 158, which
required the company to recognize the funded status (i.¢., the difference between the fair valie of plan assets and the
projected benefit obligations) of its SERP and the Death Benefit Only (DBO) Plan in the December 31, 2006
consolidated balance sheet, with a corresponding adjustment to accumulated other comprehenswe earmngs t}et of
tax. The incremental effects of adoptmg the provisions of FAS 158 on the company’s balance sheet at December 31,
2006 are presented in the following table. The adoption of FAS 158 bad no effect on i company ’s consolidated
statement of operations for the year.ended December 31, 2006,.or for any prior period presented, and it will not
effect the company’s operating results in future perlods The incremental effect of adopting FAS 158 on the
company’s balance sheet at December 31, 2006 is as follows (in thousands):

At December 31, 2006

- ‘ Prior to Effect of "As Réported

. . Application of Adopting at December, 31,
. ’ ‘ Statement 158  Statement 158 2006 |
Accrued SERP liability . . ..................... $20236 $ 13,440 $33,676 |
DBO Plan liability . R 46.1 1,500 1,961,
Accuntu}ated other comprehensive eamings. .. ..... '$114,128 $(14,940) $99,188 .

The SERP liability includes a current portion included in accrued expenses and the long-term portion, which is
included in other long term obligations in the company’s consolidated balance sheet. As a result of the adoption of
FAS 158, deferred federal i income taxes of $5,229,000 have been recorded and a full valuatlon allowance has been
recorded as well. S S -
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Shareholders’ Equity Transactions

The company’s Common Shares have a $ 25 stated value. The Common Shares and the Class B Common
Shares generally have identical nghts terms and conditions and vote together as a single class.on.most issues,
except that the Class B Common Shares have ten votes per share carry a.10% lower cash dividend rate and, in
general, can only be transferred to family members. Holders of Class B Common Shares are entitled to convert therr
shares into Common Shares at any time on a share-for-share basis.

The 2003 Performance Plan (the “2003 Plan™) allows the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors
(the “Committee”) to grant up to 3,800,000 Common Shares in connection with incentive stock options, non-
qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights and stock awards (including the use of restricted stock). The 1994
Performance Plan (the “1994 Plan™), as amended, expired in 2004 and allowed the Compensation Commiitee of the
Board of Directors (the “Committee”) to grant up to 5,500,000 Commmon Shares. The Committee has the authority
to determine which employees and directors will receive awards, the amount of the awards and the other terms and
conditions of the awards. During 2006 and 2005, the Committee granted 522,152 and 614,962, respectively, in non-
qualified stock options for a term of ten years at the fair market value of the company’s Commen Shares on the date
of grant under the 2003 Plan. There were no stock apprecratron rights outstandmg at December 31, 2006 2005 or
2004. .

Restricted stock awards for 115,932, 21,304 and 20,510 shares were granted in years 2006, 2005 and 2004
without cost to the recipients. Under the terms of the restricted stock awards, which were initially granted in 2001,
239,449 of the shares granted vest ratably over the four years after the award date and 6,500 of the shares granted
vest ratably over the 2 years after the award date. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, there were 147,085 and 58,828
shares, respectively for restricted stock awards that were unvested. Unearned restricted stock compensation of
$3,512,000 in 2006, $1,016,000 in 2005 and $911,000 in 2004, determined as the market value of the shares at the
date of grant, is being amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. Compensation expense of
$1,075,000, $881,000 and $812,000 was recognized in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, related to restricted stock
awards granted since 2001. o ' " ' '

e . P . . L ! LI
" The 2003 Plan has provisions that allow em(ployees to exchange mature shares to pay the exercise price and
surrender shares for the options to cover the minimum tax withholding obligation. Under these provisions, the
company acquired treasury shares of approximately 128, 000 for-$4.,314, 000 1n 2006, 124,000 for $6, 004 000 in
2005 and 53,000 for $2,444,000 in 2004. - = . . . Ct e

On December 21, 2005, the Board of Directors of Invacare Corporatron based on the recommendation of the
Compensation, Management Development and Corporate Governance Committee (the “Committee”), approved
the acceleration of the vesting for substantially all of the company’s unvested-stock options which were granted
under the 1994 Plan, as amended, and the 2003 Plan, which were then underwater. The Board of Directors decided
to approve the acceleration of the vesting of the company’s stock options primarily to partially offset the recent
reductions in other benefits made by the company and _to provide additional incentive to those critical to the
company s current cost reduction efforts '. o

The decision, whrch was effective as of December 21, 2005, accelerated the vesting for a total of 1 368,307 of
the company’s common shares; including 646,100 shares underlyrng opuons held by the company’s named
executive officers. The stock options accelerated equate to 29% of the company’s total outstanding stock options.
- Vesting was not accelerated for the restricted awards granted under the Plans and no other modifications were made
to the awards that weré accelerated.  The exercise prices of the accelerated optlons al] of whrch were underwater
were unchanged by the acceleration of the vesnng schedu]es

**  All’of the company’s outstanding unvested options under the Plans, which _‘were accelerated, had exercise
prices ranging from $30.91 10 $47.80 which were greater than the company’s stock market price of $30:75 as of the
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effective date of the acceleration. As of December 31, 2006, an aggregate of 38,484,620 Common Shares were
reserved for issuance upon the conversion of Class B Common Shares and future rights (as defined below) and the
exercise or grant of stock options or other awards under the company’s equity incentive plans. On an as adjusted
basis, including the Common Shares issuable upon conversion of the convertible debentures that were issued as part
of the company’s Refinancing completed in February 2007, an aggregate of 43,930,364 would have been reserved
for issuance as of December 31, 2006.

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Exerclse . Average Exercise Average Exercise
2006 Price ' 2005 Price 2004 " Price
Options outstanding at January 1.. 4,776,162 . $31.57 4,638,405  $29.81 . 4518890  $27.34
Granted . ............. P . 522,152 23.87 614,962 41.59 626,450 - 4389
Exercised . . ......... e (231,448) 24.61 (356,676) 23.39 (449,374) ~ 24.13
Canceled:.......... e (342,215) 36.83 (120,529) 3717 - (57,561) 34.75
Options outstanding at ' v _ '
“'December 31 ...... ... ... 4,724,651 ° $30.68 4,776,162  3$31.57 4,638,405  $29.81
Options price range at
December 31 .......... ... § 160310 : $ 16.03t0 * - $ 16030 -
‘ U8 4780 $' 4780 $ 4735
Options exercisable at ‘ o o ' ' o "
December 31 .............. 4,216,624 T 4,745,435 2,963,385 ¢
Options available for grant at ' : ‘ o

December 31%. .. ... .. .. v 1,784,033 g 454,142 1,033,858

* Options available for grant as of December 31, 2006 reduced by net restricted stock award activity of 241 ,649:

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2006:

Options Qutstanding : Options Exercisable
Number Weighted Average . Number | X ’
Outstanding Remaining Weighted Average  Exercisable Weighted Average
Exercise Prices At 12/31/06 Conftractual Life Exercise Price At 12/31/06 Exercise Price
$16.03 - $23.69 1,770,178 4.3 years $22.21 1,340,001 $22.10
$25.13 - $36.40 1,486,921 4.3 $30.02 - 1,409,0M $29.94.
$37.70 — $47.80 1,467,552 ’ 7.7 ' $41:57 ' 1,467,552 $41.57
| Total ........ 4,724,651 53 $30.68 14,216,624 $31.50

The company had utilized the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123 through December 31, 2005.
Accordingly, no compensation cost was recognized for the stock option plans, except the expense recorded related
to the 132,017 restricted stock awards granted in years 2001 through 2005.

The plans provide that shares granted come from the company’s aut.hprii'ed but unissued Common Shares or
treasury shares. Pursuant to the plans, the Committee has established that the majority of the 2006 grants may not be
exercised within one year from the date granted and options must be exercised within ten years from the date
granted. Accordingly, the assumption regarding the stock options issued in 2006, 2005 and 2004 was that 25% of
such options vested in the year following issuance. The stock options awarded during such years provided a four-
year vesting period whereby options vest equally in each year. Current year expense and prior years’ .pro forma
disclosures may be adjusted for forfeitures of awards that will not vest because service or employment requirements
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have not been met. The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black—Scholes
option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions: : :

2006 2005 2004

Expected dividend yield. . . . JR S 9% 67% ' 63%
Expectéd stock price volatility . ... ....... ... ..o i 29.5% 26.7% 28.8%
Risk-free interest rate. . . . . U 471% 4.38% 3.67%
Expected life (years) .......... ... ..t [ 44 56 56

Expected stock price volatility is calculated at each date of grant based on historical stock prices. ‘Actual risk
free rates used during the year ranged from a low of 4.3% to a high of 5.0%. The weighted-average fair value of
options granted during 2006, 2005 and 2004, based upon an expected exercise year of 2010, was $7.87, $12.41 and
$13.58, respectively. The plans provide that shares granted come from the company’s authorized but-unissued
Common Shares or treasury shares. In addition, the company’s stock-based compensation plans allow participants
to exchange shares for withholding taxes, which results in the company acquiring treasury shares. The weighted-
average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at December 31, 2006 and 2005 was 5.3 and 5.7 years,
respectively. The weighted-average contractual life of options exercisable at December 31,2006 was 4.8 years, The
total intrinsic value of stock awards exercised in 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $1,792,170, $7,401,047 and $9,871,085,
respectively. As of December 31, 2006, the intrinsic value of all options outstanding and of all options exercisable
‘was $4,149,899 and $3,287,272, respectively. The exercise of stock awards in 2006, 2005 and 2004 resulted in cash
received by the company totaling $3,081,000, $4,623,000 and $9 850, 000 for each period, respecnvely and tax
beneﬁts of $955 000, $4,545,000 and $2! 934 000, respectlvely C

As of December 31, 2006, there was $13,182,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost from stock-based
compensation arrangements granted under the plans, which is related to non-vested options and shares, which
includes $3,512,000 related to restricted stock awards. The company expects the compensation expense to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2 years. Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, the

" company presented all tax benefit deductions resulting from the exercise of stock options as a component of
operating cash flows in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. In accordance with SFAS 123R, tax benefits
resulting from tax deductions in excess of the compensation expense recognized for those options is classified as a
component of financing cash flows. The impact of this change was not material in 2006.

Effective July 8, 2003, the company adopted a new Rights Agreement to replace the company’s previous
shareholder rights plan, which expired on July 7, 2005. In order to implement the new Rights Agreement, the Board
of Directors declared a dividend of one Right for each outstanding share of the company’s Common Shares and
Class B Common Shares to shareholders of record at the close of business on July 19, 2005. Each Right entitles the
registered holder to purchase from the company one one-thousandth of a Series A Participating Serial Preferred
Share, without par value, at a Purchase Price of $180.00 in cash, subject to adjustment. The Rights will not become -
exercisable until after a person (an “Acquiring Party”) has acquired, or obtained the right to acquire, or commences
a tender offer to acquire, shares representing 30% or more of the company’s outstanding voting power, subject to
deferral by the Board of Directors. After the Rights become exercisable, under certain circumstances, the Rights
may be exercisable to purchase Common Shares of the company, or common shares of an acquiring company, at a
price equal to the exercise price of the Right divided by 50% of the then current market price per Common Share or
acquiring company common share, as the case may be. The Rights will expire on July 18, 2015 unless previously
redeemed or exchanged by the company. The company may redeem and terminate the Rights in whole, but not in
part, at a price of $0.001 per Right at any time prior to 10 days following a public announcement that an Acquiring
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Party has acquired beneficial ownership of shares representing 30% or more of the company’s outstanding voting
power, and in certain other circumstances described in the Rights Agreement.

Capital Stock

Capital stock activity for 2006, 2005 and 2004 consisted of the following (in thousands of shares):
Common Stock  Class B Treasury

Shares Shares Shares
January 1,2004 Balance . ... ..ot 30,739 1,112 (770)
Exercise of stock options. . .. .. .......... [ 449 — (53)
Stockawards ................ ... ... I e 21 —_ —
Repurchase of treasury shares ... .:..................... — — aln
December 31, 2004 Balance * .. .. . F 31,209 1,112 (934)
. Exercise of stock options. ... ... A 465 — (124)
" Stockawards L. .......... FERCETTNY e 21 — —
December 31, 2005 Balance . ....... e e e 31,695 1,112 (1,058)
Exercise of stock options. . . ...... ... ... . 240 — (128)
Stock awards ........ P 116 — —_
December 31, 2006 BAIANCE + ...« ... .oy nn .. 32,051 1,112 (1,186)

Stock option exercises in 2006 include deferred share acfivity, which increased common shares by 9,000 shares
and treasury shares by 4,000 shares. Stock option exercises in 2005 include deferred share activity, which increased
common shares by 108,000 shares and treasury shares by 14,000 shares.

Other Comprehenswe Earnings (Loss)

The components of other comprehensive earnings. (loss) are as follows (lIl thousands):

' Unrealized Gain
U_nreullzed Gam (Loss) on

K Currency (Loss) on Adjustment to Derivative
Translation  Available-for-Sale initially apply Financial
Adjustments Securities FASB 158 Instruments Total
Balance at January 1, 2004 ............. $ 46,567 $675 $ 3815 $ 51,057
Foreign curréncy translation adjustments-.. . . . 57,903 i - 57,903
Unrealized loss on available for sale ;
SECUMHES . . . o i vt it e v e ite e A ¢ ¥ ) .t (14)
Deferred tax benefit relating to unrealized ‘ ‘
loss on available for sale securities .. .. .. X 5 ] 5
Cusrent period unrealized loss on cash flow . .
hedges, net of reclassifications ......... ) : . (6,649) (6,649
Deferred tax benefit relating to unrealized ' . ; )
loss on derivative financial instruments . . . ) , 2,327 2,327

Balance at December 31,2004 . .. ... ..... 104,470 666 N ~ (507 104,629

FS§-26




“u

INVACARE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Other Comprehensive Earnings (Loss) — Continued - - SR
RS L Unrealized Gain
P I o : . .+~ »  Uprealized Gain -+ (Losshom
L. -Currency . - (Loss)on . Adjustment to . Derivative -
* : Translation Avallable for-Sale initially apply Financial o
-~ L .+ Adjustments ' . :Securities FASB 158 Instruments . Total
Foreign currency translation adjustments ... . * (56:i76) . ' v T T (56176)
Unrealized gain on available""for sale” ot T
SeCHHities ... ... ... L - - s R .- 54
Deferred tax llablllty relating to unrea.llzed . e
gain on available for sale securities . . . . .. s . , (19)
Current period unrealized loss on cash flow . R '
hedges, net of reclassifications ... ...... ) _ (1,551) (1,551
Deferred tax benefit relating to unrealized ' _ _ S
loss on derivative financial instruments . . . ' < 543 ¥ - 543
Balance at December 31,2005........... 48,294 701 - (1,515) 1 47,480
Foreign currency translation adjustments . . . . 64,386 - : Tt 64,386
Unrealized loss on available for sale . . ' . - Ty
SECUMHES . . . & o ot ) {(63) (63)
Deferred tax benefit relating to unrealized ‘ £ e
loss on available for sale securities . .. ... , e R o122
Adjustment to initially apply FASB Statement : : TSR
No.158 .. ... i : . (14,940) _ . (14 940)
Deferred tax benefit resulting from = - o o
adjustment to initially apply FASB T ' . e .
Statement No. 158. . ..... . .......... X - s 5,229 5,229
Valuation teserve resulting from adjustment T c
to initially apply FASB Statement L K ’ .
No 158 .. ... ... i, . ’ (5,229) (5,229)
Current period unrealized gain on cash flow ' : o
hedges, net of reclassifications ... ...... st Tl 3543 - 0 3543
Deferred tax liability relating to unrealized ' - S e
gain on derivative financial instruments . . . = (1,240) (1,240)
Balance at December 31, 2006 . . R $112,680 5660 $(14,940) $ 788 $ 99,188

Net losses of $240,000 and $283,000 and a net gain of $6,650,000 were reclassified into earnings related to -
derivative instruments desngnated and quahfymg as cash flow hedges in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respecuvely

LA PR

Charge Related to Restructuring Activities et

On July 28, 2005, the: company announced multi-year cost reductlons and proﬁt 1rnprovement actlons, which
included: reducing global héddcount, outsourcing improvements’ 'utilizing the company’s China manufactunng
capability and third parties, shifting substantial resources from product development to manufacturing cost
reduction activities and product rationalization, reducing freight exposure through freight anctions and changing
the freight policy, general expense reductions, and exiting four facilities.

The restructuring was necessitated by the continued decline in reimbursement by the U.S. government as well
as similar reimbursement pressures abroad and continued pricing pressures faced by the company as a result of
outsourcing by competitors to lower cost locations.
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Charge Related to Restructuring Activities — Continued -, sy

To date, the company has made substantial progress on its restructuring activities, including exiting four
facilities and eliminating approximately 600 positions through December 31, 2006, which resulted in restructuring
charges of $21,250,000 and. $7,533,000 in 2006, and 2005; re5pectively, of which $3,973,000 and $238,000,
respectively is recorded in cost of" products sold as lt relates to mventory markdowns. There have been no material
changes in accrued balances related to the charge, either as a result of revisions in the plan or changes in estimates,
and the company expects to utilize the accruals recorded as of December 31, 2006 during, 2007.

A progression by reporting segment of the accruals recorded as a result of the restructuring is as follows (in

thousands) Ce e '
Balance at Balance at Balance at
1/1/05 Accruals Payments 12/31/05. - Accruals °  Payments 12/31/06
Nofth:America/HME . . '”,_ ._ ' oy
Severance . ............. . 3 $3,528 $(1’39$).. $2,130 $ 5549 § (6,320) $1,359
Product line discontinuance .. ~ — — — — 2,719 (682) . 2,037
Contract terminations ...... = 88 -(88). — .. 1346 . (789). 557,

Total ............... $—

$3,616 $(1,486) $2,130 $ 9614 §°(7,791) 83,953

Invacare Supply Group

C SEVErance ............... $—  $.173° 8§ (61) $ 112§ 457 § (403) $ 166
Product line discontinuance . . — — —_ — - Y552 v (552 v —
‘Coritract terminations . . . . . . — 165 — 165 — e _ —

Total ............... $— '$338 § (61 $ 277 § 1009 $(1,120) $ 166

Institutional Products Group ' o .
Severance ............... $— $ 27 $ 21) $ — § 38 8 (38 "§. —

Europe : 0 , L . ‘
- Severance . . ... e $— $2297  $(1,498) $.799 $ 5208 § (2.273) $3,734
Product line discontimiance . . — 169 (169) — J455 : (455) —
Other ... 0.....oo.o... — 252 (252) - — " 2995 (2.995) —

Total .."": oUS—  $S2718 $(1,919) § 799 S 8658 § (5723) $3,734

Asia/Pacific .. ., Tl ST e e B :

Severanmce .. ....:% ..., - B 50642 $.(579) $--63 0§ 6217 §-(684) § —
Contract terminations . ..... — 39 39 — 745 (623) 122
Product line d_iscontinuance .. — 69 69 — w557, (551 —

’ Othel" I IR I L= 84 ‘84) —_— 8 (8) —_—

- F— “e ' " . IR ST i T [ .. . v L g

' Toté], - e §:f . %84, 8 (71 $ 63 . $.1931 .§ (1.872) $ 122
CREa [ T v "oh T ' N e e
ol + t! PR U A v i N ¥ f
L -~ 1 ' T
E E R I IRRh B rost ‘ LA !
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Charge Related to Restructuring Activities — Continued

Belance at ’ Balan& at ' Balance at
. - 1/1/05 Accruals Payments 1235108 Accruals Payments 12/31/06
Conso}idated . . :
Severance .. ............. E $— $6,667 $(3,5637 $3,104 , $11,873 % (9,718) §5.259
Contract terminations .. ..., —_ 292 (127 165 2,091 (1,577} 679
Product line discontinuance . . —_ 238 . (238) — 4,283 (2,246) 2,037
Other..........c.cou.. = 336 (336) . — 3,003 (3,003) —
Total ,.............. $— $7.533  $(4,264) $3,269  $21,250 $(16,544)" $7.975

Income Taxes

. Ear'ﬁings‘(-lnss) before income taxes consist of the following (in thousands):

. 2006 2005 2004
. " ! - Coae . )
DOmeStic . ... ov it e $(349,144) 318,605 § 57,557
Foreign. . ....... e e e e e 39,620 52,697 52,815
‘ - ‘ $(309,524) $71,302 $110,372
The company-has provided for income taxes (benefits) as follows (in thousands):
‘ ' 2006 2005 2004
Cl.ir're_nt: T
Federal........... e e e e e e $(12.815) $ 9475 314,075
State. .. ... e e e e . 750 600 2,800
Foreign. . ...coovviini i e 16,030 12,475 14,050
3965 22550 30,925
Deferred: . _ N 7
Federal. . - - oot 11,695  (2.225) 2,225
Foreign. ... .. e e e (7,410) 2,125 2,025
: - . 4,285 (100) 4,250
INCOME THXES . -+« v o e evee et e et el 8 8250 $22,450  $35,175
. - i T
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1 .

A reconciliation to the effective income tax rate from the federal statutory rate foliows: -

1
- 2006 2005 2004
_ Statutory federal income tax rate . . ... ... ... .., ., (35.00% 350% 350%
State and local income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit. . . .. .. 02 - 05 1.6
Tax credits ... . ... R e .. e ©.1) (0.8 (1.6
- Foreign taxes at less than the federal statutory rale. . . . D 20" G2 (21)
Asset write-downs related to goodwill and other intangibles, without tax
benefit .......... e J T S e 30.2 — L —
" Federal valuation allowance. ... ... ) e 9.3 — —
Other, Det . . oo e e e e e e e e AP _01 _2_0 . _(l:g)
, _27% 315% 31.9%

Significant components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2006 and 2005 are as
fotlows (in thousands): ; : : .

S ) - C C 2006 2008
Current -deferred income tax assets (liabilities), net; .
Loss carryforwards .., ,...... e heeraesemne o § 13758 6,246
TBad debt. . ... e e e e 14,006 7,386
Warranty. . ........ e e e e e e 3,365 4,036
State and 10CAI EAXES . . . .. o'ttt e e et 3154 2764
Other accrued expenses and reserves J R L 2,645 2,754
Taventory ......... P 2,337 1,361
Compensation and benefits . .. ... ... e ' 3,079 2,06l
Product liability ............ ... ... ... ..... e 292 292
Valuation alloWanCe .. ... .. .oviveeiniat e (22,552) =
Other, net..'........... S AU SR (189) 546
| . T 513512 $27.446
Long-term deferred income tafﬁssets (liabilities), net: o _
Goodwill & infangiblés. T e e e e e e e e (29.480) '(36,252)
Fixed assets .. .o i it i e e et e e I (18,289) (20,030)
Compensation and benefits . ... ......... ... ... .. oL 16,541 10,344
Loss and credit carryforwards . . .. .. ... ... L L 6,453 5,674
Product liability .. ........... ... . o .. 4,715 3,812
State and 10Cal LaKES . . - . vt e e e e e e e e e 10,619 8,628
Valuation allowance ... ... ...... ... . . 0t iiiiiin i (27.721) (7.100)
(1811173 17~ 2,569 7,132
$(34,593) $(27,792)
Net Deferred Income Taxes .. ... I $(21,081) $ (346)
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At December 31, 2006, the company had federal forelgn tax loss carryforwards of approximately $40.,600, 000
of which $29,350,000 are non- expiring, $900 000 expire in 2011, $5, 175,000 expire in 2012, and $5,175,000 expire
in 2013; The loss carryforward amounts include $16,900,000 of federal foreign loss carryforwards associated with
2004 acquisitions. At December 31, 2006 the company also had a $9,425,000 domestic capital loss carryforward
that expires in 2011 and $226,800,000 of domestic state and local tax loss carryforwards, of which $113,800,000
expire between 2007 and 2010, $55,450,000 expire between 2011 and 2020 and $57,550,000 expire after 2020, all
of which are, fully offset by valuation allowances. The company made income tax payments of $14,370,000,
$10,435,000 and $30,180,000 during the years endéd December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The
company recorded a valuation allowance for its domestic net deferred tax assets due to the !oss recogmzed in 2006
and based upon near term domestic projections. -

c

B

Net Earnings Per Common Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net earnings per common share. -

, 2006 2005 . 2004 -
(In thousands except per share data)

Basic
Average common shares outstanding . . ... ... ... ceeeie... 31789 31,555 31,153
" Net earnings (1055) . . .« «vvorenennnnnnn.. L. $(317.774) $48,852  §75,197
- Net earnings (loss) per common share . .., ............. C..0% (1000) $ 155 0§ 241
Diluted . ' ‘ S |
Average'common shares outstanding . . . ................. 31,789 31,355 31,153,
Stock options . . . . . e e . - 897 1,194
Average common shares assuming dilution -, . . . e 31,782 . 32,452 32,347 '
'Neteamings(loss).............................,I... $(317,774) $48,852 . $75,197
Net earnings (loss) per common share . . . ... . ............ $ (1000) $ 151 §$ 233,

At December 31, 2006 2005, and 2004, 2,713,000, 813,191, and 21,167 shares, respectively were excluded
from the average common shares assuming dilution, as they were anti-dilutive. In 2006, all of the shares associated,
with stock options’ were anti- dllutlve because of the company’s loss. In 2005, the majority of the antl-dllunve shares’
were granted at an exercise price of $41.87, which was higher than the average fair market value price of $41.46 for
2005. In 2004, the | ‘majority of the anti- dilutive shares were granted at an exercise price of $47.35, which was higher
than the average fair market value price of $44.39 for 2004. '

" .
+

Concentration of Credit Risk . . o st Co !

e L e Loy

The company manufactures and distributes durable medical equipment and supplies to the home health care,
retail and extended care markets. The company performs credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition.
Prior 16 December 2000, the company financed equipment to certain customers for periods ranging from 6 to
39 months. In December 2000, Invacare entered into an agreement with DLL, a third party financing company, to
provide the majority of future-lease financing to Invacare’s customers. The DLL agreement provides for direct
leasing between DLL and the Invacare customer. The company retains a limited recourse obligation (343,676,000 at
December 31, 2006) to DLL for events of default under the contracts (total balance outstanding of $107,826,000 at
December 31, 2006). FASB Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, requires the company to record a guarantee

FS-31




INVACARE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FlNANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Concentration of Credit Risk — Continued

liability as it relates to the limited recourse obligation. As such, the company has recorded a liability for this
guarantee obligation within accrued expenses. The company monitors the collections status of these contracts and
has provided amounts for estimated losses in its allowances for doubtful accounts in accordance with SFAS No. 5,
Accounting for Contingencies. Credit 10sses are prqv1ded for in the financial statements.

. Substantially all of the company’s receivables are due from health care, medical equipment dealers and long
term care facilities located throughout the United States, Australia, Canada, New Zealand and Europe. A significant
portion of products sold to dealers, both foreign and domestic, is ultimately funded through government reim-
bursement programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. In addition, the company has also seen a significant shift in
reimbursement to customers from managed care entities. As a consequence, changes in these programs can have an
adverse impact on dealer liquidity and profitability. In addition, reimbursement guidelines in the home health care
industry have a substantial impact on the nature and type of equipment an end user can obtain as well as the timing
of reimbursement and, thus, affect the product mix, pricing and payment patterns of the company’s customers.

f

Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The company in estimating its fair value disclosures for financial instruments used the following methods and
assumptions: '

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities: The carrying amount reported i in the balance sheet for
cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities approximates its fair value.

Installment receivables: The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet for installment receivables
approximates its fair vatue. The interest rates associated with these receivables have not varied significantly since
inception. Management believes that after consideration of the credit risk, the net book value of the installment
receivables approximates market value. : . EE

Long-term debt: Fair values for the company’s senior notes are estimated using discounted cash flow
analyses, based on the company’s current incremental borrowing rate for similar borrowing arrangements.

Interest Rate Swaps: The company is a party to interest rate swap agreements, which are entered into, in the
normal course of business to reduce exposure te fluctuations in interest rated. The agreements are with major
financial institutions, which are expected to fully perform under the terms of the agreements thereby mitigating the
credit risk from the transactions. The agreements are contracts to exchange fixed rate payments for floating rate
paymenis over the life of the agreements without the exchange of the underlying notional amounts. The notional
amounts of such agreements are used to measure interest to be paid or received and do not represent | the amount of
exposure to credit loss. The amounts to be pa.ld or received under the interest rate swap agreements are accrued
consistent with the terms of the agreements and market interest rates. Fair value for the company’s interest rate
swaps are based on independent pricing models.

Other investments: The company has made other investments in limited partnerships and non-marketable
equity securities, which are accounted for using the cost method, adjusted for any estimated declines in value. These
investments were acquired in private placements and there are no quoted market prices or stated rates of return.
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. n . ‘

The ¢ carrying -amounts and fair values of the eompany s ﬁnanera] mstruments at December 31, 2006 and 2005

are as" follows (in thousands) e P’ 2 - T ’ o
'. I | .“« ”.r" " e, » i e - ,- :. ._! _201‘]6' l. ; ‘ '_,.r ) ‘_ 20_05_.:. .
e the 1tilend B . oan ) e Carrying . fe Fan' -« Carrying Fair
: Value Value Value VYalue
Cash and cash equivalems ............... SREr ,$ .8.2’2(.)3,- S .32,203 ‘ $. ;2_?,624 $ 25,624
Marketable securmes. e e 190 -~ 190 - 252 252
Other INVESEMENLS cw: . o ;e me i e e i i e e e e 8,461 8,461 8,342 8,342
Installment receivables .. .................... 22,887 22887 713,081 13,081
Long-term"debt' (including shdﬁ-terro"borrowings : S s -
- secured by accounts receivable and current . - - - .- e . b T
- maturities of long-term debt)e.. .i . ..., ... .. 573,126 583,856 * .-537,981. 538,053
Ifiterest rate swaps ..., ..... L e (435) . . (435) (202) (202)
Forward contracts . =< ....... ... ... ... ... 1,213 . 1213+ (2,330) (2,330)

Fo?‘@va'r"d Contracts: The corripanj( ope}ates ‘internationally” and as a result is exposed to foreign currency
fluctuations. Specifically, the exposure includes intercompany loans and third party sales or payments: In an attempt
to reduce this exposure, foreign currency forward contracts are utilized and accounted for as hedging instruments.
The forward contracts in 2006 and 2005 were entered into to as hedges of the following currencies: USD, NZD,
CAD, GBP, EUR, SEK, DKK and AUD. The company does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative
purposes, . ‘

The gains.and losses that result from' the majority of the forward contracts are deferred and recognized when
the offsetting gains and losses for the identified transactions are recognized. The. company recognized losses of
$240,000 in 2006 and $280,000 in 2005 and gains of $6,961,000 in 2004, respectively, which were recognized in
cost of products sold and sellmg, general and administrative expenses

s . T . ] *

Business Segments .,

The eompany'of)erates in five primary business segments: North America/Home Medical E(']uipment
(NA/HME), Invacare ‘Supply Group, Institutional Products Group, Europe and Asia/Pacific. The company
expanded its number of reporting segments from three to five in 2006 due to organizational changes within the
former North American geographic operating segment and changes in how the chief operating decision maker
assesses performance and ‘makes resource allocation decisions. Prior to 2006, the Invacare Supply Group and
Institutional Products Group were fully integrated into the former North American operatmg segment in that they
shared the same sales force, managed cuistomer service-jointly, etc. In 2006, management reporting changes were
made along with changes.in the sales structure, customer service, supply chain management, etc:, all of which

. established ISG and IPG as autonomous businesses. Accordingly, the company has modified its operating segments

and reportable segments in 2006 with the corresponding prior year amounts being reclassified to conform to the

2006 presentation. - ¥

.- -

The,‘NA{HME segnfent ‘sells each’ of three primary - product lines,’ which includes: “standard, rehab and
respiratory products. Invacare Supply Group sells distributed product and the Institutional Products Group sells
health care furnishings and accessory. products. Europe and Asia/Pacific sell the same product lines with the
exception of distributed products. Each business segment sells to the home health care, retail and extended care
markets.
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The company evaluates performance and allocates resources based on profit or loss from operations before
income taxes for each reportable segment. The accounting policies of each segment are the same as those described
in the summary of significant accounting policies for the company’s consolidated financial statements. Interseg-
ment sales and transfers are based on the costs to manufacture plus a reasonable profit element. Therefore,
intercompany profit or loss on intersegment sales and transfers is not considered in evaluating segment

performance.
t

The information by segment is as follows (in thousands): -

2006 2005 2004
Revenues from external customers . e
North America/HME .. .. ... ... $ 676326.- $ 706,555 $ 720,553
Invacare Supply Group. . .. ... ... ... ... ...... 228,236 220,908 . 205,130
Institutional Products Group . . ................... 93,455 - 85,415 76,590
Europe. . ... ... . 430,427 432,142 . 336,792
AsiafPacific . ......... .. ... L e 69,591 84,712 64,262
Consolidated ........... .. . .. ocviiiiiia., $1,498,035 $1,529,732  $1,403,327
Intersegment revenues . : g o
North America/HME .. .:...................... $ 51,081 . $- 46,048 § 43,966
Invacare Supply Group......... e e - 102 26 7
Institutional Products Group . . .:.............. ... T — 2,305 T 544
Burope. . ... . 12,599 . 12,019 2,825
Asia/Pacific ............. e A 39,757 36,576 35,793
Consolidated ....0.......... ... i, $ 103539- $ 96974 § 83,135
Depreciation and amortization . , ‘ . ' .. o .
North America/HME .. ........................ $ 18433 3% 18266 §$ 18814
Invacare Supply Group. ... ... ... ... . ... 333 448 409
Institutional Products Group . .. .................. 1,888 1,867 11,456
Europe.................. Ceeeee e 14,533 . 15,100 - 8,687
AsiafPacific .. ......... ... o .. 4645 -4,829.. . 2911
AllOther (1) ...t i e - 10 14 - 39
Consolidated .................... I e .. § 39892 '$ 40524 § 32316
Net interest expense (income) ' B : ' - -
North America/HME .. .. .. JS N $ 16,5530 % 13299 § 946
Invacare Supply Group. . .....:............ e 3,158 . 2,447 - -+ 2,561
Institutional Products Group . . . .................. 3,852 1,620 - - 1,248 .
Europe........ R - 8,398 - 8628.. - 4924
Asia/Pacific . ........... ... ... . ... ..., e (629) - (431y " (664)
Consolidated . ................ coeliol08 313090 $ 25563 TS 9015
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006" 2005 2008,
Earnings (loss) before income taxes , e . o
North America/HME ........... e © $(320556) $ 53303 $ 87,139
. Invacare Supply Group . . .. ... i o L., 3,291 6,428 7312
- Institutional Products Group . . . . | e . 4,789 . 5,747 . 12,264
Europe............c...o.. S .26,077 - 29,255 18,705,
AsiafPacific . ... ..o e (7,318) (4,418) . 1,430;
Al Other (1) ... . ot i (15,807) (19,013) (16,478)
Consolidated . ~.............. B $ (309.524) $ 71302 $ 110372
Assets (2) - . —
North America/HME . ......................... $ 430,121 % 719366 § 665,098
Invacare Supply-Group. . ............ R Ce..... 790,086 81,895 76,697
Institutional Products Group ..................... 43,918 = 44372 -« -46953
Europe.................... e 751,502 671,642 . :710,510-
TASI/PAcIfic .. U N 98,737 74,101 69,685
All Other (1) ..... e et et e e 76,087 55,396 59,181
Consohdated ..... e .................. 1$1,490,451  $1,646,772 ~ $1,628,124
Long-lived assets (2) L. . .. :
North America/HME . .. ... ... ... ... $ 65264 § 374023 $ 377,529
Invacare Supply Group. . ... S PRI - 61,363 54,447 24,858
Institutional Products Group ..................... 31,374 32,457 *33,665 -
Europe. . . .. e e e e e 563,479 508,196 548,843
"AsiafPacific . .......... ... .. e e . 50,760 38,866 31,797
All Other(1).............. e e 62,453 . 44,317 _ 46,1617
Consolidated . . . . .. R T e e e S 834,693  $1,052,306  $1,062,853-
Expenditures for assets ‘ -
North America/HME . . . .. e e o 89478 S 19242 % 13,607,
" Invacare Supply Group . . . . . AP . . 853 338 825
Institutional Products Group................ LNl 1828 - 5 42T 819
Burope. . ... ... ' e 8.041 5,470 20,064
AsiafPacific . . .. ... ... 2,559, 0 1 5438 0 6,441 -
All Other (1) . . s v oo ool e 30 9 1
Consolidated . ... .............. oo a0 $ 21789 § 30924 § 41,757

(1) Consists of un-allocated corporate selling, general and administrative costs'and intercompany profits, whrch do
not meet the quanmatlve criteria for detem‘unmg reportable segments.

(2) As aresult of i rncreasrng the number of reporting segments in 2006, the company allocated a pomon of the
goodwill related to ‘the former North American segment to the Invacare Supply Group and Institutional
Products Group segments based upon the relative fair values of each of the lhree segments now compnsmg
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North America, The reported assets above give effect to that re-allocation as if it had occurred on January 1,
2004.

Net sales by product, are as follows (in thousands):
RV ’ .

North America/HME : _ 2006 2005 . 2004,
Rehab . ..ottt it e $ 272517 $ 274417 $ 280,339
Standard ... ... .. 239,540 251,331 257,668
Respiratory ............ .. ... i ., e 141,531 159,300 - 161,247
Other................... e 22,738 21,507 21,299
$ 676,326 $ 706,555 $ 720,553
Invqcare Supply Group o, . ' v _
Distributed. . ............. Cepeteeeeie..lo.. §.228236 $ 220908 § 205,130
Institutional Products Group : :
Continuing Care. . . .. e e e $ 93455 $ 85415 § 76,590
Europe \ . ) ’
Standard ......... T U ... $ 252335 $ 263,121 $ 200,064
Rehab ......: R P 170,138 161,082 ° 128,316
ReSPITatOry . .....covviiiii i iieieeniennnn. f 1,954 7,939 B.A412
' ' $ 430427 § 432,142 § 336,792
Asia/Pacific ‘ ) c ' T
Rehab ........ e $ 39027 $ 47,730 $ 347273
Standard ... ... 13,070 10,125 » 7721
Respiratory .............., e, 7,111 8,304 - 8,162
Other............. e e 10,383 18,553 14,106
I $ 69591 § 84712 $ 64,262
Total Consolidated . . . . ... .. e i $1.498035 $1,520732  $1,403,327

No single customer accounted for more than 5% of the company’s sales.

Interim Financial Information (unaudited)

- QUARTER ENDED - '
(In thousands, except per share data)

2006 - ° March 31, June 30, September 30,  December 31,

, Netsales................ e T $361,704  $371,764 $379.462 + $ 385105
Grossprofit. . . ..., 101,296 . 105,565 111,065 .. 99,144.
Earnings (loss) before income taxes..., .... 7,437 6,848 12,193 (336,002)
Net eamnings (1058) .................... 5207 4953~ 9693 '~ (337,627)
Net earnings (loss) per share — basic. ;. .. .. Tl 16 . 31 . (1061 ..

* Net earnings (loss) per share' — assuming ' _ ' ' : ’
diluon........................... 16 A5 .30 (10.61)
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2005 ' ! ' March 31, June 30, September 30, . December 31,

Nt SAleS. . .o e e enness $370944  $396,267  $395270 . $367,251
Grossprofit. . ......... ... ... . L 109,448 112,831 118 286 105,634
Earmngs before income taxes e oo 19,890 18,958 ‘ 22, 492 — 9.962
" Net €arnings - .. o vevneit Lo 13545 12008 15317 1082
Net earnings per share —basic . .......... 43 41 .48 22
~ Net earnings per share — assuming dilution. . 42 40 ' 47 ' ‘ 22
Subsequent Events

On February 12, 2007, the company announced the completion of its previously announced refinancing
transactions. The new financing program provides the company with total capacity of approximately $710,000,000,
the net proceeds of which have been used to refinance substanually all of the company’s existing mdebtedness and
pay rélated fees and expenses.

As part of the ﬁnancmg, the company entered into a $400,000,000 senior secured credit facility consnstmg ofa
$250,000,000 term loan facility and a $150,000, 000 revolving credit facility. The company’s obligations under the
new senior secured credit facility are secured by substantially all of the company’s assets and are guaranteed by its
material domestic subsidiaries, with certain obligations also guaranteed by its material foreign subsidiaries.
Borrowings under the new senior secured credit facility will generally bear interest at LIBOR plus a margin of
2,25%, including an initial facility-fee of 0.50%.per annum on the facility. Vo '

The company.also completed the sale of $175,000,000 principal amount of its 9%% Senior Notes due 2015 to
qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A and to non-U.S. persons outside the United States in reliance on
Regulation S under the Securities Act.of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). The notes are unsecured senior
obligations of the company guaranteed by substanna]ly all of the company’s domestic subsidiaries, and pay interest -
at 9%% per annum on each February 15 and August 15. The net proceeds to the company from the offering of the
notes, after deducting the initial purchasers’ discount and the estimated offering expenses payable by the company,
were approximately $167,000,000.

- ‘
Also, as part of the refinancing, the company completed the sale of $135,000,000 pnnc1pal amount of its
Convertible Senior Subordinated Debentures due 2027 to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A
under the Securities Act. The debentures are unseciired senior subordinated obligations of the company guaranteed
by substantially all of the company’s domestic subsidiaries; pay interest at 4.125% per annum on each February 1-
and August 1, and are convertible upon satisfaction of certain conditions into cash, common shares of the company,
or a combination of cash and common shares of the company, subject to certain conditions. The initial conversion
rate is 40.3323 shares per $1,000 principal amount of debentures, which represents an initial conversion price of
approximately $24.79 per share. The debentures are redeemable at the company’s option, subject to specified
conditions, on or after February 6, 2012 through and including February 1, 2017, and at the company’s option after
February 1,2017. On February'1, 2017 and 2022 and upon the occurrence of certain circumstances, holders have the
right to require the company to repurchase all or some of their debentures. The net proceeds to the company from the
offering of the debentures, after deducting the initial purchasers’ discount and the estimated offering expenses
payable by the company, were approximately $132,300,000.

-

‘The notes, debentures and common shares issuable upon conversion of the debentures have not been registered
under the Securities Act or the securities laws of any other jurisdiction and may not be offered or sold in the United
States absent registration under, or an applicable exemption from, the registration requirements of the Securities Act
and applicable state securities laws.
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SCHEDULE I1 — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

COL D.

COL A. COL B. COL C.
Balance At Charged To Additions Balance
Beginning of Cost And {Deductions) At End of
Period Expenses Describe Period
(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31, 2006
Deducted from asset accounts — .
Allowance for doubtful accounts .............. $23,094 $37,711 $(23,172)(A) , $37.633
Inventory obsolescence reserve. . . ... e o 8,591 5,325 (L773(B) 12,143
Investments and related notes receivable . . . . . . . . 8,339 —_ — 8,339
Tax valuation allowances . ...... P, 7,100 28,785 14,388(E) 50,273
Accrued warranty cost. . . ... .. ... . ... 15,583 9,834 (10,252)B) 15,165
Accrued product liability .. .................... 20,949 6,813 (5,131(C) 22,631
Year Ended December 31, 2005 ' |
Deducted from asset accounts —
Allowance for doubtful accounts ......... ... 315576 $14,168 " $ (6,650)A)  $23,094
Inventory obsolescence reserve. .. ........ . 9,532 4,378 (5,319)(B) 8,591
Investments and related notes receivable. .. ... ... 29,540 — (21.2015(D) 8,339
Accrued warranty cost. . ... ... .. i, 13,998 10516 - (8,931)(B) 15,583
Accrued product liability . ................. e 17,045 8.780 . (4,.876)(C) 20,949
Year Ended December 31, 2004 : :
Deducted from asset accounts — . - :
Allowance for doubtful accounts . ............. -$27,704 - $11,222 - - $(23.350)(A)  $15,576
.Inventory obsolescence reserve. . . .. e 8,715 2,609 - (1,792)(B) 9,532
Investments and related notes receivable. ........ 29,540 — o — 20,540
Accrued warranty Cost............... Lo 12,688 9287 " (7977%(B) 13998
Accrued product liability . ... ... .. P L 11,909 8,202 - (3,066)((3) 17,045

Note (A) — Uncollectible accounts written off, net of recoveries.
Note (B) — Amounts written off or payments incurred.
Note (C) — Loss and loss adjustment. ’

Note (D) — Elimination of atlowance for investment following consolidation of variable interest entity.

Note (E) — Other activity not affecting federal tax expense.
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Exhibit 21

Invacare Corporation Subsidiaries

1. 1207273 Alberta ULC, an Alberta, Canada corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.
2083806 Ontarto Inc., an Ontario corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.
6123449 Canada, Inc,, a Canadian corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.
Adaptive Switch Laboratories, Inc., a Texas corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.
Adelaide Scooters & Wheelchairs Pty. Ltd., an Australian corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.
Alber GmbH, a Swiss corporation and whoi]y owned subsidiary.
Altimate Medical, Inc., a Minnesota corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.
Aquatec GmbH, a German limited liability company.

0 PN oE W

Australian Healthcare Equipment Pty Lid., an Australian corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

._.
<

Carroll Healthcare, Inc., an Ontario corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

—
—

. Champion Manufacturing Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

—
]

. Dolomite AB, a Swedish corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

—
d

. Dolomite Holding AB, a Swedish corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

—
I

. Dynamic Controls, a New Zealand corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

—
Lh

. Dynamic Europe Ltd., a UK corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

—_
a\ .

. Freedom Designs, Inc., a California corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary. .
. Garden City Medical Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

—_ =
= -BLN |

. Healthtech Products, Inc., a Missouri corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

—_
o

. Home Health Equipment Pty Ltd, an Australian corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

[\
[==)

. Invacare AB, a Swedish corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

3]
—

. Invacare AS, a Danish corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

[\
[\

. Invacare EC-Hong A/S, a Danish corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

o]
a2

. Invacare Holdings AS, a Norwegian corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

[\ ]
19

. Invacare Australia Pty Limited, an Australian corporation and whotly owned subsidiary.

[
Ln

. Invacare BYV, a Netherlands corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

(o]
[+

. Invacare Canada General Partner Inc., a Canadian corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

]
-l

. Invacare Canada LP, an Ontario, Canada partnership and wholly owned subsidiary.

b
v ]

. Invacare Canadian Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corpdration and wholly owned subsidiary.

o]
\O

. Invacare Credit Corporation, an Ohio corperation and whelly owned subsidiary.

7%
o

. Invacare (Deutschiand) GmbH, a German corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

(8]
iy

. Invacare Florida Corporation, a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

[
[

. Invacare Florida Holdings, LLC, a Florida limited liability coinpany and wholly owned subsidiary.

(7]
W

. Invacare France Operations SAS, A French corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

W
oS

. Invacare Germany Helding GmbH, a German corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.
. Invacare Holdings AB, a Swedish corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

(¥4
Lh

-

AT
o

. Invacare Holdings Two AB, a Swedish corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

(PA)
=~

. Invacare Holdings AS, a Norwegian corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

(72
[+.<]

. Invacare Holdings CV, a Netherlands wholly owned partnership subsidiary.

L
o

. Invacare Holdings LLC, an Ohio limited liability corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

Eos
o

. Invacare Holdings NZ, a New Zealand corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.
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Invacare Corporation Subsidiaries — (Continued)

41. Invacare Holdings Two BV, a Netherlands corporation-and wholly, ,oii’ned'.subsidiary o
42. Invacare Intematlonal Corporatlon an Oth corporatlon and wholly ; owned subs;dlary Ve

43. lnvacare Internauonal SARL, a. Sw1ss corporatlon and wholly owned subsidiary. | # v Lo v o
44. Invacare Limited, a UK corporahon and wholly owned' subsxdlary' B S T
45. Invacare Maunuus Holdmgs a Repubhc of Mourmus company a1t1d wholly owncd _Subslf-h’ 4,'
46, _.Invacare MeccSan SrL an Itahan corporatlon and wholly owned suhs,ldlary ST L ot eme it oY

47. Invacare Medical Equipment, (Kunshan) Company, Ltd., a Chinese’ company ‘and wholly .owned subsidiary:
48. Invacare Medical Equipment (Suzhou) Company, Lid., a Chinese company and wholly owned subsidiary:
49. Invacare New Zealand, a New Zealand corporauon and whoily owned subs1dla.ry

50. Invacare NV, a Belglum corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

51. Invacare Poirier SAS, a French corporation and wholly owned subsidiary. ST O A
52. Invacare Rea AB, a Swedish corporation and wholly owned subsidiary. .
53. Invacare Receivables Corporation, a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.
54. Invacare Supply Group, Inc., a Massachusetts corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

'55. Invacare Trading Company, Inc., a United States Territory of the Virgin Islands corporation and wholly owned
subsidiary.

56. Invacare UK Operations Ltd., a UK corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

57. Invacare (Portugual) — Sociedade Industrial ¢ Comercial de Ortopedia., Lda., a Portugal company and wholly
owned subsidiary.

58. Invacare (Portugual) Il — Material Ortopédico, Lda., a Portugal company and wholly owned subsidiary.
59. Invacare, 5.A., a Spanish corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

60. Invamex S.A. de RL.de C.V., a Mexioan corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

61. Invatection Insurance Company, a Vermont corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

62. Invacare Asia Lid., a Hong Kong company and wholly owned subsidiary.

63. Kiischall AG, a Switzerland corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

64.. Kuschall, Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

65. Medbloc, Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary. _

66. Mobitec Mobilitatshilfen GmbH, an Austrian corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

67. Mobitec Rehab AG, a Swiss corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

68. Mobitec SARL, a French corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

69. Morris Surgical Pty Ltd, an Australian corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

70. Motion Concepts, L.P., an Ontario wholly owned limited partnership.

71. Perpetual Motion Enterprises Limited, an Ontario corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

72. Scandinavian Mobility GmbH, a2 German corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

73. Scandinavian Mobility International ApS, a Danish corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.
74. SCI Des Hautes Roches, a French partnership and wholly owned subsidiary.

75. The Aftermarket Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.”

76. The Helixx Group, Inc., an Ohio corporation and wholly owned subsidiary.

77. Ulrich Alber GmbH, Albstadt, a German limited liability company and wholly owned sub51d1ary

Note, “Wholly owned subsidiary” refers to indirect, as s well as direct, wholly owned subsidiaries.
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Exhibit 23

I3

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the inicorporation by reférence in the Registration Statements (Forms S-8, No. 33-87052 dated
December 5, 1994, No. 333-57978 dated March 30, 2001, No. 333-109794 dated October 17,2003, and
No. 333-136391 dated August 8, 2006) pertaining to the Invacare Corporation stock option plans of our reports
dated February 28, 2007, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Invacare Corporation
and subsidiaries, Invacare’ Corporation management s assessment of the effectiveness of ‘internal contro} over
financial reporting, and the effectiveness of internal® ‘control over financial reporting of Invacare Corporation,
included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31,2006,

P .
. .

/sf ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Cleveland, Ohio . T e , _ ‘
March 1, 2007 . L watr

bt
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS
I, A. Malachi Mixon, III, certify that:
1. 1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K/A of Invacare Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this reﬁort does not contain any untrue statcfnem of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included i ln thls report
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operatxons and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other centifying officer and I are responsible for establlshmg and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and lSd-lS(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
1o be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, partic-
ularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

- reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure contrels and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d

e

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably hkely 1o materlally affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

-5 The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
o control over financial reporting; to'the registrant’s auditors and the audit comnuttee of the reglstram s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): '

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses i in the design or operation of mtemal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the reglstrant $ ablhty to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

= b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial repomng

: " INVACARE CORPORATION

By:/s/  A. Maracur Mixon, I

A. Malachi Mixon, III
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 7, 2007
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‘ . Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Gregory C. Thompson, certify that: ' ’ :
1. T have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K/A of Invacare Corporation;

, 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a matetial fact or omit to state
a matenal fact necessary to “make the statements made, in light of the mrcumstances under which such
statements were made not rrusleadmg with respect to the penod covered by this report; .

3. Based on my knowledge the financial statements, and other financ1al information mcluded in lhlS report,
fa1r1y presem in all material respects the financial condition, resu]ts of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the penods presented in this report;

4!

4. The registrant’s other certifying ofﬁcer and I are responsible for establishing and marntarmng disclosure
** controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control
over financial repomng (as deﬁned in Exchange Act Rules 13a 15(f) ancl 15d- lS(f)) for the regrstrant and

" have:

a} Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures

-~to'be designed under our supérvision, to ensure that material information'relating to the registrant,

i1 & including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others wrthm those entities, partic-
utarly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

+ » + " b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial

o reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

s~ v, reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

~m ="+ ¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in thls
fo report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

+ +.» * .d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
- occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the

. case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

. 5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent evatuation of internal
. -control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board
of directors (or persons perforrm'ng the equivalent functions)' , .

'

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
) ﬁnanc1al repomng which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the reglstrant s ability to record,
process summarize and report financial information; and ‘ ;

b) Any fraud, whether or not matenal that involves management or other employees who have.a
h srgmﬁcant role in the reglstrant s mternal control over ﬁnancral reportmg

INVACARE CORPORATION

. .. By: s/ Grecory C. THOMPSON

. . Gregory C. Thompson
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: March 7, 2007 gy




RINS _ Exhibit 32.1

Certification
Pursuant to Section 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Invacare Corporation (the “‘company”) on Form 10-K/A for the period
ending December 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimission on the date hereof (the “Report™),
I, A. Malachi Mixon, III, Chief Executive Officer of the company, certify, pursuant to 18 US.C. Sectmn 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

** (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Secuntnes  Exchange Act
of 1934; and

‘(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in ali matenal respects, the financial condmon and
results of operations of the company. '

v fsf A Marach Mixow, 11

A. Malachi Mixon, I
Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 7, 2007

* A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Invacare Cotporation
and will be retained by Invacare Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.




Exhibit 32.2

Certification
Pursuant to Section 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906
-of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act,of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Invacare Corporation (the “company”) on Form 10-K/A for the period
endmg December 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”),
I, Gregory C. Thompson, Chief Fmanc1al Officer of the company, certify, pursuant to 18 U. S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Ox]ey Act of 2002, that: ) ¥ .

(1) The Report fully complies.with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
" of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operauons of the company. .

P . I8! Gregory C. THOMPSON

R " Gregory C. Thompson
_ Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 7, 2007

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Invacare Corporation
and will be 1 retained by lnvacare Corporauon and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request. ) T,







